
  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date:   11/18/2024 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 858 7073 1001 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

Members of the public can listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods. 
 
How to participate in the meeting 

• Access the live meeting, in-person, at the City Council Chambers   
• Access the meeting real-time online at:  

zoom.us/join – Meeting ID# 858 7073 1001 
• Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:  

(669) 900-6833 
Regular Meeting ID # 858 7073 1001 
Press *9 to raise hand to speak 

• Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time: 
planning.commission@menlopark.gov* 
Please include the agenda item number related to your comment. 

 
*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are 
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.  

Subject to change: The format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You may 
check on the status of the meeting by visiting the city website menlopark.gov. The instructions for logging on 
to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing the webinar, 
please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information 
(menlopark.gov/agendas). 
  

  

https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.gov/agendas


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
November 18, 2024 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Regular Meeting 
 
A. Call To Order 

 
B. Roll Call 

 
C. Reports and Announcements 

 
D.  Public Comment  

 Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the 
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three 
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The 
Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot 
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 
 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes from the October 28, 2024 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 

E2. Approval of minutes from the November 4, 2024 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 

F.  Public Hearing 

F1. Use Permit/Kathleen Liston/801 Hermosa Way:  
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish an existing one-story, single-
family residence and accessory structures and construct a new two-story, single-family residence 
on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in the R-E (Residential Estate) zoning 
district. The proposal also includes a detached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), which is a permitted 
use and not subject to discretionary review. The project includes one development-related heritage 
tree removal which was reviewed and conditionally approved by the City Arborist. (Staff Report 
#24-048-PC) 

 
F2. Use Permit Revision and Architectural Control Revision/Laurie Shepard/2800 Sand Hill Rd.: 

Consider and adopt a resolution to a use permit revision and architectural control revision for 
minor alterations to the north elevation of an existing two-story office building located within the C-
1-C (Administrative, Professional, and Research District, Restrictive) zoning district. Alterations 
include updating the entry doors and main entry portico, which would result in no increase in gross 
floor area. (Staff Report #24-049-PC) 
 

F3. Use Permit Revision and Architectural Control Revision/Olana Khan/2245 Avy Ave.:  
Consider and adopt a resolution t to modify the previously approved use permit and architectural 
control permit that allowed a temporary classroom to be located at an existing school (Phillips 
Brooks) in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district, until November 15, 2024. The proposed 
modifications to the permit would allow the current temporary classroom to remain for an additional 
three years, until November 15, 2027. (Staff Report #24-050-PC) 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
November 18, 2024 
Page 3 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
 

G Informational Items 

G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule – The upcoming Planning Commission meetings 
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual 
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences. 

 
• Regular Meeting: December 2, 2024 
• Regular Meeting: December 16, 2024 

 
H.  Adjournment 
 

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period 
where the public shall have the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public 
interest not listed on the agenda, members of the public have the right to directly address the 
Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either 
before or during the Planning Commission’s consideration of the item. 
 
At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to 
directly address the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by 
the chair, either before or during consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and 
applicant shall each have 10 minutes for presentations.  
 
If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only 
those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the City of Menlo Park at, or before, the public hearing. 
 
Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection 
with an agenda item is a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and 
is available by request by emailing the city clerk at jaherren@menlopark.gov. Persons with 
disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or participating in Planning 
Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office at 650-330-6620. 
 
Agendas are posted in accordance with Cal. Gov. Code §54954.2(a) or §54956. Members of the 
public can view electronic agendas and staff reports by accessing the city website at 
menlopark.gov/agendas and can receive email notifications of agenda postings by subscribing at 
menlopark.gov/subscribe. Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by contacting City Clerk 
at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 11/13/2024) 

mailto:jaherren@menlopark.gov
https://menlopark.gov/agendas
https://menlopark.gov/susbscribe


  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   10/28/2024 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 858 7073 1001 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

 
A. Call To Order 

 
Chair Jennifer Schindler called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Jennifer Schindler (Chair), Andrew Ehrich (Vice Chair), Katie Behroozi, Katie Ferrick, Misha 
Silin, Ross Silverstein 
 
Absent: Linh Dan Do 
 
Staff: Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner; Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development 
Director; Thomas Rogers, Principal Planner  
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 
 Assistant Community Development Director Kyle Perata reported that Community Development staff  

was working with the Park Line Development project team on a negotiated Development Agreement, 
and draft terms of that agreement would be brought to the City Council for review in the near future.  
 

D.  Public Comment  
 
 None 
 
E.  Consent Calendar 
 
E1 Approval of minutes from the August 26, 2024 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 
 
E2 Approval of minutes from the September 9, 2024 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 
 
E3 Approval of minutes from the September 23, 2024 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 
 
 Chair Schindler opened public comment and closed public comment as no person requested to 

speak.  
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Ehrich) to approve the consent calendar consisting of the 

minutes from the August 26, September 9, and September 23, 2024 Planning Commission 
meetings; passes 6-0 with Commissioner Do absent. 

  

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
October 28, 2024 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

F.  Public Hearing 
 
F1. Use Permit/Karen Zak/1460 Bay Laurel Dr.:  

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish an existing single-story, 
single-family residence and construct a new two-story, single-family residence with a basement 
and a detached garage on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in the R-1-S (Single 
Family Suburban Residential) zoning district; determine this action is categorically exempt under 
CEQA Guidelines 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures. The proposal includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU) which is a permitted 
use and not subject to discretionary review. (Staff Report #24-042-PC) 

 
 Principal Planner Thomas Rogers said staff had no changes to the published report.  
 
 Karen Zak, applicant, spoke on behalf of the project. 
 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing as no person requested 

to speak. 
 
 The Commission discussed the uncovered tandem parking space for the ADU with staff and the 

unpermitted removal of the heritage staff with the applicant.   
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ehrich/Ferrick) to adopt a resolution approving the item as 

submitted; passes 6-0 with Commissioner Do absent. 
 

F2. Use Permit/Steven C Beck & Jane H Baxter/789 Stanford Ave.:  
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to modify accessory dwelling unit (ADU) 
standards to exceed the maximum ADU size of 1,000 square feet and maximum bedroom count of 
two, in order to construct a 1,200-square-foot, three-bedroom detached ADU on a standard lot 
within the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district; determine this action is 
categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or 
conversion of small structures. (Staff Report #24-043-PC) 

 
 Planner Rogers said staff had no changes to the published report. 
 
 Steven Beck, property owner, spoke on behalf of the project.  
 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing as no person requested 

to speak. 
 
 Commission discussion revolved around the value of ADUs adding to the housing stock with 

sensitivity toward the City’s square footage regulation for ADUs while suggesting ministerial 
processes be facilitated as much as possible for the construction of ADUs. 

 
 ACTION: ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Silverstein) to adopt a resolution approving the 

item as submitted; passes 6-0 with Commissioner Do absent. 
 

  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
October 28, 2024 
Page 3 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

F3. Use Permit/Jessica Sin/212 Ivy Dr.: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to remodel and construct a first-story 
addition to an existing nonconforming single-story, single-family residence where the proposed 
work would exceed 75 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in 
a 12-month period in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district at 212 Ivy Drive; 
determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 
exemption for existing facilities. (Staff Report #24-044-PC) 

   
 Assistant Planner Connor Hochleutner said staff had no changes to the published staff report. 
 
 Jessica Sin, project architect, spoke on behalf of the project.  
 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing as no person requested 

to speak. 
 
 Commission discussion included appreciation for the neighbor outreach and the thoughtful single-

story design for the project.  
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Behroozi) to adopt a resolution approving the item as 

submitted; passes 6-0 with Commissioner Do absent. 
 
G Informational Items 
 
G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 
 

• Regular Meeting: November 4, 2024 
 
Mr. Perata said the November 4 agenda had two single-family home use permits and an 
architectural control and sign review for Bistro Vida at 639-641 Santa Cruz Avenue.  
 
• Regular Meeting: November 18, 2024 
 
Mr. Perata said the agenda was not confirmed for November 18. 
 

H.  Adjournment 
 

 Chair Schindler adjourned the meeting at 8:05 p.m. 
 
 Staff Liaison: Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director 
 
 Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 
 
  



  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   11/4/2024 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 858 7073 1001 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

 
A. Call To Order 

 
Chair Jennifer Schindler called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Jennifer Schindler (Chair), Andrew Ehrich (Vice Chair), Katie Behroozi (arrived at 7:07 
p.m.), Linh Dan Do, Katie Ferrick, Misha Silin, Ross Silverstein 
 
Staff: Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner; Fahteen Khan, Associate Planner; Kyle Perata, 
Assistant Community Development Director; Matt Pruter, Associate Planner; Thomas Rogers, 
Principal Planner 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 

Assistant Community Development Director Kyle Perata reported on an upcoming community 
meeting November 7, 2024 held in English language and one on November 14, 2024 held in 
Spanish language at the Belle Haven Community Center campus hosted by the City’s Housing team 
to consider anti-displacement strategies.  
 

D.  Public Comment  
 

No persons requested to speak.  
  
E.  Consent Calendar 
  
 None 
 
F.  Public Hearing 
 
F1. Use Permit/John Chou/5 Shasta Lane:  

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit for excavation within the required rear 
setback for a retaining wall on a property located in the R-1-S (Single-Family Residential 
Suburban) zoning district, and determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures. The retaining wall is associated with construction of a new detached ADU, which is a 
permitted use, although the excavation would also allow for a larger flat yard area. (Staff Report 
#24-045-PC) 

 Principal Planner Thomas Rogers said staff had no additions to the published staff report. 
 

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
November 4, 2024 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 John Chou, applicant, introduced himself. 
 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing as no persons requested 

to speak.  
  
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ehrich/Ferrick) to adopt a resolution to approve the item as 

submitted; passes 7-0. 
  
F2. Use Permit/Hannah Chiu/1401 Santa Cruz Ave.:  

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish an existing one-story, single-
family residence, with a basement and detached garage, and construct a new two-story, single-
family residence on a substandard lot with regard to lot width in the R-1-S (Single Family 
Suburban Residential) zoning district; determine this action is categorically exempt under the 
CEQA Guidelines 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures. The proposal also includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), which is a 
permitted use and not subject to discretionary review. (Staff Report #24-046-PC) 

 
 Associate Planner Fahteen Khan said staff had no changes to the published report. 
 
 Hannah Chiu, Thomas James Homes, spoke on behalf of the project. 
 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing as no persons requested 

to speak.  
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Do/Ferrick) to adopt a resolution to approve the item as submitted; 

passes 7-0. 
 
F3. Architectural Control and Sign Review/Ali El Safy/639-641 Santa Cruz Ave.: 

Consider and adopt a resolution to 1) approve an architectural control permit to change the paint 
color of the front and rear facades of the building at 639-641 Santa Cruz Avenue, install a mural on 
an existing electrical cabinet on the rear facade of the building, replace the double front door of the 
639 Santa Cruz Avenue suite with a single door, and add various architectural details to the front 
facade of the 641 Santa Cruz Avenue suite, and 2) approve a sign permit for a second blade sign 
on the front facade of the 641 Santa Cruz Avenue suite that would also exceed three square feet 
in size at an existing building located in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino Real-Downtown Specific Plan) 
zoning district; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 
15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. (Staff Report #24-047-PC) 

 
 Assistant Planner Connor Hochleutner said staff had no additions to the published staff report. 
 
 Charles Belser, project architect, and Christie Perego, applicant representative, spoke on behalf of 

the project.  
 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing as no persons requested 

to speak. 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
November 4, 2024 
Page 3 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 Commission discussion centered on favorable comments regarding the business’ expansion and 
the mural at the rear of the property and general comments regarding accessibility of the sign 
guidelines for applicants and application of those guidelines.  

 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Behroozi) to adopt a resolution to approve the item as 

submitted; passes 7-0. 
  
G. Informational Items 

G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 
 

• Regular Meeting: November 18, 2024 
 
Mr. Perata said the November 18 agenda would have a use permit for a residential project at 801 
Hermosa Way, a use permit revision and architectural control revision for an existing commercial 
building at 2800 Sand Hill Road, and a use permit and architectural control revision to extend the 
Planning Commission’s previous approval of a temporary classroom for Phillips Brook School, 2245 
Avy Avenue. 
 
• Regular Meeting: December 2, 2024 
 
Mr. Perata said the Commission’s 2025 meeting calendar would be on the December 2 agenda. 

 
H.  Adjournment 

Chair Schindler adjourned the meeting at 8:19 p.m. 
 
Staff Liaison: Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director 
 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 
 



Community Development 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   11/18/2024 
Staff Report Number:  24-048-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use 

permit to demolish an existing one-story, single-
family residence and accessory structures and 
construct a new two-story, single-family residence 
and accessory structures on a substandard lot with 
regard to minimum lot width in the R-E (Residential 
Estate) zoning district, at 801 Hermosa Way, and 
determine this action is categorically exempt under 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 
exemption for new construction or conversion of 
small structures. The proposal also includes a 
detached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), which is a 
permitted use and not subject to discretionary 
review. The proposed project includes the removal 
of one heritage tree which has been reviewed and 
conditionally approved by the City Arborist.  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit to demolish an 
existing one-story, single-family residence and accessory structures and construct a new two-story, single-
family residence and accessory structures on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, in the R-E 
(Residential Estate) zoning district, at 801 Hermosa Way, and determine this action is categorically exempt 
under CEQA Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures. The proposal also includes a new detached ADU, which is a permitted use and not subject to 
discretionary review. The project includes one heritage tree removal, which has been reviewed and 
conditionally approved by the City Arborist and is past the appeal period. The draft resolution, including the 
recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

 

Policy Issues 
Each use permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether the 
required use permit findings can be made for the proposed project.  

 

Background 

Site location 
Using Hermosa Way in the north-south orientation, the subject property is located on the west side 
Hermosa Way, mid-block between Santa Cruz Avenue and Middle Avenue. The subject property and all of 
the immediately adjacent properties are zoned R-E, though majority of the neighborhood is zoned R-1-S. 
 



Staff Report #: 24-048-PC 
Page 2 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

The neighborhood features a variety of architectural styles, including mid-century modern, craftsman, ranch, 
and, traditional. A number of the surrounding residences have recently been remodeled or replaced with 
newer one- and two-story residences. A location map is included as Attachment B. 

 

Analysis 

Project description 
The subject property is currently occupied by an approximately 3,520-square-foot, two-story, single-family 
residence with an attached side loading two-car garage, a detached 690-square-foot accessory building, 
and shed built in approximately 1925. Although the original residence is approximately 100 years old, it has 
been heavily modified throughout the intervening years and retains very little, if any, historical value. 
 
The applicant is proposing to demolish all structures on the property and construct a new 6,494-square-foot, 
two-story residence with an attached front loading two-car garage, a detached 800-square-foot accessory 
dwelling unit, a 451-square-foot accessory trellis structure with an outdoor barbeque and fireplace attached 
to the ADU, and a 62-square-foot pool equipment enclosure. The proposed residence would have a 
prominent stone-faced wall surrounding the entrance court. The proposed main residence would contain 
five bedrooms and five and one-half bathrooms. The detached ADU would contain an additional bedroom 
and bathroom. A second-floor balcony is proposed off the main bedroom at the rear of the residence. 
 
Additionally, the proposal includes retaining an existing well and the construction of a new pool near the 
center of the rear of the property and sport court in the right rear corner. There are no lights, fencing, or 
permanent structures proposed for the sport court. An additional required parking space for the ADU would 
be located to the left of the proposed driveway in the required front setback, which is permitted. 
 
The proposed project also includes multiple accessory structures and buildings as part of the proposed site 
plan, which are subject to Planning Commission review through the use permit. 
 
First, an accessory trellis structure that would be attached to the ADU and proximate to the proposed pool. 
While the ADU is non-discretionary, staff determined that the layout, size, and design of the covered area is 
regulated as an accessory structure because, per Menlo Park Municipal Code (MPMC) Section 16.04.661, 
an accessory structure is a separate and subordinate structure, which is open in nature and the use of 
which is incidental to that of the main building, buildings, or the use of the site. The proposed accessory 
trellis structure would be attached to the ADU and proximate to the proposed pool and pool deck/patio. 
 
Second, the applicant is proposing a 62-square-foot pool equipment enclosure near the middle of the 
property along the right property line. The proposed accessory building would be five feet, 11 inches in 
height, and per MPMC Section 16.04.313, would be exempt from FAL calculations. The structure would still 
count toward the building coverage calculations for the site and meets all other Zoning Ordinance 
requirements for accessory buildings. 
 
The proposed residence, ADU, and accessory buildings and structures would meet all Zoning Ordinance 
requirements for setbacks, lot coverage, floor area limit (FAL), daylight plane, height, total accessory 
building and structure area, and required off-street parking. Of particular note with regard to Zoning 
Ordinance requirements: 
• The total proposed FAL would be 7,290 square feet where a maximum of 6,498 square feet is permitted. 

– The applicant is permitted to exceed the FAL and building coverage limits by up to 800 square feet in 
order to construct an ADU. 



Staff Report #: 24-048-PC 
Page 3 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

• The total proposed building coverage would be 5,789.8 square feet (26.5 percent), where a maximum of 
6,534 square feet (30 percent) is permitted. 
– The proposed pool equipment enclosure would be exempt from FAL but would be counted toward 

the building coverage for the site. 

• The proposed balcony would substantially exceed the required setbacks with a left side setback of 
approximately 36.5 feet and a right side setback of approximately 46.5 feet, where 20 feet is required, 
and a rear setback of approximately 102.8 feet where 30 feet is required.  

• The proposed accessory structure (trellis attached to the ADU) would have a left side setback of 9.5 feet 
where three feet is required. 

• The proposed accessory structure (trellis attached to the ADU) would have a height of 10 feet where 14 
is permitted. 

• The total square footage of the accessory buildings and structures would be 513 square feet where 
1,623 square feet would be permitted (700 square feet or 25-percent of the total main structure square 
footage, whichever is greater). 

 
The project plans and the applicant’s project description letter are included as Attachment A, Exhibits A and 
B respectively. A data table summarizing parcel and project attributes is included as Attachment C. 
 

Design and materials 
The proposed residence and ADU would be designed in a modern farmhouse style with vertical cedar 
siding and dimensional-cut, split-face stone accents surrounding the garage, entrance court, several 
locations on both sides and the rear elevation, and rising to the second floor around the staircase window 
on the front facade. The same stone style would also face a wall of six feet in height surrounding the 
entrance court. The project would be finished with aluminum-clad windows with simulated true divided lites 
and a composite shingle roof. Windows on the second floor on the left and right sides would have sill 
heights ranging from 2.5 feet to 3.5 feet from the floor. Many mature trees are proposed to be retained both 
on and adjacent to the site which would offer privacy screening from the second floor windows along the 
side property lines.  The proposed main residence would include a large covered patio at the rear of the 
residence, partially under the second floor, with a balcony on top. The balcony would exceed the required 
setbacks from the left, right, and rear property lines. 
 
The front façade of the main residence would contain two wings separated by an entry court. The proposed 
main residence would include a front-loading, two-car garage on the left-side wing that would be set back 
approximately 23 feet, eight inches from the front property line. The right-side wing of the main residence 
would be set back approximately 30 feet, 11 inches from the front property line. While the garage would be 
forward of the rest of the residence, the potential impact of the garage on the streetscape would be reduced 
by a direct pathway from the property line to the front entry courtyard and a 6-foot tall stone-faced wall 
surrounding the entrance court with a pedestrian gate that would be located forward of the garage entrance. 
The proposed stone wall would be 20-feet from the front property line, which allows the wall to be up to 
seven feet in height, per the Zoning Ordinance. The stone features on the wall would extend onto the 
garage façade, which would provide an architecturally interesting presence on the streetscape. An existing 
Aspen tree would be retained in the front yard toward the right-side of the property, which could soften the 
visual impact of the 6-foot tall stone wall; however, staff believes that the design, location, and integration of 
the stone materials between the wall and the proposed residence would result in an aesthetically pleasing 
streetscape. 
 
Adjacent to the ADU, the proposed accessory trellis would be made of extruded aluminum and feature a 



Staff Report #: 24-048-PC 
Page 4 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

louvered roof which would cover a proposed outdoor barbeque and fireplace, which would both be faced in 
stone. The stone would be consistent with the stone on the main residence. 
 
The applicant indicated in their neighborhood outreach that they have reviewed the neighborhood’s 
concerns with the bulk, size and tree impacts of other projects in the general vicinity and have taken those 
concerns into account with their proposed design. The applicant states the proposed project is designed to 
minimize the effects of the new residence on the neighboring properties by not including a basement and 
situating the proposed residence in a way to maximize the retention of existing trees both on and adjacent 
to the site. 
 

Trees and landscaping 
The applicant has submitted an arborist report (Attachment A, Exhibit D), detailing the species, size, and 
conditions of on-site and nearby trees. A total of 40 trees were assessed, both on and adjacent to the 
property, of which 16 are heritage trees. One heritage and 22 non-protected trees are proposed to be 
removed due to conflicts with the proposed design. A heritage tree removal permit for Tree #1, a heritage-
size Deodar cedar, has been reviewed by the city arborist and conditionally approved for removal, and is 
past the appeal period. Attachment D includes a table summarizing the trees and their disposition.  
 
As part of a development-based heritage tree removal permit request, the applicant is required to propose 
alternative designs that would possibly save the tree from removal. The applicant has provided a detailed 
report showing five alternative site plans and how they would affect the tree protection zones of other 
heritage trees. The proposed design would have the least total impact to the tree protection areas after the 
removal of heritage tree #1. The alternative designs report is included as Attachment E. 
 
When a heritage tree is proposed for removal, the applicant is required to replace the removed tree or pay 
an in-lieu fee if the site does not have room for a new tree. To mitigate the loss of the mature heritage 
Deodar cedar, the applicant is proposing to plant a replacement 48-inch box coast live oak at the front of the 
property as well as 10 Saratoga laurel trees around the site, of which three would be 36-inch box and seven 
24-inch box. The proposed project site plan also identifies additional trees that the applicant is considering. 
 
The adjoining neighbor at 777 Hermosa Way has expressed concern with the ADU’s construction impacts 
to heritage tree #23 (Coast live oak) and heritage tree # 24 (Coast live oak), which are located on their 
property. At the request of the neighbor and recommendation of the consulting arborist, the ADU and 
attached accessory trellis structure location was revised to maintain a distance equivalent to a minimum of 
six times the diameter of each heritage tree trunk. The neighbor also provided an additional arborist report 
(Attachment F) with additional details on trees neighboring the subject site at 777 Hermosa Way. The city 
arborist reviewed this additional report in conjunction with the report submitted by the applicant and 
determined that the additional report did not contradict the findings of the report submitted by the applicant.   
 
Lastly, the proposed residence would be approximately 4.7 feet away from heritage tree #4 (Deodar cedar) 
and approximately 6.3 feet from heritage tree #6 (Italian cypress). The project’s consulting arborist indicates 
either a pier and grade beam system or a thin mat slab foundation may be considered suitable within the 
root protection zones for these two trees. The project arborist has stated that they will work with the 
project’s structural engineer to determine the best foundation type that best protects the trees based on the 
site-specific soil conditions and engineering requirements which would be determined once the engineer 
has been engaged. Should the engineer recommend a pier and grade beam system, the project arborist 
has recommended that a shallow grade beam be no more than 8 inches below the existing grade and that 
pier locations be maximally distanced from the tree trunks. All pier excavation should be done by hand and 
aided by an air knife to the initial depth of three feet in the root protection zones. The grade beam should 



Staff Report #: 24-048-PC 
Page 5 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

also be excavated by hand to a depth of no more than 8-inches. If the mat slab foundation type is selected, 
the project arborist has recommended that all excavation be performed by hand with special attention given 
to protect major roots.  
 
Recommended condition of approval 2a would require review and approval of the foundation type and an 
addendum to the arborist report analyzing the proposed foundation type’s impact on surrounding heritage 
trees by the City Arborist and the Building and Planning Divisions prior to issuance of a building permit.  All 
standard Menlo Park heritage tree protection measures would be implemented and ensured as part of 
condition 1h. 
 
Correspondence 
The applicant indicates that they conducted neighborhood outreach, the results of which are included in the 
project description letter (Attachment A, Exhibit B). Neighbors expressed concern with the bulk and size of 
the proposed project. The applicant states that they took their concerns into account when designing the 
residence by not including a basement. Staff received two letters regarding the proposed project; one letter 
from the adjoining neighbor at 777 Hermosa Way which contains concerns regarding the construction of the 
ADU and the attached accessory structure’s impacts on two trees on their property, preservation of existing 
screening, and concerns about the second story balcony, and a second letter from a neighbor at 790 
Hermosa Way with similar concerns about the project’s overall impacts to the trees both on the subject 
property and those on the adjoining property at 777 Hermosa Way. The applicant has addressed those 
concerns by modifying the location of the ADU to mitigate the impacts of construction on their trees. 
Neighbor correspondence is included as Attachment G. 
 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the design, scale, and materials of the proposal are generally compatible with the 
surrounding neighborhood’s varied architectural styles, and would result in a consistent aesthetic approach. 
The proposed stone facing on the entry court wall, garage façade, and various accent locations on both 
sides and the rear façade would be an architecturally interesting addition to the streetscape. The applicant’s 
proposed pool, sport court, pool equipment enclosure, and accessory structure with outdoor barbeque and 
fireplace, while attached to the non-discretionary ADU, would not be out of scale for the size of the subject 
lot and would comply with all applicable Zoning Ordinance requirements, including building coverage and 
setbacks. 

 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 
 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 3 (Section 15303, “New construction or conversion of small 
structures”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 

Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 



Staff Report #: 24-048-PC 
Page 6 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution approving the use permit 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
 A. Project Plans  

B. Project Description Letter  
 C. Conditions of Approval 
 D. Arborist Report 
B. Location Map 
C. Data Table  
D. Tree table 
E. Alternative Designs Report 
F. Neighbor Arborist Report 
G. Correspondence 
 
Report prepared by: 
Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner  
 

Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principle Planner 



ATTACHMENT A 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2024- XXX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A USE PERMIT TO DEMOLISH AN 
EXISTING ONE-STORY, SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE AND 
ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND CONSTRUCT A NEW TWO-
STORY, SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE AND ACCESSORY 
STRUCTURES  ON A SUBSTANDARD LOT WITH REGARD TO 
MINIMUM LOT WIDTH IN THE R-E (RESIDENTIAL ESTATE) ZONING 
DISTRICT, AT 801 HERMOSA WAY. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use 
permit to demolish an existing one-story, single-family residence and accessory 
structures and construct a new two-story, single-family residence and accessory 
structures on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in the R-E (Residential 
Estate) zoning district (collectively, the “Project”) from Deco Homes, LLC (“Applicant and 
“Owners”) located at 801 Hermosa Way (APN 071-241-010) (“Property”). The Project use 
permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and project description letter, 
which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, and incorporated 
herein by this reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Residential Estate (R-E) district. The R-E 
district supports single-family residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed project would comply with all objective standards of the R-E 
district; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed project includes a detached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), 
which is a permitted use and not subject to discretionary review; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering, Building and 
Transportation Divisions and found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the City Arborist and found to be in 
compliance with the Heritage Tree Ordinance, and proposes standard tree protection 
mitigation measures and project-specific tree protection mitigation measures as 
described in the arborist report (incorporated herein as Exhibit C) to adequately protect 
heritage trees in the vicinity of the project; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project includes the development-based removal of a 
protected heritage tree which was reviewed and conditionally approved as part of 
Heritage Tree Removal Permit HTR2024-00104; and, 

A1



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, 
and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code 
Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s
environmental impacts; and

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, 
and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval 
of environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to 
Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New construction or conversion of 
small structures); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on November 18, 2024, 
the Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the 
record including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and 
plans, prior to taking action regarding the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, 
and other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission 
finds the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by 
reference into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo 
Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of the use permit for construction of a new two-story single-family residence 
on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width is granted based on the following 
findings, which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will,
under the circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health,
safety, morals, comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the
neighborhood of such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and
improvements in the neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because:

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of
all adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in

A2



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

question and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in 
that, the proposed use permit is consistent with the R-E zoning district 
and the General Plan because two-story residences are allowed to be 
constructed on substandard lots subject to granting of a use permit and 
provided that the proposed residence conforms to applicable zoning 
standards, including, but not limited to, minimum setbacks, maximum 
floor area limit, and maximum building coverage.  

 
b. The proposed residence would include the required number of off-street 

parking spaces because one covered and one uncovered parking space 
would be required at a minimum, and two covered parking spaces are 
provided in an attached garage and an additional uncovered parking 
space is provided for the ADU, which is required.  

 
c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and 

ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code and the Commission 
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, 
and welfare of the surrounding community as the new residence would 
be located in a single-family neighborhood, and would meet or exceed 
the setback requirements for first and second floors and proposed 
balcony on the main residence. The project would be designed to address 
concerns with tree removal by situating the residence and ADU to retain 
as many trees as possible. 
 

Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit 
No. PLN2024-00030, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development 
plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Use Permit is 
conditioned in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit D.   
 
Section 4.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having 
reviewed and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

 
1. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Cal. Code 

of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New Construction or Conversion of Small 
Structures) 

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY  

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, 
shall continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

A3



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly 
and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on 
November 18, 2024, by the following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:  
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of 
said City on this ______ day of November, 2024. 
 
PC Liaison Signature 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director  
City of Menlo Park 
 
Exhibits 

A. Project plans  
B. Project description letter  
C. Arborist report 
D. Conditions of approval 

 

A4



A���
�

6IM

�

�

����������

�

�

�

�

�

�

EXHIBIT A

A5



A6



�

�

����������

� �� �� ����

A7



X XX X

G GG G

2E 2E2E 2E

T3 T3T3 T3

8E 8E8E 8E

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

� �� �� ���

5
 �

�

 � 

� 
��

��5 ��
 � ��

5 
��


 �
 �

 �
��

�

5 ��
 � �
�

5 
��


 �
 �

 �
��

�

5 ��

 � 

��
�

5 
�


 � 
� 

��
��5 ��
 � ��

5 ��
 � �
�

5 ��
 � ��

5 ��
 � ��
5 ��
 � ��

5 �
 � �
�

5 ��
 � ��

5 �
 � ��

5 ��
 � ��

5
 �
 � � ����

5 ��
 � ��

5 
�


 � 
� 

��
��

5
 ��
 � ��

5 
�
 

� �
 �

��
�

5 ��
 � �� 5 ��
 � ��

5
 �

�

 � 

��5 ��
 � ��

5 ��
 � ��

5
 �

�

 � 

��

5
 ��
 � ��

5 
��


 � 
�� 5 ��


 � 
��

�

�

�

�

�

�

��
 � 

�

��

�

���� � �
���

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

���� � �
���

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

��
��

 � 
�
�

��

���� � �
���

�

�

�

�

�

�

����������

�

A8



� �� �� ����

����������

A9



� �� �� ����

����������

�

A10



����������

� �� �� ���

�

�

�

A11



IM3E59I286�3E59I286 /EGEND

�E� IM3E59I286 5E3/ACING

�E� IM3E59I286 T2 3E59I286

�N� IM3E59I286

2FF6ITE �E� IM3E59I286 T2 3E59I286

2FF6ITE � IM3E59I286 5E3/ACE

2FF6ITE � NE: IM3E59I286

����������

A12



����������
� �� �� ���

A13



�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�

����������

�

A14



�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�

����������

� � �� ���

A15



�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

����������

� � �� ���

A16



�

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�
A�����

��
 � 

�

��

�

�
A���

�
A���

�
A���

�� � �
���

�� � �
���

��
 � 

�

��

�

��
 � 

�

��

�

��
 � 

�

��

�
��

 � 
�


��
�

��
 � 

�

��

�

�
A���

�� � �
���
�� � �
���

���� � �
���

��
��

 � 
�
�

��

���� � �
���

�
A���

��
 � 

�

��

�

�� � �
����� � �
���

��
 � 

�

��

�

���� � �
���

���� � �
���

���� � �
���

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

���� � �
���

���� � �
���

�
�

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

���
� � 

�
�
������ � �
���

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

���
� � 

�
�
�� ���� � �
���

���
� �

 �

��

�

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

���� � �
���

����������

A17



�
A���

�
A���

��
 � 

�

��

�

�
A���

�
A���

�� � �
���

����������

�

A18



�� � �

���

�

����������

�

A19



����������

A20



�

����������

� � �� ���

A21



�

�

����������

� � �� ���

�

A22



����������

� � �� ���

A23



��

�

����������

� � �� ���

�

A24



�

����������

� � �� ���

�

A25



�
AD8����

�
AD8�����

AD8����

�
AD8����

�
AD8�����

AD8����

��
 � 

�

��

�

��
 � 

�

��

�

�� � �
���

�� � �
���

��
��

 � 
�


��
�

�� � �
��� �� � �
���

��
 � 

�

��

�
��

 � 
�


��
�

����������

� � �� ���

A26



�� � �
���

����������

� � �� ���

A27



����������

� �� �� ���

�

A28



����������

� � �� ���

A29



��
 � 

�

��

�
��

 � 
�


��
� ��
 � 

�

��

�

��
 � 

�

��

�

��
 � 

�

��

�
��

 � 
�


��
�

�� � �
���
�� � �
���

�� � �
���
�� � �
���

����������

A30



����������

A31



P a g e  1 | 2 

1 801 HERMOSA PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

PROPOSED PROJECT

The proposed use permit is for the development of a new-2 story residence, ADU, and pool on a non-conforming lot in the 

RE district at 801 Hermosa Way on a ½ acre flat south-facing lot. The existing 2-story home is in disrepair and has significant 

foundation damage due to multiple additions and lack of maintenance. The accessory structure has not been maintained. 

The property is south facing and has 8 heritage trees with another 8 heritage trees on neighboring properties abutting the 

property line. The existing and proposed use if for residential occupancy. 

The scope of work is as follows: 

1) Demolition of existing 2-story home with subgrade unfinished storage/basement, existing accessory structure, 

shed and hardscape. Demolition proposes removal of one heritage tree (under separate permit) and 15 non-

heritage trees. 

2) Construction of:

a. 6,495 sf new home, including 2-car attached garage and attached 62 sf pool equipment enclosure

b. 800 sf accessory dwelling unit with attached louvered trellis, BBQ and outdoor fireplace 

c. 20’ x 40’ swimming pool with spa

d. Replacement of (E) wood fence along the eastern property line and 2 new fences with self-closing gates 

on eastern and western sides 

e. Front-facing driveway with additional parking space for ADU car 

f. Planting of 15 new trees, including one tree that replaces the heritage tree, Olive trees, ornamental 

trees, and privacy hedge at locations where existing hedges cannot be salvaged 

ARCHITECTURAL STYLE, DESIGN CRITERIA, AND PROPOSED USE 

The house is an organic modern farmhouse with dark stained vertical cedar siding, light over-mortared stone, dark trim, 

and composite shingle, slate roof, with aluminum windows/doors. The hardscape will have some cobblestone, natural-

colored concrete, and native plantings with olive trees and ornamental maple trees. Figure 1 has images from a recent 

home I designed and built matching the specifying styles. Construction will be wood-framed over slab construction and 

crawlspace where feasible to limit impact to tree roots. 

The house was sited to maximize southern exposure and access to rear yard from public spaces as well as a private 

courtyard from guest room, living and a media/den room. The kitchen has large expanse of windows to view the redwood 

trees with a nook overlooking pool, trees, and backyard. Additional constraints and wishes included view of oak tree in rear 

yard, tree H12, keeping existing well on property, re-purposing area where the existing accessory structure is as a sport 

court, locating a turf area adjacent to pool and outside of tree canopy, and a large area for garden, fruit trees, and garden 

dining. One goal was a high-ceiling living area at entry with view to backyard and formal dining space off of rear yard.  

As part of the heritage tree removal a detailed narrative was produced explaining the various options produced and 

additional criteria. 

OUTREACH TO NEIGHBORS

I shared the plans with neighbors to the east and west and sending a letter to neighbors at the rear since no 

contact information was provided and also reached out to neighbors across the street – one is new and I do 

not yet have their contact information. After talking with the neighbors to the east, I moved the ADU further 

west to allow for screening and potentially keep existing screening and mitigate impact to 2 oak trees in that 

area of the property. I also relocated the pool equipment to the other side – attached to main house to allow 

for screening and reduce any noise impacts.  

Thank you, Kathleen Liston 

EXHIBIT B

A32



 

P a g e  2 | 2 

 

2 801 HERMOSA PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 

 

 

 
 

FIGURE 1: EXAMPLE OF THE PROPOSED ARCHITECTURAL STYLE, MATERIAL, COLORS 

 

A33



801 Hermosa Way – ATT A Ex. C – Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 1 of 2 

LOCATION: 801 
Hermosa Way 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00030 

APPLICANT: Deco 
Homes, LLC 

OWNER: Deco Homes, 
LLC 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the
date of approval (by November 18, 2025) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans
prepared by Kathleen Liston Architect consisting of 27 plan sheets, dated received
November 7, 2024 and approved by the Planning Commission on November 18, 2024,
except as modified by the conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval
of the Planning Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all Sanitary District,
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly
applicable to the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly
applicable to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that
cannot be placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan
shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers,
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes.

f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted
for review and approval of the Engineering Division.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of
grading, demolition or building permits.

h. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to
the Heritage Tree Ordinance.

i. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff
time spent reviewing the application.

j. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo
Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding
against the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside,
void, or annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community
Development Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City
concerning a development, variance, permit, or land use approval which action is
brought within the time period provided for in any applicable statute; provided, however,
that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall
be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any said claim,
action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

EXHIBIT C

A34



801 Hermosa Way – ATT A Ex. C – Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 2 of 2 

LOCATION: 801 
Hermosa Way 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00030 

APPLICANT: Deco 
Homes, LLC 

OWNER: Deco Homes, 
LLC 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

k. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, 
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of 
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day 
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application. 

2. The use permit shall be subject to the following project-specific conditions: 

a. Concurrent with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the Project 
Arborist shall evaluate the proposed foundation design for consistency with the 
recommended tree protection measures from the project arborist report in Exhibit C of 
Planning Commission Resolution No. 2024-___. The Project Arborist shall submit an 
addendum to the arborist report analyzing the project foundation design and confirm 
that the design would not impact surrounding heritage trees, subject to review and 
approval of the City Arborist and the Planning and Building Divisions. 

 
 

A35



801 Hermosa Way
Menlo Park CA

Arborist Report 2024

Prepared For:

Deco Homes, LLC.

Site: 801 Hermosa Way
Menlo Park, CA

Submitted by:

David Beckham
Certified Arborist

WE#10724A
TRAQ Qualified

EXHIBIT D

A36



Date: 7/15/24, Revised 8/29/24, Revised 10/29/24

Attn: Deco Homes LLC
Site: 801 Hermosa Way. Menlo Park CA

Subject Re: Tree Protection Plan for 801 Hermosa Way, Menlo Park CA

Dear Deco Homes LLC,
At your request, Kielty Arborists Services LLC visited the property referenced above on
6/4/24 to evaluate the trees present with respect to the proposed construction project. The
report below contains the analysis of the site visit.

SUMMARY

40 trees were surveyed for writing this report. 9 of the 40 trees are located on the neighboring
property (#19-21, 23. 32-35, and #39) close to the property line fence. 16 of the trees are
“Heritage” trees (protected) in the city of Menlo Park (#1, 3, 4, 6, 11, 12, 19-24, and 32-35).

Total Trees Heritage / Protected Trees Non-Protected Trees

40 16 24

23 trees are proposed for removal, as they are in decline or conflict with proposed project
features. One of the trees proposed to be removed is a “Heritage” tree (#1). All retained trees
are in fair to good condition and should be retained and protected as detailed in the
recommendations below. With proper protection and cultural practices, all retained trees are
expected to survive and thrive during and after construction.

ASSIGNMENT

At the request of Deco Homes LLC, Kielty Arborists Services LLC conducted a site visit on
6/4/24 to prepare a comprehensive Tree Inventory Report/Tree Protection Plan for the proposed
construction project. This report is a requirement when submitting plans to the city of Menlo
Park. The analysis in this report is based on site plans A0.0 through A4.3, ADU-2.0 through
ADU-3.0, and landscape plan L1.0 all dated 8/28/24 received from Moderna Homes.

The primary focus of this report is as follows:

● Identification and assessment of trees on the construction site that may be affected by the
proposed development.

● Determination of potential impacts on tree health and stability, considering factors such as
root damage and crown damage.

● Provision of recommendations for tree protection and preservation measures during the
construction process to mitigate potential impacts.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 1A37



● Ensuring compliance with local regulations pertaining to tree preservation, protection, and
removal within the construction plans.

Please note that the report will provide specific details regarding tree assessments, impacts, and
preservation measures.

INTRODUCTION

According to our past communications with city staff, the City of Menlo Park requires
the following tree reporting elements for development projects:

1. Inventory of all trees over 4 inches in diameter.
2. Map of tree locations.
3. Tree protection or removal recommendations for all trees over 4 inches in diameter.

LIMITS OF THE ASSIGNMENT

As part of this assessment, it is important to note that Kielty Arborists Services LLC did not
conduct an aerial inspection of the upper crown, a detailed root crown inspection, or a plant
tissue analysis on the subject trees. Therefore, the information presented in this report does not
include data obtained from these specific methods.

Furthermore, it is essential to clarify that no tree risk assessments were completed as part of this
report unless stated otherwise. The focus of this assessment primarily centers on tree
identification, general health evaluation, and the potential impacts of the proposed construction.

While the absence of these specific assessments limits the scope of the analysis, the findings and
recommendations provided within this report are based on available information and
observations made during the site visit.

PURPOSE & USE OF THE REPORT

This report informs tree management decisions for the construction project and provides
recommendations to maximize tree survival. It serves as a valuable resource for stakeholders,
facilitating informed discussions and sustainable tree management practices.

TESTING & ANALYSIS

In order to assess the trees, a thorough examination was conducted using a variety of methods.
For trees with accessible trunks, precise measurements of the Diameter at Breast Height (DBH)
were taken using a specialized diameter tape measure. In cases where the trunks were not readily
accessible, visual estimations were employed to determine the DBH. As part of the inventory
process, all trees exceeding a specific DBH threshold of 4 inches were included.

To evaluate the health of the trees, multiple factors were considered, including their overall
appearance and our team's extensive experiential knowledge of each species. This holistic
approach ensured a comprehensive understanding of the tree’s well-being.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 2A38



To accurately document the location of each tree, a GPS smartphone application was utilized
during the data collection process. This enabled us to create detailed maps that are included in
this report. However, it is important to note that despite our efforts to minimize errors, inherent
limitations of GPS data collection, coupled with slight discrepancies between GPS data and
CAD drawings, may result in approximate tree locations depicted on the map.

To perform this assessment, a site visit was conducted on 6/4/24. During this visit, meticulous
observations and high-quality photographs were obtained to provide a comprehensive analysis.

The findings and recommendations presented in this report are based on site plans A0.0 through
A4.3, ADU-2.0 through ADU-3.0, and landscape plan L1.0 all dated 8/28/24 received from
Moderna Homes. These plans were electronically provided to us via email. By thoroughly
analyzing these plans in conjunction with our field observations, we have developed an accurate
and reliable assessment of the tree conditions.

METHOD OF INSPECTION

The inspections were conducted from the ground without climbing the trees. No tissue samples or
root crown inspections were performed. The trees under consideration were identified based on the
provided site plan. To assess the trees, their diameter at 54 inches above ground level (DBH or
diameter at breast height) was measured using a D-Tape. Additionally, the protected trees were
evaluated for their health, structure, form, and suitability for preservation with the following
explanation of the ratings:

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 3A39



Evaluation Fields:

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 4A40



Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 5A41



Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 6A42



Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 7A43



Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 8A44



* - Indicates neighboring tree

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 9A45



TREE MAP

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 10A46



OBSERVATIONS

Species List:
40 trees were surveyed for writing this report. The surveyed species comprise of the following:

● Deodar cedar (Cedrus deodara) #1, #4,
● Purple leaf plum (Prunus cerasifera) #2
● Magnolia (Magnolia grandiflora) #3
● Italian cypress (Cupressus sempervirens) #5, #6,
● Lemon (Citrus limon) #7-9
● Catalina cherry (Prunus ilicifolia subsp. lyonii) #10
● Dawn redwood (Metasequoia glyptostroboides) #11
● Coast live oak (Quercus agrifolia) #12, #23, #24, #40
● Apple (Malus domestica) #13, #25
● Pear (Pyrus communis) #14
● Birch (Betula pendula) #15-18
● Redwood (Sequoia sempervirens) #19, #32, #33, #34, #35
● Valley oak (Quercus lobata) #20, #21
● Plum (Prunus americana) #22, #38
● Apricot (Prunus armeniaca) #26
● Pittosporum (Pittosporum eugenioides) #27, #28, #29, #30, #31, #36, #37
● Pittosporum (Pittosporum tobira) #39

Tree Removal For Proposed Development:
'heritage' Size Trees: Total =1 (tree #1)
'unprotected' Size Trees: Total = 17 (trees #2, 5, 7-10, 13-18, 25-31, 36-38)

In compliance with the City's Municipal Code, it is imperative to note that any heritage tree
designated for retention and protected under these regulations is subject to mandatory replacement if
it sustains irreparable damage due to construction activities. The replacement of such a heritage tree
is not discretionary; it is a required action. The value of the replacement is determined based on the
appraised value of the damaged heritage tree. This policy underscores the importance of rigorous
tree protection measures during construction to safeguard these valuable natural assets.

Total Removed Trees Significant / Protected Trees Non-Protected Trees

23 1 22

Heritage trees proposed to be removed:
Deodar cedar #1
The mature deodar cedar tree, with a diameter of 43.6 inches, qualifies as a Heritage Tree in Menlo
Park, CA, and has an appraised value of $23,600. The tree has a history of past pruning, with limbs
reduced due to competition between codominant leaders and utility line clearance on one side of the
canopy, resulting in an somewhat imbalanced canopy that is heavier towards the existing home.
Additionally, the tree's roots have caused damage to the structure as stated by the home owner.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 11A47



Given the constraints of the site, the architect has indicated that alternative designs to preserve the
tree are unfeasible. The setbacks and locations of other significant trees, such as a Magnolia #3 and
a large deodar cedar #4, prevent a front-facing garage. Consequently, a side-facing garage is
necessary, which would encroach on the neighbor's Redwood trees or other large trees on the
property. The better option to reduce impacts to the remaining trees on site would be to remove the
deodar cedar tree and build the garage as shown in the plans. The garage is proposed at 7.5’ from
the cedar tree and would have a high impact on the health of the tree at this distance. The proposed
driveway would also further impact the tree. The ordinance requires consideration of the
incremental construction cost of tree preservation alternatives relative to the appraised value of the
tree. If the cost exceeds 140% of the tree's value, preservation is presumed financially infeasible. In
this case, alternative designs to preserve the tree would significantly increase construction costs due
to necessary adjustments for zoning ordinance variances and working around the tree protection
zones. These adjustments include modifications to driveway and garage placements.

Preliminary estimates indicate that the incremental
costs far exceed 140% of the tree's appraised value,
making preservation financially infeasible. The
necessity to accommodate other large trees
(including neighboring trees) further restricts viable
design alternatives, reinforcing the infeasibility of
preservation. The architect has provided a site
study showing various designs and will be attached
to this report. By allowing this tree to be removed,
a front facing garage can be designed and a larger
construction offset distance from the neighbor’s
redwood trees can be achieved as the driveway does
not need to be within the tree protection zone of the
neighboring redwood trees. Therefore, based on the
substantial additional construction costs and the
constraints imposed by the locations of other
significant trees, the removal of the deodar cedar
tree is justified. This conclusion aligns with the city
ordinance requirements, demonstrating that
preservation is not a financially viable option.

Showing cedar tree #1

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 12A48



The circles indicated in the image above show the tree protection zones of all trees on site at
10x diameter. Notice the large amount of buildable area that is taken up by tree #1.

Non-Protected Trees to be Removed:
Trees #2, 5, 7-10, 13-18, 25, 26, and 36-38 are to be removed to facilitate the proposed construction.
These trees are either in poor condition or too close to the proposed construction to allow for
retention.

Replacement Tree Plan:
Because the proposed tree removal is due to the proposed development (criterion #5) the applicant
may use the following in-lieu value of the replacement trees to help design their landscape plans for
development-related removals:

One #5 container – $100
One #15 container – $200
One 24-inch tree box – $400
One 36-inch tree box – $1,200
One 48-inch tree box – $5,000
One 60-inch tree box – $7,000
To be eligible for the in lieu fee, applicants must explain why the value of the replacement trees are
not equal to the appraised value of the removed heritage trees.

The appraised value of Deodar cedar tree #1=$23,600

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 13A49



The applicant is recommended to plant as many replacement trees as feasibly possible without
crowding the site. The remaining portion of the planting not met is recommended to be paid with in
lieu fees as they property cannot support more trees.

PROJECT PLAN REVIEW

Magnolia tree #3 is located near the existing driveway. The driveway is proposed to be
demolished as a part of this project. The existing driveway is recommended to be retained
during the construction of the home where the proposed home is not within the existing
driveway area. This will act as an additional tree protection measure and will benefit the
contractor and the tree. By keeping a large portion of the driveway near the tree, a smaller
tree protection zone can be used and will also increase the available area for staging and
parking. If the driveway near the tree was to be removed at the start of construction, tree
protection fencing would need to be installed out to 21.8’ from the tree an would reduce the
available parking and staging areas. The existing driveway will protect what roots have
grown underneath it during the construction of the home.

When it is time to demolish the driveway, the driveway is required to be demolished by hand
under the direct supervision of the project arborist. A small jack hammer can be used to be
break the material into small hand manageable sized pieces. All driveway material and
existing base rock material shall be removed by hand when within 21.8’ from the tree (10x
diameter). All exposed roots during this process shall be kept moist by covering or wrapping
roots in layers of wetted down burlap. This will help to avoid root desiccation. Once the
driveway material has been removed, the area shall be backfilled with a good quality top soil
and hand tampered as needed. No roots shall be cut when removing and back filling the soil.
Impacts are expected to be minor to non-existent for the removal of the driveway near this
tree. The tree will benefit from this work as a larger rootable space will be available for the
tree.

The proposed home foundation is shown at 16’-3 ¼” (7.5x diameter) away from magnolia
tree #3. At this distance impacts are expected to be tolerable for the tree as the tree is in good
condition. The entire proposed foundation when within 10x the diameter of the tree (21.8’) is
recommended/required to be excavated by hand in combination with hand tools such as an air
knife, rotary hammer with clay spade attachment, or shovels, while under the direct
supervision of the Project Arborist. All roots encountered within the foundation area
measuring 1.5” in diameter or larger are recommended to be retained for the Project Arborist
to inspect before being cleanly cut. Once inspected and documented, the roots will need to be
cleanly cut using a hand saw or loppers. Cut root ends on the tree side are recommended to
be covered by 3 layers of wetted-down burlap to help avoid root desiccation. The contractor
shall wet down the burlap daily while exposed. The area between the tree and the foundation
(tree protection zone) is recommended to be irrigated every other week during the dry season
until the top foot of the soil is saturated. The tree is also recommended to be deep water
fertilized with Nutriroot pre, during, and post construction. This will act as a mitigation
measures for the expected minor impacts. This work will be required to be documented by the
city of Menlo Park with a letter sent to the city arborist.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 14A50



A new pathway is shown within the tree protection zone of magnolia tree #3. The pathway is
recommended to be built up on top of grade and only require rough surface grading not to
exceed more than 6” into grade when within 10x the diameter of the tree (21.8’). The rough
surface grading will need to be done by hand when within 10x the diameter of the tree. The
entire pathway construction when within 10x the diameter of the tree will be required to be
constructed by hand while under the supervision of the Project Arborist. Any roots
encountered within the minor surface grading measuring 1.5” in diameter or larger are
recommended to be retained by raising the grade of the pathway to keep the tree roots or
packing the required base rock around the tree roots. All exposed roots during this process
are recommended to be kept moist by wrapping/covering roots in layers of wetted down
burlap to help avoid root desiccation. Impacts from the pathway construction are expected to
be minor to non-existent if constructed in this manner. The magnolia tree is recommended to
be irrigated every other week during the dry season until the top foot of the soil is saturated.
The tree is also recommended to be deep watered with Nutriroot pre, during, and post
construction. This will act as a mitigation measures for the expected minor to non-existent
impacts. This work will be required to be documented by the city of Menlo Park with a letter
sent to the city arborist.

The landscape wall shown at 6’ from magnolia tree #3 is recommended to be supported by
individual post. No continuous cut shall be used to support the wall as this would cut more
roots than necessary and would have higher impacts on the tree. Post locations are required to
be excavated by hand. All roots encountered are to be shown to the project arborist before
being cleanly cut. If larger roots are encountered, the plan shall maintain flexibility in post
locations so that post can be easily moved to avoid larger roots.

Deodar cedar #4 and Italian cypress tree #6 are both located very close to the existing
driveway. The existing driveway has likely helped to discourage some root growth towards
the buildable area through compaction. The driveway near these trees will be demoished at
the start of construction. The driveway is required to be demolished by hand under the direct
supervision of the project arborist. A small jack hammer can be used to be break the material
into small hand manageable sized pieces. All driveway material and existing base rock
material shall be removed by hand when within 10x diameter of both trees. All exposed roots
during this process shall be kept moist by covering or wrapping roots in layers of wetted
down burlap. This will help to avoid root desiccation. Once the driveway material has been
removed, the area shall be backfilled with native or imported soil and hand tampered as
needed. No roots shall be cut when removing the driveway and back filling the soil.

The proposed new construction is situated approximately 4’8” from cedar tree #4 and 6’-3⅛”
from cypress #6. Due to the close proximity of these trees to the proposed foundation, either a
pier and grade beam system or a thin mat slab foundation may be considered suitable within
the root protection zones of these trees. As the project arborist, we will assess both foundation
options in conjunction with the structural engineer, as the final foundation type will depend
on site-specific soil conditions and engineering requirements that can only be determined
once the engineer is engaged. If a pier and grade beam foundation is selected, a shallow grade
beam no more than 8” below the existing grade is recommended. Pier locations should be

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 15A51



maximally distanced from the tree trunks and will require hand excavation, aided by an air
knife (pneumatic tool) to the initial depth of 3’. All roots encountered during pier installation
should be documented by the Project Arborist and cleanly pruned using hand tools (hand saw
or loppers). Minor excavation for the grade beam (to a depth of 8” or less) should likewise be
conducted by hand under Project Arborist supervision.

If a mat slab foundation is selected, all excavation within the root protection zones must also
be performed by hand, with special attention given to preserving major roots, as observed and
documented by the Project Arborist. We will carefully review both foundation types as
proposed by the engineer to determine which option best protects the trees while meeting
engineering needs. The Project Arborist will document any root impacts and mitigation
measures in a report to be sent to the City of Menlo Park. Root impacts are expected to be
moderate. To mitigate these impacts, deep watering with NutriRoot is recommended for both
trees before, during, and after construction.

The Dawn redwood tree (#11) is situated 8’4” from the proposed foundation. Due to the
proximity of this tree, either a pier and grade beam system or a thin mat slab foundation may
be considered suitable within the tree’s root protection zone. As the project arborist, we will
review both foundation options as proposed by the engineer and select the one that best
supports the tree’s preservation alongside the engineering needs. If a pier and grade beam
foundation is selected, a shallow grade beam (not exceeding 8” into the existing grade) is
recommended within 10 times the tree’s diameter. Pier locations will require hand excavation
with an air knife (pneumatic tool) for the first 3’ of soil removal, with each pier positioned as
far from the tree’s trunk as possible. Any roots encountered within pier holes will be
documented by the Project Arborist and cleanly pruned using hand tools, such as a hand saw
or loppers. Minor excavation for the grade beam (to a maximum of 8”) will also be conducted
by hand under the Project Arborist’s supervision, with any necessary root cuts performed by
hand and documented.

Should a thin mat slab foundation be selected, all excavation within the root protection zone
must also be performed by hand to minimize root disturbance, with special attention to
preserving major roots. Root impacts are expected to be moderate, and as a mitigation
measure, the tree is recommended to receive deep watering and NutriRoot applications
before, during, and after construction. The Project Arborist will document all root impacts
and mitigative measures in a report to be submitted to the City of Menlo Park and will follow
up with a letter to the city arborist.

The demolition of the existing structure to take place within the tree protection zones of
neighboring redwood tree #19 and valley oak trees #20 and #21 is not expected to have an
impact on the trees. The demolition of the structure will increase the rootable area for all 3
trees. It is recommended to perform vertical mulching in the area once covered by the
existing structure to mitigate the compaction caused by the structure and to improve root
growth in this area.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 16A52



An ADU is proposed at 3.5’ from plum tree #22. Pathway work is also shown at 4’ from the
tree The tree is a multi trunked tree at 1’ and was measured below the codominant union at
16.2”. The tree has a tree protection zone of 13.5’. The entire proposed foundation when
within 10x the diameter of the tree is recommended/required to be excavated by hand in
combination with hand tools such as an air knife, rotary hammer with clay spade attachment,
or shovels, while under the direct supervision of the Project Arborist. All roots encountered
within the foundation area measuring 1.5” in diameter or larger are recommended to be
retained for the Project Arborist to inspect before being cleanly cut. Once inspected and
documented, the roots will need to be cleanly cut using a hand saw or loppers. Cut root ends
on the tree side are recommended to be covered by 3 layers of wetted-down burlap to help
avoid root desiccation. The contractor shall wet down the burlap daily while exposed. The
area between the tree and the foundation (tree protection zone) is recommended to be
irrigated every other week during the dry season until the top foot of the soil is saturated. This
will act as a mitigation measure for moderate impacts expected. This work will be required to
be documented by the city of Menlo Park with a letter sent to the city arborist.
The pathway when within 10x the diameter of plum tree #22 is recommended to be built up
on top of grade and only require rough surface grading not to exceed more than 6” into grade
when within 10x the diameter of the tree (13.5’). The rough surface grading will need to be
done by hand when within 10x the diameter of the tree. The entire pathway construction
when within 10x the diameter of the tree will be required to be constructed by hand while
under the supervision of the Project Arborist. Any roots encountered within the minor surface
grading measuring 1.5” in diameter or larger are recommended to be retained by raising the
grade of the pathway to keep the tree roots or packing the required base rock around the tree
roots. All exposed roots during this process are recommended to be kept moist by
wrapping/covering roots in layers of wetted down burlap to help avoid root desiccation.
Impacts from the proposed pathway work are expected to be minor. The recommended
irrigation will act as mitigation.

The ADU at the back of the property is shown within the tree protection zones of oak trees
#23 and #24. The ADU design has been revised to maintain a minimal 6x diameter clearance.
The entire proposed foundation when within 10x the diameter of the tree is
recommended/required to be excavated by hand in combination with hand tools such as an air
knife, rotary hammer with clay spade attachment, or shovels, while under the direct
supervision of the Project Arborist. All roots encountered within the foundation area
measuring 1.5” in diameter or larger are recommended to be retained for the Project Arborist
to inspect before being cleanly cut. Once inspected and documented, the roots will need to be
cleanly cut using a hand saw or loppers. Cut root ends on the tree side are recommended to be
covered by 3 layers of wetted-down burlap to help avoid root desiccation. The contractor shall
wet down the burlap daily while exposed. The area between the tree and the foundation (tree
protection zone) is recommended to be irrigated every other week during the dry season until
the top foot of the soil is saturated. A soil analysis should be done to test the soil for any
deficiencies. These trees are then recommended to be fertilized as seen fit. Nutriroot
fertilizer is generally recommended as a soil amendment pre and post construction. This will
act as a mitigation measure for the minor impacts. This work will be required to be
documented by the city of Menlo Park with a letter sent to the city arborist.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 17A53



The proposed home setback on the south side of the property is 19’9”. This is was done to
give the neighboring redwood trees #32-35 the largest set back possible from the proposed
construction as these are the largest trees surveyed. The existing home is much closer to the
trees than the proposed and helps to further give the trees more space. At the proposed home
distance impacts are expected to be tolerable for the trees as the trees are in good condition.
The entire proposed foundation when within 10x the diameter of the trees is
recommended/required to be excavated by hand in combination with hand tools such as an air
knife, rotary hammer with clay spade attachment, or shovels, while under the direct
supervision of the Project Arborist. All roots encountered within the foundation area
measuring 1.5” in diameter or larger are recommended to be retained for the Project Arborist
to inspect before being cleanly cut. Once inspected and documented, the roots will need to be
cleanly cut using a hand saw or loppers. Cut root ends on the tree side are recommended to
be covered by 3 layers of wetted-down burlap to help avoid root desiccation. The contractor
shall wet down the burlap daily while exposed. The area between the trees and the foundation
(tree protection zone) is recommended to be irrigated every other week during the dry season
until the top foot of the soil is saturated. The trees are also recommended to be deep water
fertilized with Nutriroot pre, during, and post construction. This will act as a mitigation
measures for the expected minor impacts. This work shall only be done after a soil analysis
test. This work will be required to be documented by the city of Menlo Park with a letter sent
to the city arborist.

Red line showing exising house closer to trees than proposed

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 18A54



A pathway and a paver patio area is proposed within 10x the diameter of redwood trees
#32-35. The pathway and paver patio area is recommended to be built up on top of grade and
only require rough surface grading not to exceed more than 8” into grade when within 10x the
diameter of the trees. The rough surface grading will need to be done by hand when within
10x the diameter of the trees. The entire pathway construction and paver patio construction
when within 10x the diameter of the trees will be required to be constructed by hand while
under the supervision of the Project Arborist. Any roots encountered within the minor surface
grading measuring 1.5” in diameter or larger are recommended to be retained by raising the
grade of the pathway/patio area to keep the tree roots or packing the required base rock
around the tree roots. All exposed roots during this process are recommended to be kept
moist by wrapping/covering roots in layers of wetted down burlap to help avoid root
desiccation. Impacts from the pathway/patio construction are expected to be minor to
non-existent if constructed in this manner. Trees #32-35 are recommended to have a soil
analysis done and be deep water fertilized during the growing season as a mitigation measure
for the expected minor impacts as seen fit.

To ensure the health and resilience of trees impacted by construction activities, a meticulously
planned approach that includes both pre-construction and post-construction care is essential.
This comprehensive strategy is designed to mitigate stress, promote root and shoot growth,
and ensure long-term tree vitality.

Pre-Construction Care:
In the pre-construction phase, it is critical to prepare the trees for the upcoming stress and
disturbances. Implementing a deep watering schedule is foundational, ensuring trees receive
adequate moisture deep within their root zones. To enhance soil moisture control and support
new root growth, applying NutriRoot (2-2-3) is recommended. It is also recommended to
introduce microbial inoculants at this stage which is beneficial for improving soil health and
facilitating nutrient uptake. The application of these treatments sets a robust foundation for
the trees to withstand construction impacts. A soils test is required to take place before
fertilizing.

Post-Construction Care:
Following the completion of construction activities, it's vital to continue supporting the trees'
recovery and growth. Maintaining the deep watering schedule will ensure that trees remain
adequately hydrated. Post construction soil test shall take place. A post-construction
application of NutriRoot may be advised to sustain soil moisture control and support ongoing
root health. It is also pertinent to reintroduce microbial inoculants to restore beneficial
microbial communities that may have been disrupted during construction. Additional
applications of soil amendments like Biochar and HydraHume will continue to enhance soil
structure, fertility, and water-holding capacity, supporting the trees' long-term health and
resilience. Employing air spading techniques can also be advantageous to aerate the soil and
gently introduce these amendments without causing root damage.

By adopting this dual-phase approach, (Pre & Post Construction) leveraging a combination of
deep watering, nutritional support, and soil health enhancement, the strategy aims to not only

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 19A55



protect the trees during construction but also promote their recovery and thriving in the
post-construction landscape. This holistic care plan underscores a commitment to sustainable
tree management, ensuring that the trees remain a valuable and vibrant part of the ecosystem
for years to come.

The plan review underscores the importance of implementing appropriate tree protection
measures during construction. By adhering to these guidelines, the health and longevity of the
urban tree canopy at 801 Hermosa Way is preserved, facilitating a balance between
construction progress and environmental stewardship. It is anticipated that with these
measures in place, the risks associated with the construction process will be effectively
mitigated.

Required Documentation
For compliance with Menlo Park city requirements, it is imperative to submit a tree protection
verification letter ahead of the issuance of demolition and construction permits. This
documentation, prepared by the project arborist, must include photographic evidence that
corroborates the installation of tree protection measures, which must be consistent with both
the city's standards and the suggestions provided in the arborist's report. Furthermore, the
project arborist is responsible for performing regular construction monitoring and tree
protection inspections at intervals of every four weeks. These inspection reports are to be
submitted directly to the City Arborist for evaluation and record-keeping.

Development-related Work:
When development-related work necessitates supervision by a Project Arborist, it is essential that
the arborist's report includes a comprehensive description of the recommended work plan and any
mitigation treatments proposed. This report should detail the specific actions to be undertaken, the
methodologies to be employed, and the rationale behind each recommendation, ensuring adherence
to ISA guidelines and relevant city codes.

The work plan should encompass all necessary precautions and measures to protect trees within the
construction zone, particularly those within 'ten times the diameter' of a tree, where activities are
most impactful. This may include, but is not limited to, the use of specific hand tools such as
shovels, air knives, and rotary hammers with clay spade attachments, as per the permitted range.

Furthermore, upon completion of the mitigation activities, the Project Arborist is obligated to
provide a follow-up letter. This document serves as a formal attestation that all mitigation measures
have been executed as per the specifications detailed in the report. This letter is a critical element,
confirming that the protective actions and treatments have been applied correctly and effectively,
thereby ensuring the integrity and health of the trees involved. It acts as a record of compliance and
due diligence in the tree protection process during the construction project.

By adhering to these guidelines and recommendations, the construction plan aligns with sustainable
tree management, thereby minimizing adverse impacts on existing arboricultural assets.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 20A56



TREE PROTECTION PLAN

Detailed Tree Protection Plan
For the aforementioned tree protection plan, this detailed guide has been designed by Kielty
Arborists Services LLC. The following section offers an in-depth perspective on the recommended
tree preservation guidelines. The aim is to ensure the conservation, vitality, and beauty of trees
during construction and developmental endeavors, mitigating any potential detrimental effects.
Adherence to these guidelines is essential to uphold both the ecological significance and visual
allure of trees within the designated project vicinity. Effective tree protection during construction or
development projects requires the use of fencing to demarcate and protect sensitive areas around
trees and Posted with signs saying “TREE PROTECTION FENCE – DO NOT MOVE OR
REMOVE WITHOUT APPROVAL FROM CITY ARBORIST”. Should you have any questions or
require further clarification, please contact Kielty Arborists Services directly.

Definitions And Distances:
TPZ-The Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) refers to a radius spanning from the external surface of the
trunk measured at 54 inches above grade. It is possible to find many, but certainly not all, of the
tree's roots in this area, which are essential for its biological functioning and structural stability. Any
activity occurring in the TPZ or within the confines of the Tree Protective Zone (TPZ) needs to
adhere to the work scheme endorsed by the Project Arborist as discussed in the plan review section
of this report. Work within the TPZ is required to be done under the supervision of the project
arborist. The TPZ is determined by multiplying the diameter of the trunk by ten (10 X DBH / 12).

Tree roots predominantly grow in the top two feet of soil, with a small number of roots occasionally
extending deeper. Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) around each preserved tree to safeguard the
root system from disturbance. Clearly mark the TPZ with weatherproof signage stating "Tree
Protection Zone - Authorized Persons Only" to prevent unauthorized access. Prohibit the storage of
equipment, materials, or any other activity that may damage the tree's root system within the TPZ.
During construction, regularly inspect and maintain the TPZ to ensure its integrity and effectiveness.

Fencing Specifications:
The tree protection fencing should be established and maintained throughout the entire length of the
project. It's essential that no equipment, materials, or debris are stored or cleaned inside these
protection zones. The zones should remain free from human activity unless explicitly authorized.
The choice of fencing type depends on the tree's location and the nature of the surrounding
environment and Posted with signs saying “TREE PROTECTION FENCE – DO NOT MOVE OR
REMOVE WITHOUT APPROVAL FROM CITY ARBORIST”

Type I Tree Protection:
Description: This is the most comprehensive form of tree protection fencing. It encompasses
the full canopy dripline or Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) of trees designated for preservation.
Application: Typically used in areas where trees are a significant distance away from
construction activity or when trees have a large canopy spread.

Specifications:

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 21A57



The fencing shall remain intact throughout the duration of the project or until activities
within the TPZ are finalized. Tree protection fencing should be a 6-foot-tall metal chain link
type supported by 2-inch thick diameter metal posts pounded into the ground to a depth of no
less than 2 feet, ensuring stability even in challenging conditions. Poles should be spaced no
more than 10 feet apart from center to center, providing a consistent and strong barrier. For
trees near existing hardscapes or structures, tree protection fencing shall be placed as close as
possible while still allowing access. Sensitive areas may require a landscape barrier if
fencing needs to be reduced for access reasons. The location for tree protection fencing for
the protected trees on site should be placed at 10x the tree diameters where possible (TPZ).
All other non-protected trees are recommended to be protected by fencing placed at the drip
line. No equipment or materials should be stored or cleaned inside protection zones. Signs
should be placed on fencing signifying “Tree Protection Zone - Keep Out”. If fencing needs
to be reduced for access or any other reasons, the non-protected areas must be protected by a
landscape buffer. Apply mulch to the tree protection zones at a depth of 3 inches. Spread the
mulch evenly throughout the designated area, ensuring it extends to, but does not touch, the
tree trunk. Keep the mulch at least 3 to 4 inches away from the base of the trunk to prevent
moisture buildup and potential rot. This will provide the necessary benefits of mulching,
such as moisture retention and temperature regulation, while helping to maintain tree health.
All tree protection and inspection schedule measures, design recommendations, watering,
and construction schedules shall be implemented in full by the owner and contractor. All
retained trees are to be protected by type 1 tree protection fencing.

Type I Fencing

Landscape Barrier Zone
If for any reason a smaller tree protection zone is needed for access, a landscape buffer should be
used, composed of wood chips layered to a depth of six inches, complemented by plywood atop the
wood chips where tree protection fencing would typically be situated. The plywood should be
¾-inch thick for maximal durability and efficacy. This landscape buffer plays a crucial role in

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 22A58



mitigating soil compaction within the tree's vulnerable root zone. For optimum stability, it is
advisable to securely join the plywood boards, thus preventing any unwanted shifts in the plywood
or underlying wood chips. Trees #22, 32 & 33 will require a landscape barrier within their tree
protection zones due to access reasons.

Landscape Barrier Zone

TREE PROTECTION MAP

Red lines indicate type 1 tree protection fencing. Green highlighted areas
represent landscape barriers for access, yellow line represents the reduction of

fencing during pathway work near tree #32 and #33

Staging
All tree protection measures must be in place before the start of construction. An inspection prior to
the start of construction is often required by the town. All vehicles must remain on paved surfaces if
possible. Existing pavement should remain and should be used for staging. If vehicles are to stray
Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 23A59



from paved surfaces, 6 inches of chips shall be spread, and plywood laid over the mulch layer. This
type of landscape buffer will help reduce the compaction of desired trees. Parking will not be
allowed off the paved surfaces

Root Cutting
If for any reason roots are to be cut, the work shall be monitored and documented. Large roots (over
2 inches in diameter) or large masses of roots to be cut must be inspected by the site arborist. The
site arborist, at this time, may recommend irrigation or fertilization of the root zone. All roots
needing to be cut should be cut clean with a saw or lopper. Roots to be left exposed for a period of
time should be covered with layers of burlap and kept moist.

Trenching/excavation
Trenching or excavation for irrigation, drainage, electrical, foundation, or any other reason shall be
done by hand when inside the dripline of a protected tree. Hand digging and the careful placement of
pipes below or besides protected roots will significantly reduce root loss, thus reducing trauma to the
tree. All trenches shall be backfilled with native materials and compacted to near their original
level, as soon as possible. Trenches to be left open for a period of time (24 hours), will require the
covering of all exposed roots with burlap and be kept moist. The trenches will also need to be
covered with plywood to help protect the exposed roots.

Grading
All existing grades underneath the dripline of a protected tree shall remain as is where possible.
Grading within the dripline of a protected tree is required to be done under the supervision of the
project arborist.

Irrigation
Non native trees- Irrigating the retained mature trees in the landscape is important to ensure their
health and vitality. Proper watering can help the trees continue to thrive. Deep irrigation is
recommended to take place every other week during the dry season. During the dry season, trees
typically need deep, infrequent watering. Watering every 2 weeks is sufficient for the retained trees
on this site. Applying water slowly and consistently until it penetrates at least 12-18 inches into the
soil is recommended. Avoid spraying water directly on the trunks, as this can lead to disease and
decay. Mulch is recommended to be maintained with mulch added overtime as needed. Mulch helps
retain soil moisture, regulates temperature, and prevents weeds, which can compete with the tree for
water. The use of soaker hoses or an inline drip emitter system set up in a grid like manner to
provide deep irrigation during the dry season is recommended. The irrigation system should be
placed on top of grade and require no excavation. This will help to keep the trees healthy.

Native oak trees- Native oak trees are recommended to only be irrigated during the months of May
and September or if their root zones are traumatized. Frequent irrigation during dry summer months
can significantly raise the risk of oak trees developing oak root fungus disease and is the leading
cause of oak tree death and failure in the urban landscape.

Tree Pruning
Tree pruning during construction is not just about aesthetics and safety; it's also about adhering to
best practices and standards set by professional bodies like the International Society of Arboriculture
Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 24A60



(ISA) and the American National Standards Institute (ANSI A300 Pruning Standards) . The ISA sets
rigorous standards to ensure trees are cared for sustainably and scientifically. Under these guidelines,
and for the well-being of trees during construction, it's imperative to have an expert arborist oversee
any pruning. Their knowledge guarantees that only the necessary branches are removed, ensuring
both safety and tree health. The guideline to prune no more than 25% of the tree's total foliage is
grounded in sound arboricultural practices. This safeguards the tree's photosynthetic capability,
reduces undue stress, and preserves the balance between its roots and canopy. Homeowners should
be aware of these standards and ensure they are being met, trusting in the expertise of their arborist
and keeping open communication about their tree care decisions. This approach not only ensures the
tree's compatibility with new construction aesthetics but also its long-term health and vitality.

Roots and Foundations
Recognize that tree roots typically do not grow under houses or buildings due to compacted soil and
limited moisture availability during foundation installation. Ensure that foundations are correctly
installed to minimize the risk of tree root intrusion. Avoid situations where trees are planted too
close to existing or planned structures, as this can result in potential conflicts between roots and
foundations. If tree roots are in direct contact with a foundation, consult with a certified arborist to
assess the situation and recommend appropriate measures to protect both the tree and the structure.

Traffic Within TPZs
Strictly prohibit driving vehicles or heavy foot traffic on bare soil within the TPZs of protected trees.
Such activities can crush roots directly and compact the soil, impeding oxygen and water infiltration.
In areas without existing pavement, use temporary anti-compaction materials, such as wood chips
covered with plywood, to prevent damage to tree roots (landscape barrier). Temporary pathways or
boardwalks can be constructed to facilitate access while minimizing soil compaction within the TPZ.

Chemical and Material Handling
Store chemicals and construction materials away from TPZs to prevent accidental spills or exposure
that may harm tree health. Follow proper handling and disposal procedures for chemicals to ensure
compliance with environmental regulations. Minimize the use of toxic materials near trees and opt
for environmentally friendly alternatives whenever possible.

Monitoring and Inspection
Regularly monitor and inspect the tree protection measures throughout the construction process to
ensure their effectiveness and compliance with the Tree Preservation Plan. Assign a qualified
individual, such as a project arborist or certified arborist, to conduct periodic inspections and provide
recommendations for any necessary adjustments or improvements. Maintain detailed records of
inspections, including dates, findings, and any actions taken.

Post-Construction Maintenance
After construction is completed, continue monitoring the health and condition of preserved trees to
address any potential issues promptly. Implement post-construction maintenance practices such as
watering, mulching, pruning, and fertilization as needed to support the recovery and long-term
health of the trees. Regularly assess the trees for signs of stress, disease, or structural instability and
take appropriate measures, including consulting with a certified arborist if necessary.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 25A61



Compliance with Environmental Laws
Ensure full compliance with all applicable local, state, and federal environmental laws, regulations,
and permit requirements pertaining to tree protection during construction. Familiarize yourself with
specific regulations regarding tree preservation in your jurisdiction and consult with local authorities
or arborists for guidance if needed.

Responsibility
Designate a responsible person or team within the project organization to oversee the
implementation and enforcement of the Tree Preservation Plan. Clearly communicate the roles and
responsibilities of all parties involved in the construction project regarding tree protection.

Emergency Procedures
Develop clear procedures to follow in the event of emergencies that may impact tree preservation,
such as severe storms, accidents, or unexpected tree health issues. Ensure that emergency response
plans address prompt actions to mitigate potential risks to trees and contact qualified professionals,
such as arborists or tree care companies when needed.

Communication and Training
Facilitate effective communication among all project stakeholders, including contractors,
subcontractors, architects, engineers, and landscape professionals, regarding the importance of tree
preservation and the specific guidelines to follow. Conduct training sessions or workshops to educate
personnel.

COUNTY/CITY/TOWN CODE:

Heritage And Protected Trees Code:
As Defined In The City Of Menlo Park Municipal Code:
"13.24.020 Definitions
Section 13.24.080(4)(B) identifies special provisions for an oak tree which is native to California.
The city arborist has determined the following species of oak trees are native to California:
Coast live oak (Quercus agrifolia)
Scrub oak (Quercus berberidifolia)
Canyon live oak (Quercus chrysolepis)
Blue oak (Quercus douglasii)
Leather oak (Quercus dumosa)
Englemann oak (Quercus englmannii)
Oregon white oak (Quercus garryanna)
Black oak (Quercus kellogii)
Valley oak (Quercus lobata)
Shreve oak (Quercus parvula var. shrevei)
Oracle oak (Quercus x morehus)
Island oak (Quercus tomentella)
Interior live oak (Quercus wislizenii)

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 26A62



Multi-trunk trees, where the trunk splits at 4.5 feet above the ground or less, are measured below the
main union. Multi-stemmed trees with a union occurring below the existing grade shall be
considered individual trees and diameter measurements will be taken for each individual stem to
determine trunk diameter – independent of the other stem diameters.
As of July 1, 2020, the City Council has not designated any trees under Menlo Park Municipal Code
Section 13.24.020(4)(C).

(5) “Heritage tree” shall mean:
(A) All trees other than oaks which have a trunk with a circumference of 47.1 inches (diameter of
fifteen (15) inches) or more, measured fifty-four (54) inches above natural grade.
(B) An oak tree (Quercus) which is native to California and has a trunk with a circumference of
31.4 inches (diameter of ten (10) inches) or more, measured at fifty-four (54) inches above natural
grade.
(C) A tree or group of trees of historical significance, special character or community benefit,
specifically designated by resolution of the city council.
For purposes of subsections (5)(A) and (B) of this section, trees with more than one (1) trunk shall
be measured at the diameter below the main union of all multi-trunk trees unless the union occurs
below grade, in which case each stem shall be measured as a stand-alone tree. A multi-trunk tree
under twelve (12) feet in height shall not be considered a heritage tree. (Ord. 1060 § 2 (part),
2019)."

Removed Trees Replacement Code:
As Defined In The City Of Menlo Park Municipal Code:
"13.24.050 Permits and decision making criteria for removal
Applicants who submitted a heritage tree permit application before March 16, 2020, have the option
to have their applications be reviewed under (a) the current ordinance or (b) the updated ordinance.
The review process includes, but not limited to be, the decision making criteria, replacement tree
requirements and the appeal process. These applicants must make a determination through an email
to Joanna Chen (jpchen@menlopark.org) by July 1, 2020, otherwise the application will be
processed under the new ordinance. If an applicant submitted a non-development related
application before July 1, 2020, and chose to be reviewed under the updated ordinance, he/she will
be granted an exception to use an arborist who is not on the City-approved consulting arborist list.
The City is slowly transitioning from the use of paper applications to the use of an online permitting
system. Permit applicants can submit electronic permit applications online at
menlopark.org/onlinepermits. You will need to create an account (username and password).
The City will continue to allow paper submittals until October 1, 2020, with a few exceptions. For
instance, those who do have not have internet access may contact staff at 650-330-6780 for
assistance. Paper permit applications with the payment may be mailed to the Building Division (701
Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025). The determination in granting or denying a permit shall in most
instances be based on the articulated criteria in

Municipal Code Section 13.24.050(a):
1. Death:
Permit applicants need to submit these documents to confirm the tree is dead:

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 27A63



Images to show the tree does not have living foliage. This does not apply to deciduous tree during
winter months when these trees are typically dormant; or An arborist report from city approved
arborist stating the tree is dead.
2. Tree risk rating:
Considerations:
Tree risk assessment is a systematic process used to identify, analyze and evaluate tree risk. Risk is
assessed by categorizing or the likelihood (probability) of occurrence (failure), the likelihood of
impacting a target, and the severity of consequences should failure occur to determine a risk rating.
Trees with moderate, high or extreme risk are required to have been evaluated by City-approved
consulting arborists.
The following documentation may be used to support Criteria 2:
Evidence that the tree risk rating cannot be mitigated to low residual risk rating (through pruning,
cabling, bracing or other means), as reported by a City-approved consulting arborists. This may
require an advanced level 3 assessment such as an aerial inspection, sounding with mallet, pull test,
tomographic or resistograph (or equivalent) testing.
3. Tree health rating:
Intolerance to adverse site conditions can include factors such as soil or water salinity, exposure to
sun or wind, or increasingly high temperatures, or overcrowded growing conditions.
Table 4.1 of the Guide for Plant Appraisal, 10th Edition, or its successor manual, defines tree health
as the following:
Excellent rating – High vigor and nearly perfect health with little or no twig dieback, discoloration,
or defoliation.
Good rating – Vigor is normal for the species. No significant damage due to diseases or pests. Any
twig dieback, defoliation, or discoloration is minor.
Fair rating – Reduced vigor. Damage due to insects or diseases may be significant and associated
with defoliation but is not likely to be fatal. Twig dieback, defoliation, discoloration, and/or dead
branches may comprise up to 50% of crown.
Poor rating – Unhealthy and declining in appearance. Poor vigor. Low foliage density and poor
foliage color are present. Potentially fatal pest infestation. Extensive twig and/or branch dieback.
Very poor rating – Poor vigor. Appears to be dying and in the last stages of life. Little live foliage.
4. Species:
The trees listed below have been designated by the city arborist to be invasive or low desirability
species. Note that heritage tree removal permits are still required for the removal of these trees in
order to verify accurate species and document replacement tree planting conditions. The permit
issuance may be expedited as no appeals are allowed.
Bailey acacia (Acacia baileyana)
Black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia)
Blackwood acacia (Acacia melanoxylon)
California fan palm ((Washingtonia filifera)
Glossy privet (Ligustrum lucidum)
Mexican fan palm (Washingtonia robusta)
Myoporum (Myoporum laetum)
Purple leaf plum (Prunus cerasifera 'Atropurpurea')
Red ironbark eucalyptus (Eucalyptus sideroxylon)
Tree of heaven (Ailanthus altissima)

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 28A64



5. Development:
The following documentation may be required to support criterion 5:
Schematic diagrams that demonstrate the feasibility/livability of alternative design(s) that preserve
the tree, including utilizing zoning ordinance variances that would preserve the tree;
Documentation on the additional incremental construction cost attributable to an alternative that
preserves the tree (i.e. construction cost of alternative design minus cost of original design) in
relation to the appraised value of tree(s) and based on the most recent addition to the Guide for
Plant Appraisal.
The following guidance will be used to determine feasibility:
If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is more than 140% of the appraised value
of the tree, the cost will be presumed to be financially infeasible.
If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is less than 110% of the appraised value
of the tree, the cost will be presumed to be financially feasible.
If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is between 110% and 140% of the
appraised value of the tree, public works director or their designee will consider a range of factors,
including the value of the improvements, the value of the tree, the location of the tree, the viability of
replacement mitigation and
other site conditions.
In calculating the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative, only construction costs will
be evaluated. No design fees or other soft costs will be considered.
Removal applications based on shading interference with proposed solar facilities shall employ the
following screening criteria before applying the feasibility guidance above:
Can the proposed array be ground mounted or positioned elsewhere to avoid shading by tree
Can pruning resolve the conflict, Is the proposed array sized appropriately
Are there other energy efficiency measures that owner could employ to replace or reduce the need
for the proposed solar array (energy efficiency analysis should be prepared by a certified energy
auditor).
6. Utility inference (Criterion 6):
The following documentation may be required to support criterion 6:
Schematic diagrams that demonstrate the feasibility/livability of alternative design(s) that preserve
the tree, including utilizing zoning ordinance variances that would preserve the tree;
Documentation on the additional incremental construction cost attributable to an alternative that
preserves the tree (i.e. construction cost of alternative design minus cost of original design) in
relation to the appraised value of tree(s) and based on the most recent addition to the Guide for
Plant Appraisal.
According to Section 13.24.050(b) noticing requirements:
For decisions made under either Criterion 5 or 6, staff will email a city-issued notice to the
applicant who is expected to post the notice.
Notice posting instructions:
1. Print out city-issued notice on an 11” by 17” yellow-colored paper or pick up a copy of the notice
at the front building counter at City Hall. Pleases make sure to check the City webpage to determine
if the front building counter is accepting walk in services.
2. Complete the date, site, number, and type of trees, and the reason for removal (consistent with the
stated City approved authorization for removal, e.g. severe pest and disease infection).

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 29A65



3. Place the notice so it is visible to the public. If the tree is in front of the property, either staple the
notice on the tree, tie it around the tree, or hang it on the tree. If the tree is not visible to the public,
place the notice in the front of the property so it is visible from the public street.
4. Send at least two (2) pictures of each tree to the City staff at jpchen@menlopark.org on Day 1, 5,
10, and 15 of notice issuance to ensure the notice is visible to the public during the appeal period
until the permit issuance and tree removal.
- Picture #1: Overview of the heritage tree with the notice visible in relation to the property address.
Picture must include the main building in the background."

Replacement Tree Code:
As Defined In The City Of Menlo Park Municipal Code:
13.24.090 Heritage tree replacements
Under Section 13.24.090 (1), an approved replacement tree list is not provided as site conditions are
unknown and will vary from each property. A specified list also limits species diversity. However,
below are some examples of replacement tree species that meet the criteria listed above. It is
recommended that assistance of a certified arborist be sought prior to selecting a tree and planting
location. The replacement tree species are not limited to the following trees if the above criteria are
met:

Deciduous tree (lose their leaves in winter)
Accolade elm (Ulmus ‘Morton’)
Black oak (Quercus kellogii)
Black walnut (Juglans hindsii)
Blue oak (Quercus douglasii
California sycamore (Platanus racemose)
Chinese flame (Koelreuteria bipinnata)
Chinese pistache (Pistacia chinensis)
Chinese tallow (Triadica sebiferum)
Engelmann oak (Quercus engelmannii)
Forest green oak/Hungarian oak (Quercus frainetto 'Forest Green')
Frontier elm (Ulmus carpinfolia x parvifolia ‘Frontier’)
Japanese pagoda (Styphnolobium japonicum)
Kentucky coffee (Gymnocladus dioicus 'Espresso', 'Prairie Titan')
Pecan (Carya illinoinensis)
Rotundiloba sweetgum (Liquidambar styraciflua 'Rotundiloba')
Shademaster locust (Gleditsia triancanthos var. inermis ‘Shademaster’)
Silver linden (Tilia tomentosa)
Texas red oak (Quercus buckleyi)
Valley oak (Quercus lobata)
Western catalpa (Catalpa speciosa)

Evergreen trees (retain their leaves in the winter)
African fern pine (Afrocarpus gracilior)
Arizona cypress (Hesperocyparis arizonica)
Atlas cedar (Cedrus atlantica)

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 30A66



Avocado tree (Persea Americana)
Brisbane box (Lophostemon confertus)
Cajeput tree (Melaluca quinquenervia)
California bay laurel (Umbellaria californica)
Camphor tree (Cinnamomum camphora)
Canary island pine (Pinus canariensis)
Carob tree (Ceratonia siliqua)
Catalina ironwood (Lyonothamnus floribundus)
Coast live oak (Quercus agrifolia)
Cork oak (Quercus suber)
Deodar cedar (Cedrus deodara)
Incense cedar (Calocedrus decurrens)
Island oak (Quercus tomentella)
Lemon-scented gum (Corymbia citriodora)
Peruvian pepper (Schinus molle)
Red flowering gum (Corymbia ficifolia)
Saratoga laurel (Laurus nobilis 'Saratoga')
Silk oak (Grevillea robusta)
Silver leaf oak (Quercus hypoleucoides)
Spotted gum (Corymbia maculata)
Torrey pine (Pinus torreyana)f

In reference to Section 13.24.090(2), applicants may use the following monetary value of the
replacement trees to help design their landscape plans for development-related removals:
One (1) #5 container – $100
One (1) #15 container – $200
One (1) 24-inch tree box – $400
One (1) 36-inch tree box – $1,200
One (1) 48-inch tree box – $5,000
One (1) 60-inch tree box – $7,000

To be eligible for the in lieu fee, applicants must explain why the value of the replacement trees are
not equal to the appraised value of the removed heritage trees.
In reference to Section 13.24.090 (3) for decisions made under Criteria 1, 2, 3, or 4, the monetary
value of a replacement tree correlates with the size of the heritage tree trunk diameter (measured
from 54 inches above grade). For every heritage tree proposed for removal, it must be replaced by
the following replacement tree requirement:
An oak heritage tree with a trunk diameter of 10 to 15 inches has a minimum replacement tree
requirement of one (1) #5 container. The monetary value is $100.
Any heritage tree with a trunk diameter of greater than 15 inches to 20 inches has a minimum
replacement tree requirement of one (1) #15 container. The monetary value is $200.
Any heritage tree with a trunk diameter of greater than 20 inches to 30 inches has a minimum
replacement tree requirement of one (1) 24-inch tree box. The monetary value is $400.
Any heritage tree with a trunk diameter of greater than 30 inches to 40 inches has a minimum
replacement tree requirement of one (1) 36-inch tree box. The monetary value is $1,200.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 31A67



Any heritage tree with a trunk diameter of greater than 40 inches to 50 inches has a minimum
replacement tree requirement of one (1) 48-inch tree box. The monetary value is $5,000.
Any heritage tree with a trunk diameter of greater than 50 inches has a minimum replacement tree
requirement of one (1) 60-inch tree box. The monetary value is $7,000.

Applicants shall submit written statements or landscape plans to describe how they will fulfil the
replacement tree requirements. The submissions shall include: (a) the replacement tree species, (b)
the container size, (c) the planting location, and (d) an in lieu fee payment, if applicable.

Maintenance Plan

For the sustained health and longevity of trees preserved in your project, a tailored yet
adaptable maintenance plan is crucial. This plan encompasses regular arborist inspections to
monitor tree health, tailored watering schedules responsive to climatic variations, and diligent
soil management, including mulching and aeration, to ensure optimal root health. Pruning,
conducted in line with ISA standards, will be strategically scheduled to maintain structural
integrity and aesthetic appeal. A proactive approach to disease and pest management will be
adopted, employing environmentally sensitive treatments as necessary. Importantly, ongoing
protection measures will safeguard the trees from potential mechanical damage. Fertilization
regimes will be based on specific soil and tree needs, avoiding excesses. Comprehensive
record-keeping will track all maintenance activities, providing a clear history of care. This plan,
while general in its framework, is customized to address the unique needs of the trees and the
specific environmental conditions of your project site, ensuring a balanced approach to tree
preservation and care in the context of ongoing urban development.

To ensure high-quality tree work, including removal, pruning, and planting, the following
standards and qualifications will be adhered to:

● Industry Standards: All tree work will be performed in accordance with industry
standards established by the International Society of Arboriculture (ISA). These
standards encompass best practices and guidelines for tree care and maintenance.

● Contractor Licensing and Insurance: The contractor undertaking the tree work must
possess a valid State of California Contractors License for Tree Service (C61-D49) or
Landscaping (C-27). Additionally, they must have comprehensive general liability,
worker's compensation, and commercial auto/equipment insurance coverage.

● Workmanship Standards: Contractors must adhere to the current Best Management
Practices of the International Society of Arboriculture (ISA) and the American National
Standards Institute (ANSI). These standards, including ANSI A300 and Z133.1, outline
guidelines for tree pruning, fertilization, and safety. Compliance with these standards
ensures the use of proper techniques and practices throughout the tree work process.

By adhering to these established standards and qualifications, we can ensure the provision of
professional and safe tree services that meet the industry's best practices and promote the health
and longevity of the trees.

SCHEDULE OF INSPECTIONS
Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 32A68



At the conclusion of the construction project, a final inspection by the City Arborist is a mandatory
requirement. This inspection must occur before the removal of tree protection fencing. The purpose
of this inspection is to ensure that all tree protection measures have been properly adhered to
throughout the project and to assess the overall health and condition of any trees within or adjacent
to the construction site.

During this final inspection, the City Arborist will evaluate the effectiveness of the tree protection
strategies implemented and check for any potential damage to the trees. The Arborist will also verify
that any trees damaged beyond repair during the construction process have been or will be replaced,
in accordance with the City’s Municipal Code. This replacement should ideally be done at the time
of the final inspection, to ensure compliance with the required standards for tree replacement.

The planting of replacement trees should follow the guidelines set forth in the initial project
arborist’s report or as per the City’s specific requirements. This includes selecting appropriate
species, ensuring proper planting techniques, and establishing a care and maintenance plan to ensure
the health and growth of the new trees.

This final inspection is a crucial step to close out the project, ensuring that all measures for tree
protection and replacement have been adequately fulfilled, and to document compliance with the
city codes and regulations regarding tree preservation during construction.

Kielty Arborists Services LLC:
We will conduct the following inspections as needed for the project:

● Pre-Equipment Mobilization, Delivery of Materials, Tree Removal, and Site Work: Our
project arborist will meet with the general contractor and owners to review tree protection
measures. We will identify and mark tree-protection zone fencing, specify equipment access
routes and storage areas, and assess the existing conditions of trees to determine any
additional necessary protection measures.

● Inspection after Installation of Tree-Protection Fencing: Upon completion of
tree-protection fencing installation, our project arborist will inspect the site to ensure that all
protection measures are correctly implemented. We will also review any contractor requests
for access within the tree protection zones and assess any changes in tree health since the
previous inspection.

● Inspection during Soil Excavation or Work Potentially Affecting Protected Trees:
During any work within non-intrusion zones of protected trees, our project arborist will
inspect the site and document the implemented recommendations. We will assess any
changes in tree health since the previous inspection to monitor the well-being of the trees.

● Final Site Inspection: Prior to project completion, our project arborist will conduct a final
site inspection to evaluate tree health and provide necessary recommendations to promote
their longevity. A comprehensive letter report summarizing our findings and conclusions will
be provided to the City of Menlo Park.

Our inspections aim to ensure proper tree protection, health, and adherence to project requirements.

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 33A69



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

● Legal Descriptions and Titles: The consultant/arborist assumes the accuracy of any legal
description and titles provided. No responsibility is assumed for any legal due diligence. The
consultant/arborist shall not be held liable for any discrepancies or issues arising from
incorrect legal descriptions or faulty titles.

● Compliance with Laws and Regulations: The property is assumed to be in compliance
with all applicable codes, ordinances, statutes, or other government regulations. The
consultant/arborist is not responsible for identifying or rectifying any non-compliance.

● Reliability of Information: Though diligent efforts have been made to obtain and verify
information, the consultant/arborist is not responsible for inaccuracies or incomplete data
provided by external sources. The client accepts full responsibility for any decisions or
actions taken based on this data.

● Testimony or Court Attendance: The consultant/arborist has no obligation to provide
testimony or attend court regarding this report unless mutually agreed upon through separate
written agreements, which may incur additional fees.

● Report Integrity: Unauthorized alteration, loss, or reproduction of this report renders it
invalid. The consultant/arborist shall not be liable for any interpretations or conclusions
made from altered reports.

● Restricted Publication and Use: This report is exclusively for the use of the original client.
Any other use or dissemination, without prior written consent from the consultant/arborist, is
strictly prohibited.

● Non-disclosure to Public Media: The client is prohibited from using any content of this
report, including the consultant/arborist's identity, in any public communication without prior
written consent.

● Opinion-based Report: The report represents the independent, professional judgment of the
consultant/arborist. The fee is not contingent upon any predetermined outcomes, values, or
events.

● Visual Aids Limitation: Visual aids are for illustrative purposes and should not be
considered precise representations. They are not substitutes for formal engineering,
architectural, or survey reports.

● Inspection Limitations: The consultant/arborist's inspection is limited to visible and
accessible components. Non-invasive methods are used. There is no warranty or guarantee
that problems will not develop in the future.

ARBORIST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Arborists specialize in the assessment and care of trees using their education, knowledge, training,
and experience.

● Limitations of Tree Assessment: Arborists cannot guarantee the detection of all conditions
that could compromise a tree’s structure or health. The consultant/arborist makes no

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 34A70



warranties regarding the future condition of trees and shall not be liable for any incidents or
damages resulting from tree failures.

● Remedial Treatments Uncertainty: Remedial treatments for trees have variable outcomes
and cannot be guaranteed.

● Considerations Beyond Scope: The consultant/arborist's services are confined to tree
assessment and care. The client assumes responsibility for matters involving property
boundaries, ownership, disputes, and other non-arboricultural considerations.

● Inherent Risks: Living near trees inherently involves risks. The consultant/arborist is not
responsible for any incidents or damages arising from such risks.

● Client’s Responsibility: The client is responsible for considering the information and
recommendations provided by the consultant/arborist and for any decisions made or actions
taken.

The client acknowledges and accepts these Assumptions and Limiting Conditions and Arborist
Disclosure Statement, recognizing that reliance upon this report is at their own risk. The
consultant/arborist disclaims all warranties, express or implied.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that all the statements of fact in this report are true, complete, and correct to the best
of my knowledge and belief, and are made in good faith.

David Beckham
David Beckham - October 29, 2024

Signature of Consultant

Kielty Arborist Services LLC Arborist Report 2024 35A71



City of Menlo Park

801 Hermosa
Location Map

Date: 11/18/2024 Drawn By:4,000 CDH Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



801 Hermosa Way – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 21,792 sf 21,792 sf 20,000 sf min 
Lot width 108.3 ft 108.3  ft 110 ft min 
Lot depth 201.1 ft 201.1  ft 130 ft min 

Setbacks 
Front 23.7 ft 24.5 ft 20 ft min 
Rear 102.9 ft 116.6 ft 20 ft min 
Side (left) 19.8 ft 9.2 ft 30 feet total with a min of 10’ 

on any one side Side (right) 13 ft 39.3 ft 
Building coverage 5,789.8 

26.5 
sf 
% 

3,446 
15.8 

sf 
% 

6,537 
30 

sf max 
% max 

FAL (Floor Area Limit) 7,290* sf 3,520 sf 6,498 sf max 
Square footage by floor 3,489 

2,424 
577.5 
410.5 

451 
62 

799.8 

sf/1st

sf/2nd 

sf/garage 
sf/covered 
porch 
acc. Trellis 
pool enclosure 
ADU 

2,195 
764 
561 
560 
690 

sf/1st

sf/2nd 

garage 
basement 
acc. building 

Square footage of buildings 8,213.8 sf 4,770 sf 
Building height 25.4 ft 22 ft 30 ft max 
Parking 2 covered spaces and 1 

uncovered space*** 
 3 covered spaces 1 covered and 1 uncovered 

space 
Note: Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation 

Trees Heritage trees 16** Non-Heritage trees 24 New trees 10 
Heritage trees 
proposed for 
removal 

1 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for removal 

16 Total Number of 
trees  

34 

*The applicant is permitted to exceed the permitted FAL by up to 800 square feet in order to construct an ADU.
**Indicates eight heritage trees are off-site
***An additional uncovered space is required for the ADU.

ATTACHMENT C

C1



Attachment D – Tree table – 801 Hermosa Way 

Table 1: Tree summary and disposition 

Tree number Species Size (DBH, in 
inches) Disposition Notes 

1 Deodar cedar 43.6 Remove - 
Construction Heritage 

2 Purple leaf plum 13.1 Remove - Health Non-heritage 

3 Magnolia 26.2 Preserve Heritage 

4 Deodar cedar 31.4 Preserve Heritage 

5 Italian cypress 12.2 Remove Non-heritage 

6 Italian cypress 26.7 Preserve Heritage 

7 Lemon 3.6 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

8 Lemon 5.5 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

9 Lemon 6 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

10 Catalina cherry 8 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

11 Dawn redwood 16.8 Preserve Heritage 

12 Coast live oak 29.5 Preserve Heritage 

13 Apple 4.5 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

14 Pear 5.8 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

15 Birch 7.6 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

16 Birch 13.2 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

17 Birch 7 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

18 Birch 5.5 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

19* Redwood 28 Preserve Heritage 

20* Valley oak 16 Preserve Heritage 

21* Valley oak 18 Preserve Heritage 

22 Plum 16.2 Preserve Heritage 

23* Coast live oak 15.2 Preserve Heritage 

24 Coast live oak 10 Preserve Heritage 

25 Apple 7.6 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

ATTACHMENT D

D1



Attachment D – Tree table – 801 Hermosa Way 

26 Apricot 12.8 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

27 Pittosporum 10 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

28 Pittosporum 5 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

29 Pittosporum 5 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

30 Pittosporum 8 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

31 Pittosporum 12 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

32* Redwood 50 Preserve Heritage 

33* Redwood 28 Preserve Heritage 

34* Redwood 26 Preserve Heritage 

35* Redwood 30 Preserve Heritage 

36 Pittosporum 7 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

37 Pittosporum 8 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

38 Plum 6.5 Remove - 
Construction Non-heritage 

39* Pittosporum 6 Preserve Non-heritage 

40 Coast live oak 8 Preserve Heritage 

*indicates off-site tree 

D2



P a g e  1 | 9 

1 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

PROPOSED PROJECT 

The proposed project located at 801 Hermosa Way will demolish existing 2-story residence, ADU, and shed, and all 

hardscape and construct a new 2-story residence, detached ADU, new pool and new driveway and all associated site 

elements. The removal of 1 heritage tree is necessary to accommodate the improvements. Please see below for discussion 

of the alternate plans illustrating the necessity to remove one of the large heritage trees in the front yard to protect other 

heritage trees since the trees make-up a large portion of buildable area, required utility trenching and driveway access. 

The existing site (See attached sheet SA-1 and Figure 1) has 31 trees of which 8 are protected. There are 9 trees on 

neighboring properties of which 8 are protected. Most of the trees are directly along the property line and predominantly 

outside of buildable footprint. There are 2 heritage trees in front yard located such that the design alternatives risk long-

term health of one of the trees. The goal was to keep all heritage trees with the priority to keep the health of the redwood 

trees on the neighboring property and the analysis shows that removing H1, a large deodar cedar, that has been trimmed 

by PGE, has dropped large limbs, and stressed existing structure allows for proposed development, maintaining health of 

neighboring property trees, and all other heritage trees on the subject property. 

The existing home and improvements is within the 10x zone of trees H1,H3,H4,H5, NH-19, NH-23, H24, NH-32,NH-33,NH-

34, and NH-35 or 11 of the 16 protected trees. The goal is to reduce additional impact to as few heritage trees as possible 

and preserve, and limit hardscape over the redwood trees on neighboring property to the west and the current/visible 

damage to existing hardscape from trees on the eastern side. 

Please refer to the arborist report, accompanying sheets SA1-5 and the draft planning submittal for more detail. 

FIGURE 1: SITE PLAN SHOWING 40 TREES INCLUDING 9 TREES ON NEIGHBORING PROPERTIES. DARK GREEN ARE THE 8 

PROTECTED TREES ON SUBJECT PROPERTY AND LIGHT GREEN TREES ARE THE 8 PROTECTED TREES ON NEIGHBORING 

ATTACHMENT E

E1



 

P a g e  2 | 9 

 

2 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

PROPERTIES. THE CIRCLES REPRESENT THE 10X TREE PROTECTION ZONE. THE SHADED GRAY ELEMENTS ARE THE EXISTING 

STRUCTURES AND HARDSCAPE. 

  

SITE ANALYSIS – OPTION A: SIDE FACING GARAGE AND DRIVEWAY IN CURRENT LOCATION 

Option A (Figure 2) driveway where existing driveway is located. In this option, the location of the garage in the middle of 

property requires locating entry to house on far side to allow for desired layout and ease of car backup and avoid backup 

into the trees. In this option, there is additional impact to H1, the neighboring oaks and the oaks at the southeastern corner. 

This requires a less than ideal lengthy 73’ entry on the western side opposite the garage. Since PGE requires 

undergrounding utilities, trenching for PGE would route through H1 within 6x and possibly 3x. The ADU is also opposite the 

ADU parking space. Potentially all trees could be preserved with high risk to H1 and NH-32. 

 

E2



 

P a g e  3 | 9 

 

3 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

 

FIGURE 2: OPTION A WITH DRIVEWAY IN SAME LOCATION AT WESTERN SIDE OF PROPERTY. MAIN ENTRANCE IS A “SIDE” 

ENTRANCE WITH A LONG ACCESS ON OPPOSITE SIDE AT THE EASTERN SIDE.  

 

E3



 

P a g e  4 | 9 

 

4 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

 

FIGURE 3: OPTION A FLIPPED SO THE DRIVEWAY IS AT EASTERN SIDE, CLOSER TO ADU. THIS INCREASES THE IMPACT TO H1, BUT 

REDUCES IMPACT TO THE REDWOOD TREES. 

SITE ANALYSIS – OPTION A-FLIPPED: SIDE FACING GARAGE AND DRIVEWAY IN CURRENT LOCATION 

Option A-Flipped (Figure 3) flips option A with driveway along the eastern side but keeps ADU at eastern side. In this option, 

the location of the garage in the middle of property requires locating entry to house on far eastern side to allow for desired 

layout and ease of car backup and avoid backup into the trees. In this option, there is additional impact to H1 than Option 

A but less impact to neighboring redwood trees oaks. However, This requires a less than ideal lengthy 73’ entry on the 

western side opposite the garage.  

E4



 

P a g e  5 | 9 

 

5 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

 

 

FIGURE 4: OPTION B WITH SIDE FACING GARAGE AND CENTRAL ENTRY. GARAGE AT EASTERN SIDE WITH IMPACT TO TREE H1 AND 

IMPACTS TO REDWOOD TREES DUE TO DRIVEWAY. 

 

SITE ANALYSIS – OPTION B: SIDE FACING GARAGE AND U-SHAPE ENTRANCE 

Option B (Figure 4) is an option with an entrance in a more central location, 55’ from street resulting in a u-shape house. 

Locating garage on eastern side impacts H1 and the backup and ADU space will reside in the redwood tree zone. This 

option minimizes impact to H2 but still impacts the oak trees on the southeastern portion of property with the ADU. 

 

E5



 

P a g e  6 | 9 

 

6 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

 

FIGURE 5: OPTION B-FLIPPED. THIS KEEPS GARAGE AND DRIVEWAY AT SAME GENERAL LOCATION AND CONSIDERS LOCATING 

ADU AT SOUTHWESTERN SIDE. THIS INCREAES RISK TO H12, NH32, AND NH33 AND STEEL PUTS AT RISK H1. 

SITE ANALYSIS – OPTION B-FLIPPED: SIDE FACING GARAGE AND U-SHAPE ENTRANCE 

Option B-Flipped(Figure 5) is an option with an entrance in a more central location, 55’ from street resulting in a u-shape 

house. In this option, the house opens up the back yard and driveway is in current location and ADU is in the southwestern 

side. There is impact to H1, NH-32 and to NH-12 due to locating ADU here and more significant impact to NH-32 AND AND 

NH-33 and does not mitigate impact of PGE trenching and H1 is still at risk. 

 

E6



 

P a g e  7 | 9 

 

7 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

 

 

FIGURE 6: OPTION C, SIMILAR TO OPTION B, WITH FRONT-FACING GARAGE (PROPOSING REMOVAL OF H1), AND MOVING ADU 

OUTSIDE OF OAK CANOPY AND RELOCATING POOL EQUIPMENT ENCLOSURE. THIS REDUCES RISK TO NEIGHBORING TREES WITH 

ONLY 15 SF ON WORK WITHIN 6X ZONE (OUTSIDE OF EXISTING TREE CANOPIES) 

SITE ANALYSIS – OPTION C: FRONT-FACING GARAGE AND REMOVAL OF H1 

The location of 2 large heritage trees in the front setback and neighboring protected trees require development within the 

6x and 10x zone for any building development. Moving the development further from the street pushes work into trees along 

both property lines where previous development did not exist and still requires trenching for utilities. Side-facing garage to 

E7



 

P a g e  8 | 9 

 

8 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

the west pushes work further into the redwood trees along the eastern side, makes backup of cars challenging and space 

for ADU and existing driveway in that location is in poor shape due to tree roots. Moving garage entrance to the side at the 

eastern side puts the driveway and backup in the redwood tree and PGE trenching must extend further into redwood tree 

canopy zone. 

See Table 1 for a comparison of the impact on trees for all the alternatives. PGE pole will require trenching within H1’s 

canopy to side of the proposed structure. By removing H1, this allows for an option with minimal impact to neighboring 

oaks and existing trees on the property. Additionally, by moving the ADU a few feet to the east and re-locating pool 

equipment attached to home reduces impact of that enclosure and limits trenching for pool items. This reduces impact on 

the southeastern heritage oaks and trenching within their 6x zone. It also limits any hardscape within the large redwood 

trees or existing trees which are subject to root growth. This option limits any work within the 6x and 10x zone of the heritage 

trees outside of current hardscape and structures to 15 SF. 

  

E8



 

P a g e  9 | 9 

 

9 801 HERMOSA TREE REMOVAL DESIGN NARRATIVE 

TABLE 1: COMPARISON OF OPTIONS RELATIVE TO IMPACT ON PROTECTED TREES AND DESIRED USE OF PROPERTY 

 OPTION 

A 

OPTION A-

FLIPPED 

OPTION B OPTION B-

FLIPPED 

OPTION B-

FLIPPED 

(ADU 

FLIPPED 

ALSO) 

PROPOSED 

OPTION 

TREE IMPACT 

BETWEEN 6X AND 

10X ZONE 

955 1,240 896 808 1121 715 

TREE IMPACT 

WITHIN 6X 

640 871 850 439 564 15 

TOTAL IMPACT 1,595 2,0 11 1,746 1,247 1,685 715 (AFTER 

REMOVAL OF 

H1) 

DIST TO H1 10’8” 12’ 10’8” 14’ 14’ N/A 

HERITAGE TREE 

REMOVE 

0 (H1 AT 

RISK) 

0 (H1 AT RISK) 0 (H1 AT 

RISK) 

0 1-H22 

H12 AT RISK 

1 – H1 

PGE TRENCH 

OUTSIDE OF TREE 

CANOPY 

☑ NO NO NO ☑ ☑ 

IMPACT ON 

REDWOOD TREES IN 

6-10X 

234 397 363  

 

403  

 

312 312 

IMPACT ON 

REDWOODS IN 6X 

ZONE 

  136 314 268 15 

IMPACT ON OAKS 122 122 122 122 0 45 

KEEP H22 (MULTI-

TRUNK PEAR TREE) 

☑ ☑ ☑ ☑  POSSIBLE 

       

POOL OUTSIDE OF 

CANOPY 

☑ ☑ ☑ ☑  ☑ 

DAYLIGHT PLANE ☑ ☑ ☑ ☑  ☑ 

KEEP WELL ☑ ☑ ☑ ☑  ☑ 

ENTRY NEAR 

GARAGE 

     ☑ 

ADU SAME SIDE AS 

ADU PARKING 

 ☑   ☑ ☑ 

SF OF DRIVEWAY 3,054 3,054 1,160 1,160 1,160 796 

DIST TO ENTRY 

FROM STREET 

73’ 73’ 55’ 55’ 55’ 55’ 

STAIR WITH 

WINDOW 

NO NO ☑ ☑ ☑ ☑ 

CAR BACKUP CEDAR 

TREE IN 

WAY 

OKAY, 

DRIVEWAY 

  CEDAR TREE 

IN WAY 

☑ 

SPORT COURT AT 

EXISTING ADU 

STRUCTURE 

     ☑ 

LAWN OUTSIDE OF 

TREE CANOPY 

     ☑ 

VEGETABLE GARDEN      ☑ 

FRUIT TREE 

GARDEN/DINING 

     ☑ 

 

E9



Tree Inventory and Protection Report 
For  

Benjamin Residence 
777 Hermosa Way in Menlo Park, CA 94025  

Submitted by 
Ned Patchett 
Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
Date: March 22, 2022 
Revised: August 15, 2024  

Ned Patchett Consulting 
PO Box 1354 in San Carlos, CA. 

Office 650 728-8308 
ned@nedpatchettconsulting.com 
www.nedpatchettconsulting.com 

ã 2024 Ned Patchett Consulting, Inc. 
All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval 
system, or transmitted in any form or by any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopy, 
recording or otherwise) without written permission from Ned Patchett Consulting, Inc. 

ATTACHMENT F

F1



 

Table of Contents 

Summary ............................................................................................................................. 1	
Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 2	

Assignment ................................................................................................................................. 2	
Limits of Assignment ................................................................................................................. 2	

Tree Assessment Methods .................................................................................................. 2	
Health and Structure Rating System ................................................................................. 3	
Menlo Park-Heritage Tree Definition ............................................................................... 4	
Suitability for Preservation ................................................................................................ 4	
Observations ........................................................................................................................ 4	

Site Description ...................................................................................................................................... 4	
Tree 1-Douglas Fir ................................................................................................................................. 5	
Tree 15-Coast Live Oak ......................................................................................................................... 5	
Subject Trees .......................................................................................................................................... 6	

Conclusion .......................................................................................................................... 6	
Tree Protection Recommendations .................................................................................... 7	

Protective Tree Fencing for Heritage Trees or Street Trees ................................................................... 7	
Tree Protection Zones ............................................................................................................... 7	

Activities prohibited within the TPZ include ......................................................................................... 7	
Special Activities within the Tree Protection Zone ................................................................................ 7	

Tree Pruning Recommendations .............................................................................................. 8	
Mulching Recommendations .................................................................................................... 8	
Continued Maintenance of Heritage Trees During and After Construction 
Recommendations ...................................................................................................................... 8	

Glossary of Terms ............................................................................................................... 9	
Bibliography ...................................................................................................................... 10	

Appendix A – Tree Inventory ................................................................................................. 11	
Appendix B – Tree Inventory Map ........................................................................................ 15	
Appendix C – Tree Appraisal Calculations ........................................................................... 16	
Appendix D – Photographs ..................................................................................................... 17	
Appendix E – Arborist Disclosure Statement ....................................................................... 18	
Appendix F – Certification of Performance .......................................................................... 19	
Appendix G-Term and Conditions ........................................................................................ 20	

F2



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
8/15/24                                                                                               Page 1 

 

Summary 
Beth Benjamin retained my services to assess Heritage trees at 777 Hermosa Way in 
Menlo Park, CA 94025.  The purpose of my examination was to identify which trees are 
considered Heritage Trees as defined in the Menlo Park Tree Ordinance, to assess the 
health and condition of the Heritage Trees, determine their potential for preservation 
during the proposed construction, and provide an appraised value for each Heritage Tree 
and to provide recommendations to reduce the impacts of the proposed construction to a 
less than significant level. 
 
A total of (24) trees are included in this report, and (17) of these trees are considered 
Heritage trees. I have determined the appropriate Tree Protection Zone for each tree using 
the city formula of 10 inches of TPZ per inch diameter of trunk measured at 54 inches 
above grade to assist the design team in the site's development. 
 
I have provided basic tree protection recommendations to reduce the potential for 
construction impacts to a less-than-significant level. I have also provided an appraised 
value for the (17) Heritage Trees included in this report. Any tree on-site protected by the 
City’s Municipal Code will require replacement according to its appraised value if it is 
damaged beyond repair due to construction.  
 
Tree 1 is the large Douglas fir in the front of the house showing signs of decline with a 
thinning upper canopy and several large dead branches throughout the entire canopy. It is 
my opinion that this tree is in decline, and will likely die in the near future, and retention 
of this tree would constrain the development of the front of the property due to the size of 
the tree protection zone. Therefore, it is my opinion that the removal of this tree now 
should be considered as I believe the tree's decline is inevitable. 
 
Tree 15 is a Coast Live Oak tree in the backyard that is in decline, with dead branches in 
the upper canopy and evidence of damage on the trunk from sycamore beetle infestation. 
In addition, this tree has developed a lean as a result of growing in the understory of the 
larger nearby Coast Live Oak and is competing with the larger oak. Therefore, I 
recommend the removal of this tree. 
 
This report will require further refinement and assessment of any proposed construction 
plans before submission to the city for a building permit. 
 
Please note- I could not perform a typical assessment of the neighbor’s trees due to the 
fact that they are located on the neighbor’s property. My limited review was made from 
looking over the property line fence; therefore, the included assessment and appraised 
value may not be accurate.  
 
Additionally, Trees 23 and 24 were not included in the original report as they were not 
shown on the survey map that was provided. These two trees had to be drawn in making 
their location estimations. 

 

F3



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 2 

 

Introduction 
Assignment 
Benjamin Residence retained my services to perform the following tasks: 
 
1. Assess tree health, condition, and potential impacts for any Heritage Trees that are 

located within the zone of the proposed construction at 777 Hermosa Way in Menlo 
Park, CA. 

2. Identify which trees are considered to be Heritage Trees as defined in the Menlo Park 
Tree Ordinance. 

3. Provide an appraised value for each Heritage Tree. 
4. Provide construction guidelines to be followed throughout all phases of a construction 

project. 
5. Document this information in a written report. 

Limits of Assignment 
I did not perform an aerial inspection of the upper crown or a detailed root crown 
inspection on the subject trees. My assessment of the neighbor’s trees was performed by 
looking at the trees over the property line fence.

 

Tree Assessment Methods 
On February 4, 2022, I visited the site to collect information for this report. This report 
was revised on August 15, 2024. The conditions of these trees are based on my initial 
inspection date. A Level 1 Visual Tree Assessment (VTA) was performed on the subject 
trees. The tree numbers in this report correspond to the tree numbers on the included Tree 
Map (see Tree Map in Appendix C). The following outlines the procedure for collecting 
information for this report: 
 
1. Identify tree species 
2. Measure the diameter of the trunk at 54 inches above grade Diameter at Standard 

Height (DSH) 
3. Identify if the tree is a Heritage Tree, as defined in the Menlo Park Tree Ordinance: 
4. Assess the health and condition of each tree 
5. Assess the structural stability of each tree 
6. Inspect the trees for pests or diseases. 

 
  

F4



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 3 

 

Health and Structure Rating System 
The following table provides an overview of the rating system used when visually 
assessing the health and structure of the subject trees within this report. 
 

Rating Health Structure 
1=Poor Dead, diseased or dying Hazardous 
2=Poor to Fair Declining with significant signs of 

dieback 
Structural weakness or flaws 
that could lead to failure 

3=Fair Minor dead branches, early stages of 
decline 

Corrective measures such as 
pruning or structural support 
systems may be needed 

4=Fair to Good Tree is in good health No major structural issues 
5=Good Excellent health No structural issues 

  

F5



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 4 

 

Menlo Park-Heritage Tree Definition 
The following is the definition of a Heritage Tree in Menlo Park as defined in the Menlo 
Park Tree Ordinance: 

Definition of a heritage tree 

1. Any tree other than oaks has a trunk with a circumference of 47.1 inches 
(diameter of 15 inches) or more, measured at 54 inches above natural grade 

2. Any oak tree native to California has a trunk with a circumference of 31.4 inches 
(diameter of 10 inches) or more measured at 54 inches above natural grade 

3. A tree or group of trees specifically designated by the City Council for protection 
because of its historical significance, special character or community benefit. 

Any tree with more than one trunk that falls under (1) and (2) shall be measured at the 
diameter below the main union of all multi-trunk trees. If the tree has more than one 
trunk and the union is below grade, each stem shall be measured as a standalone tree. 
Multi-trunk trees under 12 feet in height shall not be considered a heritage tree. 

 

Suitability for Preservation 
The goal of tree preservation is for the existing trees to remain assets to the site for years 
to come.  Trees that are in poor condition and cannot tolerate construction impacts will 
become a liability and therefore should be removed.  An assessment of a tree’s suitability 
for preservation includes the following: 

1. Tree Health-A healthy tree can tolerate construction impacts better than a tree in 
poor health and is more likely to adapt to new site conditions after development.  

2. Tree Structure-Trees with structural defects such as decayed wood, weak branch 
attachments, and codominant stems are a liability and, therefore, should be 
removed. 

3. Tree Age-Mature and over-mature trees are less able to tolerate construction 
impacts, while younger trees have more tolerance for construction impacts. 

4. Species Tolerance-All trees require protection to avoid injury. However, certain 
tree species can tolerate construction impacts better than others. 

 

Observations 
Site Description 
The site is located at 777 Hermosa Way in Menlo Park, CA 94025.  A single-family 
residential home is currently located on the site. The proposed construction consists of 
TBD and associated civil and landscape improvements (see Tree Maps in Appendix B). 

F6



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 5 

 

Tree 1-Douglas Fir 
The tree is a Douglas fir tree Pseudotsuga menziesii with a diameter at the standard 
height of 50 inches. The tree is poor to fair health and fair structural condition. The 
following outlines my observations and recommendations. 
 

1. The upper canopy shows signs of decline with a thinning upper canopy and 
numerous large dead branches throughout the entire canopy (see Photo 1 in 
Appendix D). 

 
2. A root crown inspection was performed in February of 2022, and no significant 

root crown disorders were observed at the time of our inspection. However, the 
decline in the upper canopy leads me to suspect root fungus may be a contributing 
factor to the decline in the upper canopy but has not reached a level around the 
root lower trunk and buttress roots that it can be detected from my limited 
inspection. 

 
It is my opinion that this tree is in decline and will likely die soon, and retention of this 
tree would constrain the development of the front of the property due to the size of the 
tree protection zone. Therefore, it is my opinion that the removal of this tree now should 
be considered as I believe the tree's decline is inevitable. 

Tree 15-Coast Live Oak 
The tree is a Coast Live Oak Quercus agrifolia with a diameter at the standard height of 
20 inches. The tree is poor to fair health and poor to fair structural condition. The 
following outlines my observations and recommendations. 
 

1. The upper canopy shows signs of decline with a thinning upper canopy and dead 
branches. 
 

2. This tree has developed a lean as a result of being suppressed and growing in the 
understory of the large nearby oak tree. 

 
3. This tree was poorly pruned in the past.  

 
4. I observed a codominant branch attachment with included bark between the main 

stems.  
 

5. There is evidence of extensive Sycamore Borer Synanthedon resplendens on the 
lower trunk and root crown. 

 
It is my opinion that this tree is in decline, has structural issues that increase the potential 
of failure, and is competing with the large coast live oak that dominates the backyard; 
therefore, I recommend the removal of this tree. 
 
 

F7



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 6 

 

Subject Trees 
I have prepared a tree inventory with all the necessary information required by the city of 
Menlo Park (see Tree Inventory in Appendix A). 

 

Conclusion 
Protection of Heritage Trees during construction is a mandatory part of the construction 
process in Menlo Park. Arborist inspections can be a required part of the construction 
process per the Menlo Park Tree Ordinance. 
 
In addition, proposed construction within Tree Protection Zones requires the direct onsite 
supervision of a Project Arborist and can include specialized construction designs and 
methods to reduce tree impacts. 
 
Tree Protection Fencing must be erected around these trees before any construction 
activities on the site.  I have provided recommendations to protect all Heritage Trees 
during the proposed construction process. 

 
  

F8



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 7 

 

Tree Protection Recommendations 
 

Protective Tree Fencing for Heritage Trees or Street Trees 
Fenced enclosures shall be erected around trees to be protected to establish the TPZ in 
which no soil disturbance is permitted, and activities are restricted.  
 
Size and type of fence 
All trees to be preserved shall be protected with a 6-foot high, minimum 12-gauge chain 
link fence. Fences are to be mounted on 2-inch diameter galvanized iron posts, driven 
into the ground to a depth of at least 2-feet at no more than 10-foot spacing. This detail 
shall appear on grading, demolition, and building permit plans. 
 
Duration 
Tree fencing shall be erected before any demolition, grading, or construction begins and 
remain in place until the completion of the project. 

Tree Protection Zones 
Each Heritage Tree to be protected, including those on neighboring properties, shall have 
a designated TPZ identifying the area sufficiently large enough to protect the tree and 
roots from disturbance. The TPZ area can be determined by the formula: 10 inches 
per inch of diameter. For example a 20” diameter tree shall have a 16’ radius from the 
perimeter of the trunk or a 16-foot TPZ.  
 
I have calculated the optimal TPZ for each that will be retained.  This information can be 
found in the Tree Inventory (See Tree Inventory in Appendix A). 

Activities prohibited within the TPZ include 
1. Storage or parking vehicles, building materials, refuse, excavated spoils or dumping of 
poisonous materials, including but not limited to, paint, petroleum products, concrete, 
stucco mix or dirty water. 
 
2. The use of tree trunks as a winch support, anchorage, as a temporary power pole, 
signposts or other similar function. 
 
3. Cutting of tree roots by utility trenching, foundation digging, placement of curbs and 
trenches and other miscellaneous excavation. 
 
4. Soil Disturbance, Soil Compaction or grade changes. 
 
5. Drainage changes. 

Special Activities within the Tree Protection Zone 
Work in this area (TPZ) requires the direct onsite supervision of the Project Arborist. 

F9



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 8 

 

Tree Pruning Recommendations  
A crown cleaning is removal of all dead branches 2 inches in diameter and larger, 
removal of all broken branches, and selective limb removal or end weight reduction to 
reduce the chances of limb failure. 
 
I have indicated which trees require a crown cleaning within the Tree Inventory. 

Mulching Recommendations 
I recommended that wood chips be spread within the TPZ to a 3-to 5-inch depth, leaving 
the trunk clear of mulch. 

Continued Maintenance of Heritage Trees During and After 
Construction Recommendations 
I recommend the following for continued maintenance after the competition of the 
construction process. 
 

1. Monthly arborist inspections for the duration of the construction activities. 
2. Quarterly arborist inspections for the first year after the completion of the 

construction project. 
 
 
  

F10



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 9 

 

Glossary of Terms 
 

Aerial inspection An inspection of the upper crown of the tree that requires 
climbing. 

  
Crown  Parts of the tree above the trunk, including leaves, branches and 

scaffold limbs.  (Matheny and Clark, 1994) 
  
Diameter at standard 
height (DSH) 
 
Windthrow 

The diameter of a tree’s trunk as measured at 4.5 feet from the 
ground.  (Matheny and Clark, 1994) 
 
Tree Failure due to uprooting caused by wind.  (Glossary of 
Arboriculture Terms, 2007) 

  
Root crown Area where the main roots join the plant stem, usually at or near 

ground level. Root Collar.  (Glossary of Arboriculture Terms, 
2007) 

  
Root crown inspection Process of removing soil to expose and assess the root crown of a 

tree.  (Glossary of Arboriculture Terms, 2007) 
  
Visual Tree 
Assessment (VTA)  

A method of visual assessing the condition of a tree that does not 
include a root crown inspection or an aerial inspection. 

 
 

 

F11



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 10 

 

Bibliography 
 
Matheny, N.P. and J.R. Clark. A Photographic Guide to the Evaluation of Hazard Trees 
in Urban Areas (2nd Edition). Pleasanton, CA. HortScience Inc., 1994. 
 
Matheny, N.P. and J.R. Clark. Trees and Development A Technical Guide to Preservation 
of Trees During Land Development. Champaign, IL. International Society of 
Arboriculture, 1998 
 
Harris, R. Arboriculture Integrated Management of Landscape Trees, Shrubs, and Vines. 
Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1992 
 
International Society of Arboriculture. Glossary of Arboriculture Terms. Champaign, IL 
Dixon Graphics, 2007 
 
 
 
 

 
  

F12



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 11 

 

Appendix A – Tree Inventory 
Tree 

# Species Botanical 
Name 

DSH 
(inches) 

Heritage 
Tree 

Health 
Rating 

Structural 
Condition Observation Recommendations 

10 X Tree 
Protection 

Zone 

1 Douglas 
Fir 

Pseudotsuga 
menziesii 50 Yes 2 3 

Tree is showing signs of 
stress and decline with 
dead branches in the 
upper canopy. The main 
leader looks thin and 
sparse. No significant root 
crown disorders we 
discovered during a root 
crown inspection. 

Consider removal. If 
this tree is retained, I 

recommend a crown 
cleaning, testing of 

branches in the upper 
canopy and 

fertilization in spring of 
2022. 

42 

2 Coastal 
Redwood 

Sequoia 
sempervirens 7.5 No 3 2 

This tree has been topped 
in the past due to nearby 
high voltage lines. There 

are dead branches in the 
upper canopy. 

Consider removal. If 
this tree is retained, I 

recommend a crown 
cleaning, fertilization in 

spring of 2022 and 
supplemental irrigation 

during spring and 
summer months. 

6 

3 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 11.5 Yes 3 3 

This tree has been topped 
in the past due to nearby 
high voltage lines. There 

are dead branches in the 
upper canopy. There is a 
nearby irrigation line that 
is close to the root crown. 

I recommend a crown 
cleaning, fertilization in 

spring of 2022 and 
modify surrounding 

irrigation so there is not 
broadcast irrigation 
hitting the trunk or 

moisture within 2-3 feet 
of the trunk. 

10 

4 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 17 Yes 2 3 

Slight lean to the upper 
canopy due to being 

suppressed by 
neighboring trees. 

Included bark between 
branch attachment at 

approximately 5 feet from 
the ground, this condition 
increase failure potential. 
There are dead branches 

in the upper canopy. 
There is a nearby irrigation 

line that is close to the 
root crown. 

I recommend a crown 
cleaning, fertilization in 

spring of 2022 and 
modify surrounding 

irrigation so there is not 
broadcast irrigation 
hitting the trunk or 

moisture within 2-3 feet 
of the trunk. 

14 

5 Coastal 
Redwood 

Sequoia 
sempervirens 39 Yes 4 4 

Minor dead branches in 
the upper canopy. This 

tree has a health flush of 
spring growth. This tree 

has minor yellowing of the 
internal foliage which is 

common this time of year 
for a tree of this species.  

Crown Cleaning and 
Fertilization. 32 

6 Coastal 
Redwood 

Sequoia 
sempervirens 27.5 Yes 4 4 

Upper canopy is slightly 
one sided due to 

neighboring trees. Minor 
dead branches in the 

upper canopy. This tree 
has a health flush of 

spring growth. This tree 
has minor yellowing of the 

internal foliage which is 
common this time of year 
for a tree of this species 

Crown Cleaning and 
Fertilization. 23 

F13



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 12 

 

Tree 
# Species Botanical 

Name 
DSH 

(inches) 
Heritage 

Tree 
Health 
Rating 

Structural 
Condition Observation Recommendations 

10 X Tree 
Protection 

Zone 

7 Coastal 
Redwood 

Sequoia 
sempervirens 32.5 Yes 4 3 

This tree has minor dead 
branches in the upper 
canopy. This tree has a 

health flush of spring 
growth. This tree has 

minor yellowing of the 
internal foliage which is 

common this time of year 
for a tree of this species. 

This tree appears to have 
a girdling root present. 

Crown Cleaning and 
Fertilization. 27 

8 Coastal 
Redwood 

Sequoia 
sempervirens 60 Yes 4 3 

Minor dead branches in 
the upper canopy. This 

tree has a health flush of 
spring growth. This tree 

has minor yellowing of the 
internal foliage which is 

common this time of year 
for a tree of this species 

Crown Cleaning and 
Fertilization. 50 

9 Plum Prunus 4.5-3.5 No 3 3 
Poorly pruned in the past. 

Poor branch 
attachments. 

I recommend a crown 
cleaning and 

fertilization in spring of 
2022. 

5 

10 Coastal 
Redwood 

Sequoia 
sempervirens 51 Yes 4 4 

Minor dead branches in 
the upper canopy. This 

tree has a health flush of 
spring growth. This tree 

has minor yellowing of the 
internal foliage which is 

common this time of year 
for a tree of this species 

Crown Cleaning and 
Fertilization. 42 

11 Incense 
cedar 

Calocedrus 
decurrens 18 Yes 3 3 

Dead branches in the 
upper canopy. Slight lean 
due to being suppressed 
by nearby redwood tree. 

I recommend a root 
crown inspection, 

crown cleaning and 
fertilization in spring of 

2022. 

15 

12 Olive Olea 
europaea 11 No 3 3 

Dead branches in the 
upper canopy and poor 

branch attachments. 

I recommend a root 
crown inspection, 

crown cleaning and 
fertilization in spring of 

2022. 

9 

13 Olive Olea 
europaea 7-6.5 No 3 3 

May have been topped 
in the past. Dead 

branches in the upper 
canopy. Branches are 

resting on roof of nearby 
neighbor's structure. 

Consider removal. If 
this tree is retained, I 

recommend a crown 
cleaning, fertilization in 

spring of 2022. 

9 

14 Purple 
Plum 

Prunus 
cerasifera 7 No 3 3 

Minor dead branches in 
the upper canopy.  

Included bark between 
branch attachment at 

approximately 5 feet from 
the ground, this condition 
increase failure potential. 

I recommend a root 
crown inspection, 

crown cleaning and 
fertilization in spring of 

2022. 

6 

F14



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 13 

 

Tree 
# Species Botanical 

Name 
DSH 

(inches) 
Heritage 

Tree 
Health 
Rating 

Structural 
Condition Observation Recommendations 

10 X Tree 
Protection 

Zone 

15 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 20 Yes 2 2 

This tree has developed a 
lean as a result of being 
suppressed by nearby 

trees. Dead branches in 
the upper canopy. Poorly 

pruned in the past. 
Codominant branch 

attachment with included 
bark. Evidence of insect 

activity on the lower trunk 
and root crown. 

Consider removal. If 
this tree is retained, I 
recommend a root 
crown inspection, 

crown cleaning and 
fertilization in spring of 
2022 and treatment of 
insect activity on lower 
trunk and root crown. 

17 

16 Elm 
Ulmus 

(species 
unknown) 

25 Yes 2 2 

This tree is located on the 
neighbor’s property and 

therefore I have 
estimated the diameter. 
This tree has been poorly 
pruned in the past. Dead 

branches in the upper 
canopy. Poor branch 

attachments in the upper 
canopy. 

Inspection by 
neighbor’s arborist. 21 

17 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 27 Yes 2 2 

Structure consists of 3 
codominant branch 

attachment with included 
bark. This condition 

increases the potential of 
failure at this location. This 

tree has developed a 
substantial lean as a result 

of being suppressed by 
nearby trees. Dead 

branches in the upper 
canopy. Topped and 

poorly pruned in the past. 
Structure consists of 3 
codominant branch 

attachment with included 
bark. Evidence of insect 

activity on the lower trunk 
and root crown. 

Consider removal. If 
this tree is retained, I 
recommend a root 
crown inspection, 

crown cleaning and 
fertilization in spring of 
2022 and treatment of 
insect activity on lower 
trunk and root crown. 

23 

18 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 46.5 Yes 3 2 

Codominant branch 
attachment with included 

bark. This condition 
increases the potential of 

failure at this location. 
Recently pruned and 

over-thinned. Canopy is 
thin and shows signs of 

stress. 

I recommend a root 
crown inspection and 
fertilization in spring of 

2022. 

39 

19 Japanese 
maple 

Acer 
palmatum 5-3 No 3 3 

Main branch attachment 
has included bark. This 
condition increases the 

potential of failure at this 
location. Minor dead 

branches in upper 
canopy. 

I recommend a crown 
cleaning and 

fertilization in spring of 
2022. 

5 

20 Apple 
Tree 

Malus 
(species 

unknown) 
5.5 No 3 3 

Dead branches and in 
the upper canopy. Poor 

branch attachments. 

I recommend a crown 
cleaning and 

fertilization in spring of 
2022. 

5 

F15



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 14 

 

Tree 
# Species Botanical 

Name 
DSH 

(inches) 
Heritage 

Tree 
Health 
Rating 

Structural 
Condition Observation Recommendations 

10 X Tree 
Protection 

Zone 

21 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 10.5 Yes 3 3 

Dead branches in the 
upper canopy. Topped in 
the past for clearance for 

nearby utility lines. 
Evidence of insect activity 

on the lower trunk and 
root crown. 

Consider removal. If 
this tree is retained, I 
recommend a root 
crown inspection, 

crown cleaning and 
fertilization in spring of 
2022 and treatment of 
insect activity on lower 
trunk and root crown. 

9 

22 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 10.5-5 Yes 3 3 

Codominant branch 
attachment with included 

bark. Dead branches in 
the upper canopy. 

Topped in the past for 
clearance for nearby 

utility lines.  Evidence of 
insect activity on the 
lower trunk and root 

crown. 

Consider removal. If 
this tree is retained, I 
recommend a root 
crown inspection, 

crown cleaning and 
fertilization in spring of 
2022 and treatment of 
insect activity on lower 
trunk and root crown. 

11 

          

23 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 10 Yes 4 4 

There are minor dead 
branches in the upper 
canopy. This tree has a 
healthy flush of spring 
growth. The tree has 

embedded itself into the 
nearby fence. The base 
of this tree is covered in 

ivy. This tree is slightly one-
sided. 

I recommend a root 
crown inspection and 

fertilization. 
8 

24 Coast 
Live Oak 

Quercus 
agrifolia 18 Yes 4 3 

There are minor dead 
branches in the upper 
canopy of this tree. This 

tree has a substantial lean 
to the entirety of trunk. A 

majority of the upper 
canopy of this tree resides 

on the neighboring 
property. This tree has a 
healthy flush of spring 

growth. The base of this 
tree is covered in ivy. 

I recommend a root 
crown inspection and 

fertilization. 
15 

 
  

F16



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 15 

 

Appendix B – Tree Inventory Map 

 

F17



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 16 

 

Appendix C – Tree Appraisal Calculations 

 
 

Tr
ee

 #
Sp

ec
ie

s
Di

am
et

er
C

ro
ss

 S
ec

tio
na

l 
A

re
a 

of
 S

ub
je

ct
 

Tr
ee

C
on

di
tio

n
Fu

nc
tio

na
l 

Lim
ita

tio
ns

Ex
te

rn
al

 
Lim

ita
tio

ns
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t 
Tr

ee
 D

ia
m

et
er

C
ro

ss
 S

ec
tio

na
l 

A
re

a 
of

 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t 
Tr

ee

Re
pa

lc
em

en
t 

Tr
ee

 C
os

t (
36

 
in

ch
 b

ox
)

Un
it 

Tr
ee

 
C

os
t

Ba
sic

 
Re

pr
od

uc
tio

n 
C

os
t

De
pr

ec
ia

te
d 

Re
pr

od
uc

tio
n 

C
os

t

C
le

an
up

-T
re

e 
Re

m
ov

al
 a

nd
 

St
um

p 
Re

m
ov

al

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t T

re
e 

In
st

al
la

tio
n 

C
os

t

A
fte

rc
ar

e-
1 

ye
ar

 o
f P

HC
 

an
d 

Fe
rti

liz
at

io
n 

(4
) V

isi
ts

To
ta

l 
A

dd
iti

on
al

 
C

os
t

To
ta

l 
Re

pr
od

uc
tio

n 
C

os
t

Fi
na

l A
pp

ra
ise

 
Va

lu
e 

(R
ou

nd
ed

)

1
Ps

eu
do

ts
ug

a 
m

en
zie

sii
50

19
64

50
%

60
%

80
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$1
80
,5
55
.5
6

$4
3,
33
3.
33

$1
0,
00
0.
00

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$1
1,
65
0.
00

$5
4,
98
3.
33

$5
5,
00
0.
00

3
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
11

.5
10
4

60
%

60
%

80
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$9
,5
51
.3
9

$2
,7
50
.8
0

$1
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$3
,1
50
.0
0

$5
,9
00
.8
0

$5
,9
00
.0
0

4
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
17

22
7

55
%

60
%

80
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$2
0,
87
2.
22

$5
,5
10
.2
7

$1
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$3
,1
50
.0
0

$8
,6
60
.2
7

$8
,7
00
.0
0

5
Se

qu
oi

a 
se

m
pe

rv
ire

ns
39

11
95

65
%

60
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$1
09
,8
50
.0
0

$3
6,
41
5.
28

$5
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$6
,6
50
.0
0

$4
3,
06
5.
28

$4
3,
10
0.
00

6
Se

qu
oi

a 
se

m
pe

rv
ire

ns
27

.5
59
4

65
%

60
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$5
4,
61
8.
06

$1
8,
10
5.
89

$4
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$6
,1
50
.0
0

$2
4,
25
5.
89

$2
4,
30
0.
00

7
Se

qu
oi

a 
se

m
pe

rv
ire

ns
32

.5
83
0

65
%

60
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$7
6,
28
4.
72

$2
5,
28
8.
39

$5
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$6
,6
50
.0
0

$3
1,
93
8.
39

$3
1,
90
0.
00

8
Se

qu
oi

a 
se

m
pe

rv
ire

ns
60

28
27

60
%

60
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$2
60
,0
00
.0
0

$7
9,
56
0.
00

$8
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$9
,6
50
.0
0

$8
9,
21
0.
00

$8
9,
20
0.
00

10
Se

qu
oi

a 
se

m
pe

rv
ire

ns
51

20
43

70
%

60
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$1
87
,8
50
.0
0

$6
7,
06
2.
45

$6
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$7
,6
50
.0
0

$7
4,
71
2.
45

$7
4,
70
0.
00

11
C

al
oc

ed
ru

s 
de

cu
rre

ns
18

25
4

60
%

60
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$2
3,
40
0.
00

$7
,1
60
.4
0

$4
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$5
,6
50
.0
0

$1
2,
81
0.
40

$1
2,
80
0.
00

15
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
20

31
4

60
%

75
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
50
.0
0

$9
1.
96

$2
8,
88
8.
89

$1
1,
05
0.
00

$3
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$5
,1
50
.0
0

$1
6,
20
0.
00

$1
6,
20
0.
00

16
Ul

m
us

 (s
pe

ci
es

 
un

kn
ow

n)
25

49
1

50
%

70
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
51
.0
0

$9
2.
10

$4
5,
20
8.
33

$1
3,
44
9.
48

$6
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$7
,6
50
.0
0

$2
1,
09
9.
48

$2
1,
10
0.
00

17
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
27

57
3

40
%

85
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
52
.0
0

$9
2.
24

$5
2,
81
2.
00

$1
5,
26
2.
67

$4
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$5
,6
50
.0
0

$2
0,
91
2.
67

$2
0,
90
0.
00

18
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
46

.5
16
98

55
%

85
%

85
%

3.
0

7
$6
53
.0
0

$9
2.
38

$1
56
,8
83
.2
5

$6
2,
34
1.
48

$8
,0
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$9
,6
50
.0
0

$7
1,
99
1.
48

$7
2,
00
0.
00

21
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
10

.5
87

60
%

60
%

80
%

3.
0

7
$6
54
.0
0

$9
2.
52

$8
,0
11
.5
0

$2
,3
07
.3
1

$1
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$3
,1
50
.0
0

$5
,4
57
.3
1

$5
,5
00
.0
0

22
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
10

.5
-5

13
3

60
%

60
%

80
%

3.
0

7
$6
55
.0
0

$9
2.
66

$1
2,
29
9.
44

$3
,5
42
.2
4

$1
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$3
,1
50
.0
0

$6
,6
92
.2
4

$6
,7
00
.0
0

23
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
10

79
80
%

60
%

80
%

3.
0

7
$6
56
.0
0

$9
2.
80

$7
,2
88
.8
9

$2
,7
98
.9
3

$1
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$3
,1
50
.0
0

$5
,9
48
.9
3

$5
,9
00
.0
0

24
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
18

25
4

70
%

60
%

80
%

3.
0

7
$6
57
.0
0

$9
2.
95

$2
3,
65
2.
00

$7
,9
47
.0
7

$1
,5
00
.0
0

$8
50
.0
0

$8
00
.0
0

$3
,1
50
.0
0

$1
1,
09
7.
07

$1
1,
10
0.
00

To
ta
l

$5
05
,0
00
.0
0

F18



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 17 

 

Appendix D – Photographs 
 

Photo 1 

 
 
 
  

Photo 1 shows the 
thinning and 
dieback off 

branches that is 
occurring in the 

canopy of Tree 1. 

F19



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 18 

 

Appendix E – Arborist Disclosure Statement 
 
Arborists are tree specialists who use their education, knowledge, training, and 
experience to examine trees.  They recommend measures to enhance the beauty and 
health of trees and attempt to reduce the risk of living near trees.  Clients may choose to 
accept or disregard the recommendations of the arborist or to seek additional advice. 
 
Arborists cannot detect every condition that could possibly lead to the structural failure of 
a tree. Trees are living organisms that fail in ways we do not fully understand.  
Conditions are often hidden within trees and below the ground.  Arborists cannot 
guarantee that a tree will be healthy or safe under all circumstances or for a specified 
period of time.  Likewise, remedial treatments like any medicine cannot be guaranteed. 
 
Treatment, pruning, and removal of trees may involve considerations beyond the scope of 
the arborist’s services such as property boundaries, property ownership, site lines, 
disputes between neighbors, and other issues.  Arborists cannot take such considerations 
into account unless complete and accurate information is disclosed to the arborist.  An 
arborist should then be expected to reasonably rely upon the completeness and accuracy 
of the information provided. 
 
Trees can be managed, but they cannot be controlled.  To live near trees is to accept some 
degree of risk.  The only way to eliminate all risk associated with trees is to eliminate all 
trees. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Ned Patchett 
Certified Arborist WE-4597A 

 

F20



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 19 

 

Appendix F – Certification of Performance 
 
I, Ned Patchett, certify; 
 

• That I have personally inspected the tree and the property referred to in this 
report.  I have stated my findings accurately.  The extent of the evaluation and 
appraisal is stated in the attached report and the Terms of Assignment; 

• That I have no current or prospective interest in the vegetation or the property that 
is the subject of this report and have no personal interest or bias with the parties 
involved; 

• That the analysis, opinions and conclusions within this report are my own; 
• That my analysis, opinions and conclusions were developed and this report has 

been prepared accordingly to commonly accepted arboricultural practices; 
• That no one provided significant professional assistance to the consultant, except 

as indicated within the report; 
• That my compensation is not contingent upon the reporting of a predetermined 

conclusion that favors the cause of the client or any other party. 
 
I further certify that I am an International Society of Arboriculture Certified Arborist, and 
have been involved in the practice of arboriculture and the study of trees for over 27 
years. 
 
 
Signed: ____________________________ 
 
 
Date:  _____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F21

Colin Patchett
8.15.24



 

 
Tree Report for Benjamin Residence 

Ned Patchett Certified Arborist WE-4597A 
08/15/24                                                                                        Page 20 

 

Appendix G-Term and Conditions 
The following terms and conditions apply to all oral and written reports and correspondence pertaining to 
the consultations, inspections and activities of Ned Patchett Consulting, Inc. hereinafter referred to as 
“Consultant”. 
 
1. Any legal description provided to the Consultant is assumed to be correct. No responsibility is 
assumed for matters legal in character nor is any opinion rendered as to the quality of any title. 
 
2. It is assumed that any property referred to in any report or in conjunction with any services 
performed by the Consultant, is not in violation of any applicable codes, ordinances, statutes, or other 
governmental regulations, and that any titles and ownership to any property are assumed to be good 
and marketable. Any existing liens and encumbrances have been disregarded. 
 
3. Possession of this report or a copy thereof does not imply any right of publication or use for 
any purpose, without the express permission of the Consultant and the Client to whom the report was 
issued. Loss, removal or alteration of any part of a report invalidates the entire appraisal/evaluation. 
 
4. The scope of any report or other correspondence is limited to the trees and conditions 
specifically mentioned in those reports and correspondence. The Consultant assumes no liability for 
the failure of trees or parts of trees, either inspected or otherwise. The Consultant assumes no 
responsibility to report on the condition of any tree or landscape feature not specifically requested by 
the named client. 
 
5. No tree described in this report was climbed, unless otherwise stated. The Consultant cannot 
take responsibility for any defects, which could only have been discovered by climbing. A full root 
crown examination (RCX), consisting of excavating the soil around the tree to uncover the root crown 
and major buttress roots was not performed unless otherwise stated. We cannot take responsibility for 
any root defects, which could only have been discovered by such an inspection. 
 
6. The Consultant shall not be required to provide further documentation, give testimony, be 
deposed, or attend court by reason of this appraisal/report unless subsequent contractual 
arrangements are made, including payment of additional fees for such services as described by the 
consultant or in the fee schedules or contract. 
 
7. The Consultant offers no guarantees or warrantees, either expressed or implied, as to the 
suitability of the information contained in the reports for any purpose. It remains the responsibility of the 
client to determine applicability to his/her particular case. 
 
8. Any report and the values, observations, and recommendations expressed therein represent the 
professional opinion of the Consultant, and the fee for services is in no manner contingent upon the 
reporting of a specified value nor upon any particular finding to be reported. 
 
9. Any photographs, diagrams, graphs, sketches, or other graphic material included in any report, 
being intended solely as visual aids, are not necessarily to scale and should not be construed as engineering 
reports or surveys, unless otherwise noted in the report. Any reproductions of graphs material or the work 
product of any other persons is intended solely for the purpose of clarification and ease of reference. 
Inclusion of said information does not constitute a representation by the Consultant as to the sufficiency or 
accuracy of that information. 
 
10. This report has twenty (20) pages and shall be considered a whole, no sections are severable, and the 
report shall be considered incomplete if any pages are missing. The original report has color illustrations. If 
the reader has a black and white copy the report shall be considered incomplete, and any interpretation of 
the report may be incorrect in the absence of a full color copy. Ned Patchett Consulting, Inc. accepts no 
responsibility for any such misinterpretations. 
 

F22



1 

To: Connor Hochleutner 
From:  Beth Benjamin and John Durrett 
Re:  Use permit/Kathleen Liston/801 Hermosa Way 
Date:  Aug. 23, 2024 

Dear Mr. Hochleutner, 

We are writing to submit comments on the application for a use permit at 801 Hermosa 
Way.  We live at 777 Hermosa Way, the property immediately to the southeast. 

We have four related concerns that we would like the City to take into consideration when 
evaluating the proposed development. 

1) First and foremost is the protection of six heritage trees along the eastern border of
the property.  There are four very large coastal redwood trees and two coast live oaks
running along the property line—we believe all of these trees are on our property and we
have maintained them at considerable expense for the past 15 years.  In addition, there
is a very, very large redwood tree at the rear of our property that is not currently
reflected on the plans submitted by the applicant.  The tree protection zone (TPZ) for
this tree also extends into the building envelope proposed for the ADU.

The tree diameter estimates for the heritage trees along the border have only been
approximated in the plans submitted by the applicant.  Because of the significant
liability that these trees would present to all the surrounding homes (to the south, west,
and east) if they were to be damaged, we are submitting an independent arborist report
with the correct measurements of each tree’s diameter and optimal tree protection
zones (TPZ).  This report was completed initially in 2022 and updated on Aug. 15, 2024
by Ned Padgett, a certified arborist approved by the City of Menlo Park, using commonly
accepted arboricultural standards. It uses Menlo Park’s preferred 10X TPZ calculations
and many of the calculations di]er from the estimates submitted by the applicant’s
arborist. In addition, the estimated values of the trees along the border di]er
substantially, with the estimates provided by our arborist in 2022 exceeding those
provided in the applicant’s report.  We ask that you use Aug. 15 report conducted onsite
by our arborist as a more accurate record when reviewing the development plans.

Because these trees are large and mature, damage to their root structure would
create a significant risk to the neighboring homes to the south, east, and west of
the proposed construction.  Given the damage that could result from harming these
trees, we ask the city to consider whether there are modifications that can be made to
reduce the overall impact of the site plan on the trees along this border.  According to
our arborist, cutting/damaging roots on the development site could harm the structural
integrity of any one of these trees and, if they were to fall, they would most likely fall
away from the root damage toward one of the neighboring houses.  Because four of the
five coastal redwoods sit approximately 16 feet from our one-story home, the risk to us
is particularly acute. We want to be very clear about the liability the City will be
assuming if it does not properly follow and enforce the rules it has established for

ATTACHMENT G

G1



 2 

preserving heritage trees and protecting surrounding property from the impact of 
approved construction.  If these trees should be damaged by construction approved by 
the City, in contradiction to the TPZ standards the City has established, we will pursue 
legal action against the City for failing to follow and enforce its stated codes and 
ordinance.  We are submitting this certified arborist report and alerting you to our 
concerns during the planning process, to ensure the proper precautions are taken when 
determining site design, construction plans, civil engineering, landscape plans, and 
oversight of the construction process.  
 
We appreciate the care the architect is taking to consider various options for the site 
plan.  In general, we agree with the decision to move the driveway and garage to the 
center or further away from the trees to minimize impact on the redwood trees.  We 
were advised by the City 12 years ago not to pave our driveway to minimize impact on 
the trees and we have followed the City’s suggestions.  We would encourage this as an 
option for the new residence as well.    
 
We do not oppose removal of the large deodar cedar at the front of the property.  We 
also do not oppose locating the main ADU structure at the southeast corner, as long as 
it is located at a su]icient distance from the heritage coast live oaks to minimize 
damage to the trees.  We do have concerns about the location of the attached outdoor 
kitchen and fireplace, as detailed below:   

 
2) Cumulative impact of two structures (home+ADU), hardscape, and construction on 

tree 8 (large redwood).  While we recognize that some impact will be necessary to 
build a large home on the lot, and the main house will likely have to encroach into some 
of the TPZ for this tree (and others), we are concerned about the total impact of the 
home, the pool, the hardscape, and the proposed covered patio cumulatively on the full 
root structure of this single tree. Because the positioning of the new home will 
inevitably have to encroach into some of the TPZ, we believe e]orts should be made to 
limit the overall impact on this tree by minimizing the impact of other structures on the 
property, such as the ADU.  Specifically, the placement of the paved covered area o] 
the ADU, with a barbeque and fireplace, creates additional impact that is unnecessary 
and could be avoided.  Having an outdoor fireplace this close to a large, mature 
redwood tree also concerns us.  This could be resolved by moving the covered structure 
to the rear of the property, extending from the ADU along the rear border (the owner 
could remove a small multi-stemmed tree near the proposed ADU) or to the rear of the 
main home.   
Please note: Based on conversations with the State of California’s Housing and 
Community Development O]ice (HCD),  we were informed that HCD’s interpretation of 
the ADU regulations is that covered structures attached to ADUs should be included as 
living area and counted within the square footage calculations/FAL. As such, given the 
proposed size of this ADU, the City would have discretionary review. 

 
 

• Impact of PG&E trenching and other civil engineering requirements on trees 
5, 6, 7, 8 (large redwood trees) and 23, 24 (coast live oaks).  We have not yet 
seen the civil engineering plans and would like to request them when available.  

G2



 3 

PG&E has damaged trees throughout the community and is notoriously 
indiscriminate in its concern for the environment and tree care.  If the ADU is to 
be relocated from the existing location to the SE border/corner of the property, 
PG&E trenching must be routed well outside of the TPZ’s for these trees.  Given 
tree 8’s TPZ is 50 feet, the trenching may need to come from the other side of the 
property (and when considering the pool’s placement).  In addition, coast live 
oaks are also quite sensitive to construction impact, so we would urge the 
trenching to stay outside the 15-foot TPZ for tree 24 

• Impact of landscape plans on trees 5, 6, 7, 8, 23, 24.   Similarly, we have not 
seen detailed landscape plans.  As we describe below, we believe removing and 
replacing the existing trees along the border, on the applicant’s property, risks 
additional root damage for these maturing heritage trees. 
 

3. Preserve existing screening along eastern border to maintain privacy.  As we have 
communicated to the applicant, we have a very strong preference for maintaining the 
existing 20-foot screening hedge between the two properties.  The existing screening is 
mature and would take a decade to grow back if removed.  It sits below four mature 
redwood trees, so removing it and excavating to replant new trees or shrubs to replace it 
(e.g., 24” boxes) would create further risk to the root structure of the mature redwoods 
and oaks.  According to our arborist, new trees would have to be positioned around the 
existing root structure of the heritage redwood trees, which would likely mean the new 
trees would not provide consistent screening between the two properties, as the existing 
hedge already does.  We have maintained this hedge for many years because the 
previous owners of the property were not in a position to.  According to our arborist, with 
the proper care, it can continue to thrive and it provides dense screening that would be 
di]icult to replicate.  
 

4. Re-evaluate second story balcony 
If the existing 20-foot hedges and trees to the east and west are maintained, viewing into 
neighboring yards/homes from the proposed balcony may be screened.  However, if the 
development requires removal of trees or hedges along the east and west borders, the 
second story balcony may infringe on the privacy of both neighbors.  Again, we 
encourage the existing screening to be maintained, or we would urge the removal of the 
balcony.  
 
We respectfully raise these concerns during the planning process so that appropriate 
actions can be taken to mitigate these issues before plans are approved.  
 
Thank you. 
 

G3



1

Hochleutner, Connor D

From: Martha Bacon <mhabacon@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, November 13, 2024 11:30 AM
To: Hochleutner, Connor D
Subject: re: 801 Hermosa Way

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Unless you recognize the sender's 
email address and know the content is safe, DO NOT click links, open attachments or reply. 

Dear Mr. Hochleutner,  
I am writing to you in regards to 801 Hermosa Way.  As I will be out of town on Monday when the planning 
commission is in session, I would like to voice some concerns I have in regards to these plans.  I live across the 
street at 790.  My biggest concern is for the trees, specifically the four large redwoods that are on the edge of 
the property bordering  777 Hermosa which is directly across the street from me.  In reviewing the plans, I am 
worried that there is too much construction too close to these trees.  There is no reason that construction of the 
ADU and the outdoor living space cannot be moved farther away or to a different part of the property.  The 
trees are majestic and in terrific shape.  They don't need to be compromised... the plans should be changed.  I 
also don't understand why the deodor cedar needs to be removed. It sits at the front of the property, certainly not 
impinging on any part of the new construction.  Its removal will leave a tremendous  open space.  Any new tree 
planted to replace this heritage tree will certainly take well beyond my lifetime to grow and mature into a 
beautiful tree.  I have lived on this street for over 30 years.  My husband and I built our home and went through 
the ringer with the planning commission to get our plans approved.  It sure seems now that every regulation 
placed on these lots is ignored and variances are granted.   I do hope you will consider the seriousness of this 
request.  The trees are irreplaceable. 
Thank you. 
Martha Bacon 
790 Hermosa Way 
650-387-5633 

G4



Community Development 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   11/18/2024 
Staff Report Number:  24-049-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a 

request for a use permit revision and architectural 
control revision for minor alterations to the entry 
doors and main entry portico on the north elevation 
of an existing two-story office building located in 
the C-1-C (Administrative, Professional, and 
Research District, Restrictive) zoning district at 
2800 Sand Hill Road, and determine this action is 
categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing 
facilities.  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit revision and 
architectural control revision for minor alterations to the north elevation of an existing two-story office 
building located in the C-1-C (Administrative, Professional, and Research District, Restrictive) zoning 
district, at 2800 Sand Hill Road, and determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. The proposed alterations include updating the 
entry doors and main entry portico, which would result in no increase in gross floor area (GFA). The draft 
resolution, including the recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

 

Policy Issues 
All use permit and architectural control requests are considered individually. The Planning Commission 
should consider whether the required use permit findings identified in Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 
16.82.030 can be made for the proposed project. Additionally, the Planning Commission should also 
consider whether the required architectural control findings identified in Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 
16.68.020 can be made for the proposed project. The City’s General Plan includes a number of goals and 
associated policies used to implement those goals that may be considered in evaluating the proposed 
project, including: 
• Goal LU-1: Promote the orderly development of Menlo Park and its surrounding area;  
• Goal LU-4: Promote and encourage existing and new business to be successful and attract 

entrepreneurship and emerging technologies for providing goods, services amenities, local job 
opportunities and tax revenue for the community while avoiding or minimizing potential environmental 
and traffic impacts; 

• Policy LU-4.3: Mixed Use and Nonresidential Development (Limit parking, traffic, and other impacts of 
mixed-use and nonresidential development on adjacent uses, and promote high-quality architectural 
design and effective transportation options); and 

• Policy LU-4.5: Business Uses and Environmental Impacts (Allow modifications to business operations 
  



Staff Report #: 24-049-PC 
Page 2 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
and structures that promote revenue generation uses for which potential environmental impacts can be 
mitigated). 

 

Background 
The subject property is located at 2800 Sand Hill Road, east of the junction of Interstate 280 and Sand Hill 
Road, in the C-1-C (Administrative, Professional, and Research District, Restrictive) zoning district. The site 
contains an existing commercial office building that was constructed in 1993. A surface parking lot generally 
surrounds the building. A location map is included as Attachment B. 
 
The Sharon Heights neighborhood is located to the north, containing a mixture of lower density residential 
zoning, including properties that are zoned R-1-S (Single Family Suburban Residential). To the immediate 
west and east, several commercial offices are located along the northern side of Sand Hill Road that are 
zoned C-1-C (Administrative, Professional and Research, Restrictive), and the Rosewood Sand Hill hotel 
and office complex is located along the southern side of Sand Hill Road, zoned C-4(X) (General 
Commercial – Conditional). Farther west, the Sharon Heights Golf and Country Club is located at 2900 
Sand Hill Road, and is zoned OSC (Open Space and Conservation). The SLAC National Accelerator 
Laboratory is also located farther south of Sand Hill Road, in unincorporated San Mateo County. 

 

Analysis 

Project description 
The applicant is requesting to make exterior modifications to the front and interior courtyard façades of a 
northern suite of the building that would enclose an existing entry portico and result in an increase in GFA. 
The applicant proposes interior renovations to reduce gross floor area by an equal amount, resulting in a 
net zero change in overall building GFA. The work would generally be obscured from view along the closest 
public right-of-way due to site topography, other areas of the building footprint, and a significant amount of 
trees and landscaping. In addition, the City Arborist has confirmed that there are no heritage trees in the 
vicinity of the proposed project.  
 
Zoning conformance and gross floor area (GFA) 
The site is within the C-1-C (Administrative, Professional and Research District, Restrictive) zoning district. 
The proposed project is in compliance with the C-1-C development regulations codified in Municipal Code 
section 16.36.030. The proposed project includes no change to existing conditions for lot area, lot 
dimensions, required yards, or height of structures, but is proposing modifications to the existing GFA to 
maintain the current floor area ratio (FAR), and thus remain under the maximum FAR. The specific zoning 
metric that is affected by the proposed project. This FAR metric is discussed below. 
 
• The FAR for a nonresidential development shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%). 

o The site’s existing FAR is 24.99 percent (a 64,411 square-foot building and 914-square-foot 
detached exercise room on a 261,360-square-foot lot). The conversion of the portico area to 
conditioned space would be seen as an addition of 266 square feet, and with the proposed interior 
modifications within the suite, this area would be offset by a 266-square-foot reduction, thus 
resulting in no change in GFA or exceedance of the FAR. The project would be in conformance with 
this development standard. 

 
 



Staff Report #: 24-049-PC 
Page 3 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

As stated earlier, the changes occurring at the portico would result in an increase in GFA of 266 square 
feet. On both floors of the suite, the following interior modifications would be made to create areas exempt 
from GFA, per Section 16.04.325 (C) of the Zoning Ordinance, in order to offset the 266-square-foot 
increase from the portico’s enclosure: 
• Creating a utility room of the first floor; 
• Creating one vent shaft on the first floor; 
• Creating a voided and inaccessible area behind a banquet seating area, which would create a void in 

that space for the full floor height, and would feature no access for the full floor height, no conditioned air, 
no windows or skylights, and no electricity; 

• Expanding an open atrium area on the second floor; 
• Creating one vent shaft on the second floor; and 
• Creating a voided plumbing space behind a remodeled bathroom on the second floor. 
 
Areas that would qualify as exempt from GFA need to meet specific criteria, based on Section 16.04.325(C) 
of the Zoning Ordinance. In the case of the proposed project, the following specific exemptions are being 
requested: 
• Section 16.04.325(C)(1): Areas of a building or buildings that are designed as nonuseable or 

nonoccupiable space with unfinished walls, floors and ceilings, not to exceed three percent (3%) of the 
maximum allowed gross floor area of the lot, which would apply to the void areas behind the banquet 
seating and in the remodeled bathroom; 

• Section 16.04.325(C)(2): Areas of a building or buildings dedicated to the enclosure of noise-generating 
equipment, such as building mechanical equipment and generators, not to exceed one percent (1%) of 
the maximum allowed gross floor area of the lot, which would be applicable to the creation of a utility 
room on the first floor; and 

• Section 16.04.325 (C)(5): Vent shafts, such as building mechanical air ducts and chimneys. 
 
For the site as a whole, the maximum GFA is 25 percent, or 65,340 square feet. Sections 16.04.325(C)(1) 
and 16.04.325(C)(2) of the Zoning Ordinance allow for up to three percent and one percent of the maximum 
GFA to be exempted, respectively. Three percent of the maximum GFA is 1,960.2 square feet, and one 
percent of the maximum GFA is 653.4 square feet. The amounts of GFA that would be newly exempted as 
a result of the proposed project per Sections 16.04.325(C)(1) and 16.04.325(C)(2) would be 111 square feet 
and 98 square feet, respectively, which would be nominal increases to those exempted areas and would not 
result in an exceedance of the maximum allowable exemptions for the site. For areas of the building outside 
the scope of this project, the applicant has assumed that all area is included in the calculation of GFA and 
no exemptions have been included. As a result, the entire building and the project suite would be in 
compliance with the overall maximum GFA allowed.  
 

Design and materials  
The proposed exterior modifications involve the following actions: 
• Removing a set of four aluminum doors and one metal window along a southeastern-facing portion of the 

northern wing of the building, and replacing the five features with four aluminum windows that would 
match the size, color and materials of the existing window panels throughout the building. Stucco would 
be applied beneath the new windows to match the existing stucco type and color of the rest of the 
building. 

• Along the northernmost elevation for the building, there is an existing two-story entry portico that is 
approximately 266 square feet in size. The applicant is proposing to remove a balcony on the second 
floor approximately 260 square feet in size and enclose it in line with the building’s primary façade. The 
portico would feature a new two-story curtain wall, inset approximately four feet from the exterior wall of 



Staff Report #: 24-049-PC 
Page 4 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

the portico, which would convert the area into conditioned space. 
 
The proposed project involves no changes to the landscaping or hardscaping outside of the building, or 
around the project site. Staff believes that the proposed changes are appropriate for the affected façades of 
existing office building, and would be compatible with the rest of the building architecture. The façade 
involving the replacement of a door system with windows would involve materials, colors, and a style that 
would match the patched stucco walls and aluminum-framed windows throughout the building. The portico 
modifications, which include wood framing along the portico perimeter and a steel framed curtain wall at the 
entry façade, would provide an update to a prominent entrance while remaining compatible with the existing 
building as a whole. 
 
In addition, the proposed modifications would be consistent with Goal LU-1, as the development is an 
orderly renovation for the site, and Goal LU-4, as the renovations would provide some modern façade 
updates to the building to promote new business growth in the City. The project would be consistent with 
Policy LU-4.3, for promoting high-quality architectural design. 
 

Correspondence  
Staff has not received any correspondence as of the writing of this report. However, the applicant states in 
the project description letter that they contacted representatives for the 2882-2884 Sand Hill Road property, 
and no one has expressed concern with the proposed work. 
 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the proposal meets the development standards of the zoning district. There is no change 
in use and no change in gross floor area. In addition, all proposed work would generally not be visible from 
the public right-of-way. Staff believes that the proposed improvements are consistent with the design of the 
existing commercial office building. Further, the proposed project involves no changes to the landscaping or 
hardscaping outside of the building, or around the project site, and the proposed renovations to the building 
would remain compatible with the existing building as a whole. In addition, the proposed project would be 
consistent with the zoning requirements for the site and the General Plan. Staff recommends that the 
Planning Commission approve the proposed project. 

 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 
 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, “Existing Facilities”) of the current 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 

Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 



Staff Report #: 24-049-PC 
Page 5 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Project Plans 
B. Project Description Letter 
C. Conditions of Approval  

B. Location Map 
 

Exhibits to Be Provided at Meeting 
None 

 
Report prepared by: 
Matt Pruter, Associate Planner  
 
Report reviewed by: 
Tom Smith, Principal Planner 
 
 



ATTACHMENT A

1 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2024-0XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A REQUEST FOR A USE PERMIT 
REVISION AND ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL REVISION FOR MINOR 
ALTERATIONS AT AN EXISTING TWO-STORY OFFICE BUILDING 
LOCATED AT 2800 SAND HILL ROAD 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use permit 
revision and architectural control revision to allow for minor alterations at an existing two-
story office building located within the C-1-C (Administrative, Professional, and Research 
District, Restrictive) zoning district (collectively, the “Project”), from Laurie Shepard 
(“Applicant”) and Sand Hill Oak Partners (“Owner”), located at 2800 Sand Hill Road (APNs 
074-260-690 and 074-260-700) (“Property”). The Project use permit revision and
architectural control revision requests are depicted in and subject to the development plans
and project description letter, which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B,
respectively, and incorporated herein by this reference; and

WHEREAS, the Project would include exterior modifications to the front and interior 
courtyard façades of a northern suite of the building that would enclose an existing entry 
portico and result in an increase in gross floor area; and 

WHEREAS, to remain in compliance with the maximum floor area ratio (FAR) for the project 
site, the Project would reduce gross floor area by an equal amount, resulting in a net zero 
change in overall building gross floor area, through the conversion of existing gross floor 
area to exemptions from the calculation of gross floor area by creating a utility room, two 
inaccessible voided areas, and vent shafts, and expanding an open atrium area; and  

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the C-1-C (Administrative, Professional, and 
Research District, Restrictive) zoning district, which supports professional, administrative, 
and executive offices; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project complies with all standards of the C-1-C zoning district; 
and  

WHEREAS, the findings and conditions for the use permit and architectural control would 
ensure that all City requirements are applied consistently and correctly as part of the 
Project’s implementation; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering and Building Divisions 
and found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

WHEREAS, the Project requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, 
and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code 
Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15000 
et seq.) require a determination regarding the Project’s compliance with CEQA; and  

A1



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

2 

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, 
and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval of 
environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
§15301 (Existing Facilities); and

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on November 18, 2024, the 
Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record, 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the proposed Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds 
the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo 
Park does hereby make the following Findings:  

The approval of the use permit revision to allow for minor alterations to an existing two-story 
office building is granted based on the following findings, which are made pursuant to Menlo 
Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will,
under the circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health,
safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare of the persons residing in the
neighborhood of such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and
improvements in the neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because:

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of all
adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in question
and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in that, the
proposed use permit is consistent with the C-1-C zoning district and the
General Plan because office buildings are allowed to be constructed and
maintained subject to granting of a use permit.

b. The proposed Project would maintain the existing office use on site, and
there would be no net change in gross floor area or expansion above the

A2



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

3 

maximum floor area ratio for the site, upon completion of the modifications to 
the tenant space within the building.  
 

c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and 
ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code and the Commission 
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, and 
welfare of the surrounding community as the Project would maintain the 
office use. 

 
Section 3.  Architectural Control Permit.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park 
does hereby make the following Findings:  

The approval of the architectural control permit to allow for minor alterations to an existing 
two-story office building is granted based on the following findings, which are made pursuant 
to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.020: 
  

1. That the general appearance of the structures is in keeping with character of the 
neighborhood; in that, the proposed improvements are consistent with the 
design of the existing building, and all proposed work would generally not be 
visible from the public right-of-way. 
 

2. That the development will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly 
growth of the city; in that, the Project contains a request to allow for minor 
exterior modifications to an existing office building. The Project’s design 
continues to be generally consistent with all applicable requirements of the City 
of Menlo Park Municipal Code. The General Plan land use for the Property, 
Commercial Offices, is consistent with the existing and proposed uses on the 
site. Therefore, the Project will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly 
growth of the city. 
 

3. That the development will not impair the desirability of investment or occupation 
in the neighborhood; in that, the Project contains limited minor changes to the 
façades along a northern portion of the building and within an interior courtyard. 
The proposed Project would continue being used as an existing office building, 
in a manner consistent with all applicable codes and ordinances. Therefore, the 
proposed Project would not impair the desirability of investment or occupation in 
the neighborhood. 

 
4. That the development provides adequate parking as required in all applicable 

city ordinances, as no parking changes are proposed. Therefore, the proposed 
development provides sufficient on-site parking. 
 

5. That the development is consistent with any applicable specific plan; in that, the 
Project is located in the Sharon Heights neighborhood, which is not subject to 
any specific plan. However, the proposed Project is designed in a manner 
consistent with all applicable codes and ordinances, as well as the General Plan 
goals and policies. 

A3



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

4 

 
Section 4.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit No. 
PLN2024-00032, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and 
project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively. The Use Permit is conditioned in 
conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference 
as Exhibit C.   
 
Section 5.  Architectural Control Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Architectural 
Control Permit No. PLN2024-00032, which is depicted in and subject to the development 
plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
this reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively. The Architectural Control Permit is 
conditioned in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
this reference as Exhibit C.   
 
Section 6.  Environmental Review.  The Planning Commission makes the following findings, 
based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having reviewed and 
taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

 
1. The Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant to Cal.  

Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15301 et seq. (Existing Facilities). 
 
Section 7.  Severability.  If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application 
of these findings to a particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of these findings, or their application to other 
actions related to the proposed Project, shall continue in full force and effect unless 
amended or modified by the City. 

I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly and 
regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on November 18, 
2024, by the following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:   
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said 
City on this ____day of November, 2024. 
 
PC Liaison Signature 
 

A4



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

5 

 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director 
City of Menlo Park 
 
 
Exhibits 

A. Project plans  
B. Project description letter 
C. Conditions of approval 

A5



��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

IN
T�

6e
TX

Ri
a�

M
eQ

OR
 3

aU
NB

3h
aV

e 
� 

3/
AN

 C
H

EC
. 

C
2

M
M

EN
T6

B5
��

�UY
t

����������

MA5. I668E DATE

A5EA 2F EXTE5I25 :25.

A5EA 2F EXTE5I25 :25.

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

EXHIBIT A

A6



Job Number

10
/1

0/
20

24
 3

:1
0:

07
 P

M
A

ut
od

es
k 

D
oc

s:
//S

eq
uo

ia
 C

ap
ita

l P
ro

je
ct

s/
IN

T
-S

eq
uo

ia
-M

en
lo

 P
ar

k_
P

ha
se

 1
 P

LA
N

 C
H

E
C

K
 C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S
_R

23
.r

vt

G00-03.1

492250.004

MARK ISSUE DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A7



��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

A5
C

H
�6

eT
XR

ia
 M

3�
��

��
  6

aQ
G 

H
iOO 

 E
xt

eU
iR

UB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

MA5. I668E DATE

352326ED T2TA/ GFA �������6F 352326ED T2TA/ GFA   �������6F � ���6F ����6F   �������6F

T2TA/ ADDITI2NA/ GFA   ���6F � ��6F   ���6F

T2TA/6
T2TA/ EXEM3TI2N A5EA6   ���6F � ���6F   ���6F

ADDITI2NA/ GFA   �� 6F

/E9E/ �� GFA CHANGE6 ������� 6F
EXEM3TI2N A5EA6 �NE: 6HAFT6�  NE: 3/8MBING :A/�� ��6F���6F���6F  ��� 6F

ADDITI2NA/ GFA �NE: ENC/26ED ENT5< A5EA�   ��� 6F

/E9E/ �� GFA CHANGE6 ������� 6F
EXEM3TI2N A5EA6 �NE: 6HAFT6�  NE: 8TI/IT< 522M�� ��6F���6F���6F  ���6F

/E9E/ �� DETTACHED ���� 6F N2 CHANGE6

/E9E/ A5EA NAME

/E9E/ �� ������� 6F G5266 F/225 A5EA �ND F/225

/E9E/ �� ������� 6F G5266 F/225 A5EA �6T F/225

/E9E/ �� DETTACHED ���� 6F EXE5CI6E 522M

/E9E/ A5EA NAME

EXI6TING G5266 F/225 A5EA � 3E5 3E5MIT � 3/N�����������

 E�N exiVtiQJ�QeZ

� N NRQ RccXSiabOe�NRQ XVeabOe VSace �� 6F CRQceaOeG 6Sace� �� 6TFt �excOXGeG SeU ����������C���� NRQ RccXSiabOe�NRQ XVeabOe VSace at �N� SOXPbiQJ chaVe IRU �F� 5eVtURRPV�

� N TechQicaO VhaIt �� 6F 6haIt� �� 6TFt� �excOXGeG SeU ����������C���� YeQt VhaIt

� N TechQicaO VhaIt �� 6F 6haIt� �� 6TFt� �excOXGeG SeU ����������C���� YeQt VhaIt

� N TechQicaO VhaIt �� 6F 6haIt� �� 6TFt��excOXGeG SeU ����������C���� YeQt VhaIt

� N TechQicaO VhaIt �� 6F 8tiOit\ 5RRP� �� 6TFt �excOXGeG SeU ����������C���� IRU PechaQicaO eTXiSPeQt XtiOi]eG IRU the RSeUatiRQ RI the bXiOGiQJ�

� N NRQ RccXSiabOe�NRQ XVeabOe VSace �� 6F CRQceaOeG VSace behiQG baQTXet� �� 6TFt �excOXGeG SeU ����������C���� NRQ RccXSiabOe�NRQ XVeabOe VSace�

� E�N T<3E A5EA C2MMENT

A5EA DED8CTI2N6

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A8



56

G/��

6.</IGHT 
AB29E

A�����
��

I6/AND

2N A9 NICHE

DI
63

/A
<

DI
63

/A
<

DI63/A<

DI
63

/A
<

DI
63

/A
<

��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

IN
T�

6e
TX

Ri
a�

M
eQ

OR
 3

aU
NB

3h
aV

e 
� 

3e
UP

itB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

����������     I668E F25 3E5MIT            .5�.-�6N�6.

MA5. I668E DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A9



A/IGN
A/IGN

522M

6IN.� :A//� 23ENING� 6C5EEN

G/��

��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

IN
T�

6e
TX

Ri
a�

M
eQ

OR
 3

aU
NB

3h
aV

e 
� 

3e
UP

itB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

MA5. I668E DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A10



83

83

83

83

6.</IGHT 
AB29E

A�����

A�����

��

��

��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

IN
T�

6e
TX

Ri
a�

M
eQ

OR
 3

aU
NB

3h
aV

e 
� 

3e
UP

itB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

����������     I668E F25 3E5MIT            .5�.-�6N�6.

MARK ISSUE DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A11



565656

56

5
6

5
6

5
6

5
6

5
6

56

56

56

56

5
6

5
6

5
6

G/��

6.</IGHT 
AB29E

A�����
��

D�
��

F85NIT85E BAN48ETTE

F85NIT85E BAN48ETTE

I6/AND

��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

IN
T�

6e
TX

Ri
a�

M
eQ

OR
 3

aU
NB

3h
aV

e 
� 

3e
UP

itB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

����������     I668E F25 3E5MIT            .5�.-�6N�6.

MARK ISSUE DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A12



��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

IN
T�

6e
TX

Ri
a�

M
eQ

OR
 3

aU
NB

3h
aV

e 
� 

3e
UP

itB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

MA5. I668E DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A13



A/IGN

A/IGN

522M

6IN.� :A//� 23ENING� 6C5EEN

522M

�� � IN /IE8 2F 6:INGING D2256 AND A/8M� 6T25EF52NT 2FFICE 3A5TITI2N� 
35ICE 6/IDING BA5N D2256 2N A G/A66 3A5TITI2N :A// 6<6TEM�

6T25EF52NT 62/8TI2N6 T2 35ICE�

23T ��  5E3/ACE A// 6T25EF52NT6 :ITH :E6TE5N INTEG5ATED 6TIC.�B8I/D 
6<6TEM

23T �� 5E3/ACE A// 6T25EF52NT6 :ITH DEM28NTAB/E �TAG :A//� 6<6TEM

23T ��   5E3/ACE :22D 9ENEE5 2FFICE6� CHANGED ETCHED G/A66 T2 C/EA5      
G/A66

AX�X

X DETAI/ �

6HEET �

XX

XX

��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

IN
T�

6e
TX

Ri
a�

M
eQ

OR
 3

aU
NB

3h
aV

e 
� 

3e
UP

itB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

MA5. I668E DATE

MARK ISSUE DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A14



Job Number

10
/9

/2
02

4 
4:

27
:1

4 
P

M
A

ut
od

es
k 

D
oc

s:
//S

eq
uo

ia
 C

ap
ita

l P
ro

je
ct

s/
A

R
C

H
-S

eq
uo

ia
 M

P
-2

80
0 

 S
an

d 
H

ill
  E

xt
er

io
r_

R
23

.r
vt

A00-10

492250.010

MARK ISSUE DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A15



Job Number

10
/9

/2
02

4 
4:

31
:4

1 
P

M
A

ut
od

es
k 

D
oc

s:
//S

eq
uo

ia
 C

ap
ita

l P
ro

je
ct

s/
A

R
C

H
-S

eq
uo

ia
 M

P
-2

80
0 

 S
an

d 
H

ill
  E

xt
er

io
r_

R
23

.r
vt

A11-01

492250.010

MARK ISSUE DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A16



��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

A5
C

H
�6

eT
XR

ia
 M

3�
��

��
  6

aQ
G 

H
iOO 

 E
xt

eU
iR

UB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

MA5. I668E DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A17



��
��

��
��

��
 �

��
��

��
 3

M
AX

tR
Ge

VN
 D

Rc
V�

��6
eT

XR
ia

 C
aS

ita
O 3

UR
Me

ct
V�

A5
C

H
�6

eT
XR

ia
 M

3�
��

��
  6

aQ
G 

H
iOO 

 E
xt

eU
iR

UB
5

��
�UY

t

����������

MA5. I668E DATE

ISSUE FOR PLANNING COMMENTS 10.29.2024

A18



2 Bryant Street, Suite 300 
San Francisco, California 94105 

www.perkinswill.com 

Christine Begin 
Planning Technician 
City Hall – 1st Floor 
701 Laurel St. 
Menlo Park, CA. 

Re: 2800 Sand Hill Road 

2800 Sand Hill Road – Architecture Control Review (revised) 

Project Description: 

Project proposes minor alterations to the north elevation of an existing 2-story office building. 
It consists of the addition of a new 2-story curtain wall at the existing north facing tenant 
entrance and expanding its vestibule by +260 SF new area; and the deduction of -260 SF by 
creating new needed shaft areas and a utility room serving the mechanical room and a new 
plumbing wall serving the new future restrooms on the second floor. No changes on the 
existing gross floor area. 

The project also includes alterations to the north end of the interior courtyard consisting of the 
replacement of 2 sets of exterior double doors with windows to match the existing adjacent 
exterior glazing. 

The proposed exterior changes all face private interior driveway / courtyard spaces and are 
not visible from public right of way. 

The partial tenant improvements of the 1st floor include the demolition of existing partitions, 
new nonstructural partitions and glazing, new lighting and ceilings, new restrooms, new 
breakroom area, new finishes, doors and hardware.   

The partial core and shell improvements of the 2nd floor include the demolition of a balcony 
slab at the entrance, a new glass railing to match existing, new shaft spaces and a new 
plumbing wall for future restrooms. 

The primary objective of this project is an aesthetic refresh to modernize and enhance the 
visual appeal of the existing space to better suit the needs of the tenant. The proposed 
changes include updates to the interior and replacing the front door.  While the project is not 
driven by a need to address ADA compliance, the project will comply with all current ADA 
requirements. 

The building was constructed in the California Suburban Corporate Modernism style, 
reflecting the Sand Hill vernacular. This style is consistent with the neighboring low-rise, 
campus-like developments in the area and embodies a blend of modern and traditional 
elements. Key characteristics include the use of wood, glass, and natural materials, all 
designed to complement the surrounding natural landscape and create a park-like 
atmosphere conducive to productivity and well-being.  

The proposed updates will maintain the existing appearance of the building. The aesthetic 
refresh is limited to updating the tenant entrance, ensuring it aligns with the overall aesthetic 
while providing a contemporary update that is compatible with the original design. 

Date: 10.10.2024 

EXHIBIT B

A19



 

 2 

 

Date: 10.10.2024 

Re: 2800 Sand Hill Road 

 
The new curtain wall entrance will use clear glass and stainless-steel frame / hardware. The 
surrounding vestibule will use exterior cedar wood siding. The courtyard glazing and infill will 
match adjacent (stucco wall and black mullions). Renderings and illustrative elevations are 
included in the attached drawing package.  
 
No changes are proposed to occupancy or use. No changes on gross floor area. No site 
modification, landscape or parking changes are proposed.   
 
To welcome neighboring perspectives as part of our community outreach, we contacted The 
Courson Company who operates 2882 Sand Hill Road- as they are the only property with view 
of the proposed entry facade elevation at 2800 Sand Hill Road.  The Courson Company and 
tenants were excited to review our planning package and offered the attached letter of 
endorsement. 

 

 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Matt Covall 
 
Perkins&Will 

 

A20



2800 Sand Hill Road – Attachment A, Exhibit C 

PAGE: 1 of 1 

LOCATION:  
2800 Sand Hill Road 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00032 

APPLICANT:  
Laurie Shepard 

OWNER:  
Sand Hill Oak Partners 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit and architectural control shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the date of
approval (by November 18, 2025) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans prepared by
Perkins & Will, consisting of eight plan sheets, dated received October 30, 2024, and approved
by the Planning Commission on November 18, 2024, except as modified by the conditions
contained herein, subject to review and approval of the Planning Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all Sanitary District, Menlo
Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly applicable to the
project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly applicable
to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, if applicable, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new
utility installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that cannot be
placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan shall show exact
locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers, junction boxes, relay boxes,
and other equipment boxes.

f. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff time
spent reviewing the application.

g. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo Park or
its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against the City of
Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul an approval
of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community Development Director, or any other
department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a development, variance, permit, or
land use approval which action is brought within the time period provided for in any applicable
statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and
hold harmless shall be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any
said claim, action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

h. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, or other
exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of approval of this
development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day protest period has begun as
of the date of the approval of this application.

EXHIBIT C

A21



1150

930

1165

2725

2735

950

1060

945
1170

3

1095

935

918
910

2735

960

920

2735

2725

2884

17

23

5

5

2744

995

2735

4

2770

14

9

2825

909

2855

955

2765

1040

3

1045

2735

2865

2700

2735

2732

27352755

915

900

2882

980

2730

15

105521

2742

901

2875

11

2740

1030

921

2755

910

2735

8

1090

8

929

1080

1020
1010

7

1160

1070

1050

19

2800A

2882

4

925

1145

2710

985

2900

940

1010

970

1020

2750

2885

7

2775

924

2895

CITY OF MENLO PARK
LOCATION MAP
2800 SAND HILL ROAD

Scale: 1:4,000     Drawn By: MAP     Checked By: TAS      Date: 11/18/2024

2800

ATTACHMENT B

B1



Community Development 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   11/18/2024 
Staff Report Number:  24-050-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use 

permit revision and architectural control revision 
that allowed a temporary classroom to be located at 
an existing school (Phillips Brooks) in the P-F 
(Public Facilities) zoning district at 2245 Avy 
Avenue, until November 15, 2024, and determine 
this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for 
existing facilities. The proposed modifications to 
the permit would allow the current temporary 
classroom to remain for an additional three years, 
until November 15, 2027.  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit revision and 
architectural control permit revision to extend the expiration date (i.e., the removal date) for the previously 
approved temporary classroom located at an existing school (Phillips Brooks) in the P-F (Public Facilities) 
zoning district, at 2245 Avy Avenue, and determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. The use permit revision and 
architectural control revision, as a modified permit, would allow for the existing temporary classroom to 
remain on site for three additional years, until November 15, 2027. There are no physical modifications to 
the building or other modifications to the school proposed at this time. The draft resolution, including the 
recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

 

Policy Issues 
All use permit and architectural control requests are considered individually. The Planning Commission 
should consider whether the required use permit findings identified in Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 
16.82.030 can be made for the proposed project. Additionally, the Planning Commission should also 
consider whether the required architectural control findings identified in Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 
16.68.020 can be made for the proposed project. The City’s General Plan includes a number of goals and 
associated policies used to implement those goals that may be considered in evaluating the proposed 
project, including: 
• Goal LU-1: Promote the orderly development of Menlo Park and its surrounding area; and 
• Policy LU-1.7: School Facilities (Encourage excellence in public education citywide, as well as use of 

school facilities for recreation by youth to promote healthy living).  
 

While not a public school, the proposed project could be seen as promoting and enhancing recreational 
opportunities for youth within the City. 

 



Staff Report #: 24-050-PC 
Page 2 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Background 
The subject property is located at 2245 Avy Avenue, in the Sharon Heights neighborhood. Using Avy 
Avenue in the north-south orientation, the subject property is located at the eastern side of Avy Avenue. A 
location map is included as Attachment B. 
 
The subject property, Phillips Brooks School (PBS), is located in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district. 
PBS is a private elementary school located on property owned by the Las Lomitas Elementary School 
District. The surrounding zoning and land uses are summarized in the table below. 
 

Table 1: Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses 

Location/
Direction Zoning Existing Land Uses 

Project 
Site Public Facilities (P-F) Phillips Brooks School (PBS) 

North Single Family Suburban Residential District (R-1-S) 
and Single Family Urban Residential District (R-1-U) 

Las Lomitas Elementary School 
District office and small lot single-
family residences (across Altschul 
Avenue) 

East Public Facilities (P-F) La Entrada Middle School 

South Single Family Suburban Residential District (R-1-S) Small lot single family residences 

West Single Family Suburban Residential District (R-1-S) Small lot single family residences 

 

Site history 
PBS has been operating as a private school at 2245 Avy Avenue since 1978, on property owned by the Las 
Lomitas Elementary School District. The school provides instruction for students in grades from pre-
kindergarten to fifth grade. The original use permit approval allowed a private school to operate with up to 
205 students and 22 teachers on a temporary basis. Subsequent use permit revisions have increased the 
maximum permitted school population, with the most recent approval in 2013 for 320 students and 58 staff 
(teachers and administrative staff), which would remain in effect until the school vacates the site or until July 
31, 2032, whichever comes first. The expiration dates for the permits have historically been aligned with the 
term of PBS’s lease with Las Lomitas Elementary School District. 
 
On November 15, 2021, the Planning Commission approved a use permit and architectural control permit to 
construct a new 960-square-foot temporary classroom at the school, in order to accommodate adequate 
indoor space for PBS’s afterschool program. At the time, the applicant cited the following reasons for the 
need for the temporary classroom: 
• Social distancing protocols due to COVID-19; and 
• Adjustment and resumption of afterschool care needs due to the return to in-person work for increasing 

numbers of parents and guardians. 
 
The Planning Commission approval granted a three-year period for the temporary classroom to be located 
on site, with an expiration date of November 15, 2024. A hyperlink to the November 15, 2021 Planning 
Commission staff report is available as Attachment C, and Attachment D contains a hyperlink to the minutes 
for that meeting. 

 



Staff Report #: 24-050-PC 
Page 3 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Analysis 

Project description 
The applicant is seeking to extend the use permit to allow the temporary classroom to remain on site for an 
additional three years, with no additional physical or programmatic changes proposed. This would result in a 
new expiration date for the temporary classroom of November 15, 2027. Condition 2a would require the 
temporary classroom to be removed by November 15, 2027. 
 
For additional context, the project site comprises a leased area of approximately 5.5 acres that is part of a 
25.9-acre property owned by the Las Lomitas Elementary School District. Near the parking lot entrance 
facing the intersection of Avy Avenue and Bellair Way, a paved access road connects the parking lot to an 
asphalt area containing existing open play areas and a covered basketball court. The temporary classroom, 
comprising 960 square feet in size, is located on this asphalt area, adjacent to the basketball court, and is 
proposed to remain in this location. The project plans and project description letter are included in 
Attachment A as Exhibits A and B, respectively. 
 
The applicant states in their project description letter that the temporary classroom has been serving the 
school’s existing aftercare program, and offers a space adjacent to the outdoor play zone used for the 
aftercare program. The applicant is seeking to continue using the temporary classroom solely for the 
afterschool program. The afterschool program would continue to operate as specified within the use permit. 
The applicant has emphasized that there are no physical changes to the temporary classroom. Based on 
this highly limited scope, there would be no changes to the project conditions apart from extending the 
expiration date of classroom, with the inclusion of the aforementioned Condition 2a. As such, staff is not 
proposing any other changes to the project conditions. In particular, the applicant has also specified that 
there would be no changes to density, student enrollment, parking, staffing, programming, or other aspects 
of the school’s conditions. 
 

Correspondence  
Staff has not received any correspondence as of the writing of this report. However, the applicant states in 
the project description letter that they held their most recent quarterly neighbor meeting on Oct. 29, 2024, 
which is part of their continued quarterly outreach meetings conducted with the community. The applicant 
has stated that no neighbor concerns were raised at the latest meeting, and they have indicated that no one 
has expressed concern with the continuation of the temporary classroom. 
 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the extension of the timeline for removal of the existing temporary classroom would be 
appropriate, as it would continue to otherwise satisfy all requirements provided in the conditions from 
previous discretionary approvals. With continued usage of the classroom, the afterschool program would 
continue to operate as specified within the use permit. There are no physical changes to the temporary 
classroom, and there are no changes to the project conditions apart from extending the expiration date (i.e., 
removal date) of classroom for three years. Further, the applicant has also specified that there would be no 
changes to density, student enrollment, parking, staffing, programming, or other aspects of the school’s 
conditions of approval. The applicant has continued to complete quarterly outreach meetings with the 
community. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the proposed project. 

 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 



Staff Report #: 24-050-PC 
Page 4 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 
 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, “Existing Facilities”) of the current 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 

Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
 A. Project Plans 

B. Project Description Letter 
 C. Conditions of Approval  

B. Location Map 
C. Hyperlink: November 15, 2021 Staff Report: 

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/30016/F3_2245-Avy-Avenue---Staff-Report?bidId 
D. Hyperlink: November 15, 2021 Minutes: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-

and-minutes/planning-commission/2021-meetings/minutes/20211115-pc-approved-minutes.pdf 
 

Exhibits to Be Provided at Meeting 
None 

 
Report prepared by: 
Matt Pruter, Associate Planner  
 
Report reviewed by: 
Tom Smith, Principal Planner 
 
 

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/30016/F3_2245-Avy-Avenue---Staff-Report?bidId
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2021-meetings/minutes/20211115-pc-approved-minutes.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2021-meetings/minutes/20211115-pc-approved-minutes.pdf


ATTACHMENT A

1 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2024-0XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A REQUEST TO MODIFY THE 
PREVIOUSLY APPROVED USE PERMIT AND ARCHITECTURAL 
CONTROL PERMIT FOR A TEMPORARY CLASSROOM LOCATED AT 
PHILLIPS BROOKS SCHOOL AT 2245 AVY AVENUE, BY GRANTING 
AN EXTENSION TO ALLOW THE TERMPORARY CLASSROOM TO 
REMAIN ONSITE FOR THREE ADDITIONAL YEARS 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use permit 
revision and architectural control revision to allow for the existing temporary classroom to 
remain on site for three additional years, until November 15, 2027, at an existing school 
(Phillips Brooks) in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district (collectively, the “Project”), from 
Olana Khan (“Applicant”) and Las Lomitas Elementary School District (“Owner”), located at 
2245 Avy Avenue (APN 074-170-530) (“Property”). The Project use permit revision and 
architectural control revision requests are depicted in and subject to the development plans 
and project description letter, which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, 
respectively, and incorporated herein by this reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district. The P-F 
zoning district supports private school uses as a conditional use and the school previously 
received a use permit to operate; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project complies with all standards of the P-F zoning district; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering Division and found to 
be in compliance with City standards; and 

WHEREAS, the Project received approval from the Planning Commission on November 15, 
2021, and was given a three-year term for the existing classroom to be on site, concluding 
on November 15, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the Project will need to be removed upon its expiration date, thus causing the 
request for an extension; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant is requesting approval from the Planning Commission to receive 
a three-year extension for the existing classroom to be on site, with a new expiration date 
of November 15, 2027; and 

WHEREAS, the Project requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, 
and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code 
Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15000 
et seq.) require a determination regarding the Project’s compliance with CEQA; and  

A1



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

2 

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, 
and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval of 
environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
§15301 (Existing Facilities); and

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on November 18, 2024, the 
Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record, 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the proposed Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds 
the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo 
Park does hereby make the following Findings:  

The approval of the use permit revision to continue allowing an existing temporary 
classroom to remain on site for an additional three years is granted based on the following 
findings which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will,
under the circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health,
safety, morals, comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the
neighborhood of such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and
improvements in the neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because:

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of all
adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in question
and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in that, the
proposed use permit is consistent with the P-F zoning district and the
General Plan because additional school facilities associated with private a
private school are allowed to be constructed and maintained subject to
granting of a use permit.

b. The proposed Project has been serving the school’s existing aftercare
program that operates following the dismissal of classes, and offers a space

A2



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

3 

that is adjacent to the outdoor play zone used for the aftercare program. The 
operations and enrollment for the afterschool program are consistent with 
previous discretionary approvals, and there are no changes proposed for 
school functions.  

c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and
ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code and the Commission
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, and
welfare of the surrounding community as the Project would maintain the
private school use and not expand the density, student enrollment, parking,
staffing, programming, or other aspects of the school’s conditions.

d. Per the project conditions, the temporary classroom would be removed by
November 15, 2027, ensuring that the project contributes to the orderly
development of Menlo Park through the removal of the temporary classroom
building.

Section 3.  Architectural Control Permit.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park 
does hereby make the following Findings:  

The approval of the architectural control permit revision to continue allowing an existing 
temporary classroom to remain on site for an additional three years is granted based on the 
following findings, which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.020: 

1. That the general appearance of the structures is in keeping with character of the
neighborhood; in that, there are no physical changes to the existing temporary
classroom.

2. That the development will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly
growth of the city; in that, the Project contains a request to extend the existence
of an existing temporary classroom at a private school until November 15, 2027.
With no changes to the previous approval, the Project’s design continues to be
generally consistent with all applicable requirements of the City of Menlo Park
Municipal Code. The General Plan land use for the Property, Public Facilities, is
consistent with the existing and proposed uses on the site. Therefore, the
Project will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly growth of the city.

3. That the development will not impair the desirability of investment or occupation
in the neighborhood; in that, the Project contains no changes to the existing
temporary classroom, which involves a use that is consistent with the applicable
standards of the Zoning Ordinance for the project site. The proposed Project
would continue being used for an existing afterschool program in a manner
consistent with all applicable codes and ordinances. Therefore, the proposed
Project would not impair the desirability of investment or occupation in the
neighborhood.

A3



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

4 

4. That the development provides adequate parking as required in all applicable
city ordinances, as no parking changes are proposed. Therefore, the proposed
development provides sufficient on-site parking.

5. That the development is consistent with any applicable specific plan; in that, the
Project is located in the Sharon Heights neighborhood, which is not subject to
any specific plan. However, the proposed Project is designed in a manner
consistent with all applicable codes and ordinances, as well as the General Plan
goals and policies.

Section 4.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit No. 
PLN2024-00048, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and 
project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Use Permit is conditioned in 
conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference 
as Exhibit C.   

Section 5.  Architectural Control Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Architectural 
Control Permit No. PLN2024-00048, which is depicted in and subject to the development 
plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
this reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Architectural Control Permit is 
conditioned in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
this reference as Exhibit C.   

Section 6.  Environmental Review.  The Planning Commission makes the following findings, 
based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having reviewed and 
taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

1. The Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant to Cal.
Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15301 et seq. (Existing Facilities).

Section 7.  Severability.  If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application 
of these findings to a particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void, or 
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of these findings, or their application to other 
actions related to the proposed Project, shall continue in full force and effect unless 
amended or modified by the City. 

I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly and 
regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on November 18, 
2024, by the following votes: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

A4



Resolution No. 2024-0XX 

5 

ABSTAIN: 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said 
City on this ____ day of November, 2024. 

PC Liaison Signature 

______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director 
City of Menlo Park 

Exhibits 

A. Project plans
B. Project description letter
C. Conditions of approval

A5



REGULATORY STANDARDS 

2. 2022 CAUFONU.IIULDINO CODl!(CIIC)PAAT 2 
NEW CONSTRUCTION 

). 20:22 CALll'ONU!L!CTRICAL CODl!(C!C)PART 3 

,t, 2022:CAUl'OflfU,MECHANCAI.COOE(CMC)PAAT• 

PHILLIPS BROOKS SCHOOL 

PORTABLE CLASSROOM BUILDING 
t. 2022 CALll'ORNIA�E COOE,PAATI 

NFPA STANDARDS ABBREVIATIONS 
1, Nl'f' ... U-PRIYAff FIRUlAINS,20191Etlm0ft 

2. JtFl' ... 72-(CM.IIFORfll A AMEIClEO)N.-.TIONAL- ALAIIN CODES,llOIIOlfflOft 

-· 
�
� 

lt.c· 
'"p=R"o""J.,..,,E""c,..,T=D"'1""R,..,E,,.C=T,..,O""R=Y,----------; �, 

��:;::;:::�====�===1-
&erid<lon@philipgbrooks.org � 

��;;;;;;===============� �� Brent McCUe Principal bmcdure41cewan::fl�ec:ts.com -..v... 
JordanKelsef Designer J«,'8erftalwardlltectl.com EQUoPJEQPT. 

., 
-otllOUtlD 

...oJUITUU 

lii;/;:.;;;;!!!e================l::. :P. ;-,:::;;;;1:1,, 
DavidOauphin Auoci81e d8vid@c2gengrs.com - -��•-• � 
llln HMld Projli,;:t Manager la'l@<:2gengrs.c;,om 

SYMBOLS 

0 0·-f-·-·-·· 
I 

+-------"----

♦------"------+

2245 AVY AVE, CA, 94025 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT SUBMITTAL 
SEPTEMBER 19, 2024 

::'..:.:=i 
I NSIDEDltJIIIETEll(t■IJ 
IMCttOlllt«::tl'-8 
,_ 

JtOTIICOJffllACT 
=ro= 
�M 
�-·

OPEHINO 

0 

[iJ--------

cs 

D 

l#IDERWRITERS�T0RIES 
UMUUOT-l'Olm 
--

--

tuUOGI0O!tDRA_, 
FOflal"I.AIUIITIOlfOl'u.Ctt 
,ora 

GENERAL NOTES 
1. 

=���';;:..�=::�!O:E�=
M
��

N

!;!.e:�;":�=��=�::=�
REAHO 

RIESP0tfSUILE F OR Tl11Ecotfffl.AC1'0R'S F.tJWRIE TO FOLLOW PROPER SAFm PROCEDURES. 

2. ALL CODUHAVINO JUIIISDIC'TlON ARl!H!lll!aYMADl! A PAflf�TMIS OOCUM!NT ANO ARl!TO RSTAICTl.Y()8M:RV!OIYTHI! 
COffTRACTOfll NTHECOlrl8TAUCTIONOF-THEPflOJECT. INtH££Vl:HTOf'COfFI.ICTKTWEENTilESEooctMIENTS ANOntE C00£, THE 
COOESKALLPREVAIL. AJffCONFUCT 011 IIISCREl'ANCY SHALL MEDIAlUY&E BROUGtfTTOTlE ATTUfflON OF TlE ARCHITECT. 911Tl!IGUU: 

10Jtt«:I: 

a
. 

:::?ooEE:D'.:=����:::Bcw:,=::'::ioE�=•���:_.'
L 

�n,e; 

._ COHnlACT0R9"ALL AT All TIIIES PRO\IEE PR0ncn0NAGAINSTWEATMER, RAIN, -DSTQRMS, 0RHEAT SO AS TO MAINTAIN AU. WORK, =...��E
W.Tal!ALS,EQU ll'tllENT AND APPARAl\JS FRE E FR0Jlll�UflY OR D.....OE. 

e
. 

:--:cin:�==�
o

::�;:::::n":::!-:'E��
F
s�=O

�A
r:=�o:s=� PEYBO!'WNIII&IIMBPI 

I, COfmtACTOR SHALL REJIIOVE FR0II � AU. EXISTlltO COtllSTRUCTION AND IIIIPROVEIIIIEN'TS NECESSARY FOR CQilpl.ETIOft OF TltE 
PROJECT,PROreCTRtOM D.llllAGE 0R l�UflY AU.EXISTllfG'lllEES,l.ANDSCAl'ING ANO•PROVEMEtfl811DICAlEOBYntE ARCHITR'T, 

:::o=Fl�co:::::�=•
OOCUIIIIEN'TS,WHICHN:UIOEntEPROJECTfllANUAI.WITMISPECIFICATIOHS,ntEADOEND.l 

I. AU.WOMNOT'f:D-.YOnttRr OR •N.LC.•SHALI.lll!PAOVID!DIYntl!CWNfA UNDDIBl!PARATl! CONTRACT.l<ICLUOfllCMIUIULf 

UffWIDTff: 
UffDEFnt: 

�DP�WT!'Olll'tl���"8llCI.ASSIIOOMDUILOINGW'ISTMUD 
()NR.u$EDW()()DfDI/ND,U,llDNS_lll$TINC_Tl'UY(;<)UIIT$URfA<;' 

01H70-a0 

-

Pf'("lel.le�M:lutl"') 

--BPII-.ERED 

-.UP981100119tctl00l. 
U.SLDIHT ... SCHDDLIIIIITIICT 
-�-

==
E

�.:::z.:::s:
EA' WON( IN CONSTAUCTION PROOAEUICHEDULES ANO COOADIMATEAS AE0UIAEOTO ASSUIIE ORDEFILY �=�AAU.: 

10. COUJIIIN Cflff!R UN!S(OAQFIIDLIN!SI AA!SHOWMFOA RUI.A!NC! OHLY. 

II, lt CASE OF COHFUCT DA DISCREPANCIES IN CONTRAC"f DOCUIIEHTS, OOffTltl.CTOA SHAU.NOTIFY TltE AACtt!TE'f lt-mNG PfllOA TO 

PIIOCUDINQ. 

1:t. PRIOA TOIIEGINNltGWOfll(,COMltf,CTOASIHAU.VEIIFY ALL DIJIIENSIDNS AMO EIGUAE lllAT M.I.WOlll( IS IIIM.DABl.EAS�. 
CONDITION8 THAT ARl!. HOT A!R.tCTM!DF TltATWHICH l9SHOWN SHAU.lll!.At,>ORTl!DTOTNl!AIICHlftCT ltWIIITN3PAIOA TO 
COMll!NCINGCOHSTRIJCTIOM. 

11. "TYPICAL" OR �.•SttAU.111EAHTltAT THECONllfTIDN18REPAESEHTATIYEFOA 81- CONDITIOM8l1IROt.lGHOUT,UNLE8SanEJIWISE 
MOTl!D(U.D.N.).OffAII..SAAl!UIIJALLYKl!ftO AND NQTl!D�.• oNLYONC!,WH!N THEYl'IAST APPUA.. 

115. ... LAA OR -s,i,1.• �COMPAAAllUCHAAACTERISTICS F0ATHE CCNCIITIOHS MOT£0. V£1UFV DIMENSIONS ANO OAIENU,noN ON 
AND ELEVATIOftS. 

11- S!l!:'AMA!VIATION9 18YJll901.S' ON THIS SHUT FORQRAPHIC CONVl!NT10H9 DFN!W V!RSIJSUJSTWQ CONSTRUCTl()N. 
It ALL NO'reS ON All.ORA WINOS ALL WON( IHAU.IIE NEWWORK UN'-EISll'ECIACALLY l.Alla.EO AS EXISTING(� 

23. ALt...-FOAIIIATIONSHOWNON 'ntE ORAW..CS IIELATIVE TOOISTINOCCNClmDfttl9GMtNIIIITH'ntE IIE8TPA£SENTKNOWLEtlOE.WHEAE 
ACTUAL CONDITIONS CONFLICT wmi ntE ORAWINOS, THEY &HAU. Be REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT It WIVllltO, SO THE PftOl>ER 

REVISIONS CAM BE lllAOE. 

INDEX 

PDIITA&.E()I..AMIIOOMPLAH,ROOFPLAN.AHDElITEIIIDIIEL.EYA,
Eln'UIIORCOLDIIA"DFI-

ARCHITECTS 

6_ MILESTONE 

PHILLIPS BROOKS SCHOOL 

PORTABLE 

CLASSROOM BUILDING 

2245 AVY AVE. 

MENLO PARK, CA, 94025 

COVERSHEET 

"""°'NO. ""'"'"'-----

�WNBY ~··�-�----

CHECKED BY~&~-�••�----

AO.O 

EXHIBIT A

A6



PROPOSED 

-----_ -_ -_ -_ -_-_ --=•• 

"""'' •¾• 
CAMPUS SITE PLAN 

: . 
. 

- 1-

LASL S 
-:: \ : .��"{; VG'\

. I "2Ji, 
·'
i 

·�
! 
! 

LAENTRADA 
MIDDLE SCHOOL 

.i 

! 
! 

i 
i 

PREVIOUSL 
11/15/2021 P6 

APPROVED AT 

CHANGES PROMEETING - NO 

PROPOSED SET8ACK 

r�:��:�tTIES) 

FENCE 

TREES PRO 
REMOVED 

POSED TO BE 

POSED 

0 

® 

C� 
ARCH I 

:!!�=:��:.NUE 

A7



i 
i 
\ 

i 
\ 

PLAYGROUND 

PREVIOUSLY APPROVED WITH 
BUILDING PERMIT 
(BLD2021-03280) ON 2/22/2022 -
NO CHANGES PROPOSED 

0 
0 

LOHITAS SCHOOL DISTRICT 
APN:O7•·170-530 

PROPERTY LINE 
COTHER PROPERTIES) 

FIRE ACCESS LANE 
(20'WIOEMIN.) 

TREES PROPOSED TO BE 
REMOVED 

KEYNOTES : 

0 

0 ����:T7g:Le���.::.!°ie.5��:;u-:�u2:'-<>" 

© COt.UMN AT EXISTING COVERED SHADE STRUCTIJRE 
0 

WALL MOUNTED HVAC CONDENSING UNIT 

0 �� WIDE X 6'-0" TALL GALVANIZED CHAIN LINK 

0 6'•0" TALL GALVANIZED CHAIN LINK FENCE 5 POSTS. 

0 ELECTRICAL SUBPAHEL 

0 �:::,�::� ELECTRICAL CA8UNG. SEE ELECTRICAL 

© ACCESSIBLE RAMP AT ENTRANCE. 

0 DEMOLISH TREES FOR CONSTRUCTION ACCESS 

0 

® :�r:Ef�t=���E$J���;
rCH 

© !:�e;:i��i_TlON FENCING, CONTINUOUS ALONG 

CAW 
ARCHITECTS 

l:::,_ /IIU.ESTONE 

PHILLIPS BROOKS SCHOOL 

PORTABLE 

CLASSROOM BUILDING 

2245 AVY AVE. 

MENLO PARK, CA, 94025 

PROPOSED SITE PLAN 

PROJECT/YO. _HO_,. _____ _ 

�WNBY ~'·� .. ~""�---
CHECKED BY�•-�-=•�----

0 L___,-- - - - - -�- -�� ..,. ________ _ 

;,L,;.R,,O.,,PfJ,.w;.;;�;.:E�D�S�IT=E�P�LA=N�-------------------------------------------------------------
.���.-�,';�-"5

.,
����i{D A1.2 

A8



A9



PREVIOUSLY APPROVED AT 

11/15/2021 PC MEETING - NO 

CHANGES PROPOSED 

CUSTOM COLOR KELLY MOORE MESA 

CUSTOM COLOR KELLY MOORE CAMEL 

=EXT=E=R=l=O�R�C�O=L=O=R�A=N=D�F�l�N=IS=H=E=S-------------------------------------------------------------------------<0 

ARCHITECTS 

l:::,_ /IIU.ESTONE 

PHILLIPS BROOKS SCHOOL 
PORTABLE 

CLASSROOM BUILDING 
2245 AVY AVE. 

MENLO PARK, CA, 94025 

EXTERIOR COLOR ANO ANISHES 

PROJECT/YO. _HO_,. _____ _ 

�WNBY ~'·= .. =""�---
CHECKED BY�•-�-=•�----

A2.2 

A10



PREVIOUSLY APPROVED AT 

11/15/2021 PC MEETING - NO 

CHANGES PROPOSED. 

STREETSCAPE HAS BEEN 

UPDATED TO REFLECT 

EXISTING CONDITIONS. 

�JL�EfJY�,!����/:!N ___________________________ 0 

ARCHITECTS 

45SIJJ'18EATA.VENUEPAL0A.LT0,CA9Oot 

,..._,..,_, .. l'I.,..,,.. ---- • •• , ...... _ 

f::::, MII.ESTONE 

PHILLIPS BROOKS SCHOOL 

PORTABLE 

CLASSROOM BUILDING 

2245AVYAVE. 

MENLO PARK, CA, 94025 

SmEETSCAPE 

PROJECT/YO. ""'e,'''------

DRAWHBY �'·= .. =""�----, 

CHECKEDBY �•·�-=•�----

A4.0 

A11



20 

GRAPHIC SCALE 

i,---LU i 
(11111ft) 

lll>oll•fO ft. 

j 

� 

==� :.:t:::· LN[ 

-�-���;,�::"
_ -==

TELEF'HOhEUfE 

'
----::--

cc,, OWNUTLIT�Tl<ACE 

-E!C<JNOAAYL"IE

-CENTER L"'E 

-e.SEM£,<TLNE 

-------CRAO EBAEA< 

�
-FLOWU,£ 

HANOR,LNG 

---------
�-SENCE LNE 

RIX" Ol'ERHANG 

_____ 

BULOINGLNE 

----------lR EHO</PaTCt<UNE 

-·
□·: :::::
oa\\UJG ""'"'Ul£>0::0,0UOOC 

TOEl:UN E 

SDMH @ 
�:

::::�-• 'flASH 
◊ LIGHT POI.[ 

ARIC,,.TICf<CONTIIOI.V-'L'IE 

WATERMETER 

naEHYDRANT 

BACKfl.OWPOE\<:NTER 

'f£tu'"n.o[NTCON.,.,CT'QN 

GASVALl'E 

BASffTB.LL.HHOP 

TETl<ERS.u. 

80"0 Eia.L.J,R O/Pa.£ 

Q) J(IINTPCU 

·" 

xiOO./JO Sl'Ol[lf'O'"CJSMl<tE'lCOlPTO< 

INl)[l[lf'i,ro<CONTOIJR 

.... 

i,.VY i,.VE 

A12



T 1 

.... .... 

w 
z 

� 

:r: 
u 
f

<,: 

::, 

SHEET 2 

... ........ 
..
.. 

1
0 

:;;.
"' 

,,_,;,,, 
,,. 

/ .... 
" 

A13



October 30, 2024 

Matt Pruter 

Associate Planner 

City of Menlo Park 

701 Laurel Street 

Menlo Park, CA 94025 

Phillips Brooks School 

RE: PLN2024-00048 - PHILLIPS BROOKS SCHOOL PORTABLE - 2245 AVY AVENUE, MENLO PARK, CA 94025 

Dear Matt, 

We have prepared the following project description for PLN2024-00048 as an overview as part of our project submittal. 

Background: 

Phillips Brooks School (PBS) is a private school located along 2245 Avy Avenue serving students from Kindergarten 

through 5th grade, as well as a preschool program. The existing campus consists of a series of one-story classroom 

buildings, a multi-purpose building, a library, and an administrative wing spread across a sloped site. A network of 

landscaped pathways links the buildings and outdoor activity spaces together. These outdoor spaces include the central 

lawn and play structure in the center of campus, the basketball court at the southwest edge of the school, and the main 

outdoor play area along Avy Avenue. 

This outdoor area subdivides into five different zones: two play structure areas, a small-sloped field, an asphalt-paved 

basketball court with a covered canopy, and a play zone along the existing fire lane. This space is used for recess and 

lunch-time play, PE instruction, and informal play after school. Several mature eucalyptus trees spread throughout this 

area, providing an overstory of partial shade. The school's after-care program has developed an increased need for 

indoor classroom space directly adjacent the outdoor play zone, which forms the basis of this project. 

PBS leases the campus from the Las Lomitas Elementary School District (LLESD). The school occupies only a portion of 

LLESD's property. The complete parcel, as defined by the City of Menlo Park, is zoned P-F (Public Facilities). The 

District and PBS executed a separate lease agreement that defines the leased property used by Phillips Brooks. 

EXHIBIT B

A14



Matt Pruter 

October 30, 2024 

Page 2 of 3 

The school currently operates under an existing conditional use permit that was recently updated with the City of Menlo 

Park. 

Project Overview - Site Features and Architectural Description 

PBS has an existing portable classroom building on the existing asphalt court space on campus, which was installed in 

2021. PBS wants to continue to have the classroom on our property and is asking for a permit for three years. This 

building consists of a single classroom totaling 960 square feet with a single entrance door. The building is a 

prefabricated building and is installed on raised wood foundations that are directly set on top of the existing asphalt. 

Foundation height is less than one foot from the asphalt to the underside of the floor framing. The single entrance door 

is accessed by a prefabricated metal ramp that is installed parallel to the classroom along the front elevation. Minor 

asphalt patching is provided at the base of the ramp for a smooth transition and ensures that code-compliant slopes are 

provided and meet the existing grades. 

The building is constructed with T-1-11 wood siding that is painted a medium brown. Windows are located at the front 

and rear of the building and are clear glazed with a clear-anodized aluminum mullion. There are no windows along the 

north and south (long-side) elevations. The roof eave and fascia are painted to match the building color. 

At the rear elevation facing west, a 6'-0" tall, galvanized metal chain link fence is installed to prevent user access to the 

wall mounted HVAC condensing unit or the electrical panels. 

The surrounding site features are completely unchanged. There are no requested changes to the drainage, grading, or 

impervious surfaces surrounding the site. New electrical power has been installed in an underground trench, connecting 

the existing outdoor electrical panels to the west elevation of the portable. 

Proposed Use of the Project: 

Phillips Brooks School continues to have a need for this classroom, which currently serves as an aftercare classroom 

space and is used by existing students during the hours of operation approved under the current use permit. This 

classroom will be used by the school for another three-year period. PBS's after-school program is not new. It has been in 

place for many years to support Menlo Park community childcare and supervision needs through 5:30 pm each school 

day. 

Existing Conditional Use Permit - Unchanged: 

With this project, there will be no changes to density, enrollment, parking, staffing, programming, hours, or anything 

other condition of this property. The temporary, portable classroom space is solely for existing students, existing 

programs, and existing timeframes already approved by the school's Conditional Use Permit. No change to the 

A15



Matt Prut0r 

Octob0r 30, 2024 

Page 3 of 3 

Conditional Use Permit is requested with this permit application and this classroom space continues to have no changes 

to the approved conditions. 

Neighborhood Outreach 
The school convened a neighbor outreach meeting on October 29''', 2024, which they conduct each quarter to discuss 

any neighbor issues and upcoming school activities. There were no neighbor issues that were raised during the meeting. 

The school will comply with any special neighbor outreach recommended by the city to preview the details of this 

project ahead of the Planning Commission meeting to ensure that neighbors receive an additional layer of outreach and 

information specific to this project, if necessary. 

Sincerely, 

Olana l<han 

Associate Head of School 

Phillips Brooks School 

A16



PAGE: 1 of 1 

LOCATION:  
2245 Avy Avenue 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00048 

APPLICANT: 
Olana Khan 

OWNER:  
Las Lomitas Elementary 
School District 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit and architectural control shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans prepared by
CAW Architects, consisting of eight plan sheets, dated received October 31, 2024, and the
applicant’s project description letter, dated received October 30, 2024, and approved by the
Planning Commission on November 18, 2024, except as modified by the conditions contained
herein, subject to review and approval of the Planning Division.

b. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo Park or
its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against the City of
Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul an approval
of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community Development Director, or any other
department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a development, variance, permit, or
land use approval which action is brought within the time period provided for in any applicable
statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and
hold harmless shall be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any
said claim, action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

c. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, or other
exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of approval of this
development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day protest period has begun as
of the date of the approval of this application.

2. Approve the use permit and architectural control subject to the following project-specific condition:

a. The temporary classroom shall be removed from the project site after an additional three-year
period, ending on November 15, 2027.

b. The temporary classroom and the school site shall comply with all previous conditions of
approval, as specified in the use permit and architectural control permit approved on November
15, 2021, by the Planning Commission.

EXHIBIT C

A17



City of Menlo Park

2245 Avy Avenue
Location Map

Date: 11/18/2024 Drawn By:4,000 MAP Checked By: TAS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1


	20241118 PC Agenda
	E1_20241028 PC Draft Minutes
	E2_20241104 PC Draft Minutes
	F1_801 Hermosa staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description Letter 
	Exhibit C - COA
	Exhibit D - Arborist Report

	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT C - Data Table
	ATT D - Tree table
	ATT E - Alternative Designs Report
	ATT F - Neighbor Arborist Report
	ATT G - Correspondence

	F2_2800 Sand Hill Road staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - PD Letter
	Exhibit C - COA

	ATT B - Location Map

	F3_2245 Avy Avenue staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - PD Letter
	Exhibit C - COA

	ATT B - Location Map


